

Delft University of Technology

MOOC Analytics Learner Modeling and Content Generation

Chen, Guanliang

DOI 10.4233/uuid:dd213d9b-e621-442d-8d11-4cd8b6e19635

Publication date 2019

Document Version Final published version

Citation (APA) Chen, G. (2019). MOOC Analytics: Learner Modeling and Content Generation. [Dissertation (TU Delft), Delft University of Technology]. https://doi.org/10.4233/uuid:dd213d9b-e621-442d-8d11-4cd8b6e19635

Important note

To cite this publication, please use the final published version (if applicable). Please check the document version above.

Copyright Other than for strictly personal use, it is not permitted to download, forward or distribute the text or part of it, without the consent of the author(s) and/or copyright holder(s), unless the work is under an open content license such as Creative Commons.

Takedown policy

Please contact us and provide details if you believe this document breaches copyrights. We will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

This work is downloaded from Delft University of Technology. For technical reasons the number of authors shown on this cover page is limited to a maximum of 10.

MOOC Analytics: Learner Modeling and Content Generation

Guanliang Chen

MOOC Analytics: Learner Modeling and Content Generation

Dissertation

for the purpose of obtaining the degree of doctor at Delft University of Technology by the authority of the Rector Magnificus prof.dr.ir. T.H.J.J. van der Hagen Chair of the Board for Doctorates, to be defended publicly on Monday, 6 May, 2019 at 10:00 AM

by Guanliang CHEN

Master of Software Engineering South China University of Technology, China born in Zhanjiang, Guangdong, China. This dissertation has been approved by the promotors: Prof.dr.ir. G.J.P.M. Houben Copromotor: Dr. C. Hauff

Composition of the doctoral committee:

Rector Magnificus	chairperson
Prof.dr.ir. G.J.P.M. Houben	Delft University of Technology, promotor
Dr. C. Hauff	Delft University of Technology, copromotor

Independent members:

Prof.dr. M.M. Specht	Delft University of Technology
Prof.dr. D. Gasevic	Monash University
Prof.dr. K. Verbert	Katholieke Universiteit Leuven
Prof.dr. M. Kalz	Heidelberg University of Education
Prof.dr. A. Hanjalic	Delft University of Technology

SIKS Dissertation Series No. 2019-13



The research reported in this thesis has been carried out under the auspices of SIKS, the Dutch Research School for Information and Knowledge Systems. This work is also supported by the Extension School of Delft University of Technology.

Published and distributed by: Guanliang Chen E-mail: angus.glchen@gmail.com

ISBN: 978-94-028-1482-8

Keywords: MOOCs, Learner Modeling, Content Generation, Learning Analytics, Social Web

Copyright © 2019 by Guanliang Chen

All rights reserved. No part of the material protected by this copyright notice may be reproduced or utilized in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying, recording or by any information storage and retrieval system, without written permission of the author.

Cover design by: Longkai Fang and Guanliang Chen.

Printed and bound in The Netherlands by Ipskamp Printing.

Acknowledgments

Upon the completion of my journey of pursuing a PhD degree, I would like to deliver my gratitude to all who helped me overcome the challenges that I encountered in this journey.

First and foremost, I would like to express my highest gratitude to my promotor Geert-Jan Houben, who is smart, kind, and considerate and always cares for his students. Thank you, Geert-Jan! Thanks for having the nice conversation with me when we first met in UMAP 2014 in Denmark. Thanks for providing me with the thoughtful supervision and strong support during the whole period of my PhD study. In particular, thanks for giving me so much useful advice in writing up this thesis. Without your support, I would not have been able to finish this thesis and gain so much on both professional and personal development.

I am deeply indebted to my daily supervisor Claudia Hauff. Thank you, Claudia. It was a great honor to be one of your PhD students and receive the extensive guidance and helpful advice from you, which have made my PhD journey rewarding and enjoyable. It was such a great pleasure working with you. All of the useful research lessons that you taught me are lifetime treasure to me!

I would like to express my gratitude to Marcus Specht, Dragan Gasevic, Katrien Verbert, Marco Kalz, and Alan Hanjalic, for serving as my committee members and providing me with insightful feedback.

I would like to thank my supervisors in my master study, Jian Chen and Li Chen, without whose guidance and encouragement, I would not have the courage to start my PhD journey.

I owe many thanks to my collaborators: Dan Davis, Jun Lin, Tim van der Zee, Markus Krause, Efthimia Aivaloglou, Elle Wang, Luc Paquette, Ioana Jivet, René F. Kizilcec, Yingying Bao, Yue Zhao, Christoph Lofi, Sepideh Mesbah, Manuel Valle Torre, Alessandro Bozzon, Jie Yang, Wenjie Pei, Wing Nguyen, Haoran Xie, and Christopher Brooks. It was truly honorable and enjoyable to work with all of you!

I am grateful to the members of the Web Information Systems (WIS) group and the former WISers for their help and friendship: Marcus Specht, Alessandro Bozzon, Asterios Katsifodimos, Christoph Lofi, Nava Tintarev, Dimitrios Bountouridis, Andrea Mauri, Panagiotis Mavridis, Achilleas Psyllidis, Arthur Camara, Dan Davis, Vincent Gong, Christos Koutras, Sepideh Mesbah, Felipe Moraes, Shabnam Najafian, Jasper Oosterman, Gustavo Penha, Ioannis Petros Samiotis, Shahin Sharifi, Sihang Qiu, Yue Zhao, Carlo van der Valk, Jan Hidders, Stefano Bocconi, Pavel Kucherbaev, Tarmo Robal, Mohammad Khalil, Mónica Marrero, Tamara Brusik, Roniet Sharabi, and Naomi Meyer. I cannot thank Sepideh, Shahin, Sihang, Yue, Shabnam, and Felipe enough for the enjoyable time we had together. I would like to give special thanks to Jie, Yue, Sihang, and Sepideh. Thanks, Jie, for the kind introduction about our research group as well as TU Delft when we first met and helping me prepare for the PhD application. Thanks, Yue, thanks for helping me adapt to life in the Netherlands and doing me countless favors in the past four years. Thanks, Sihang, for helping me manage stuff related to my thesis and defense. Thank you so much, Sepideh! I really appreciate your help and support for my PhD study and I will always cherish the days when we were officemates.

I would like to thank the friends that I made during my PhD study: Shanshan Ren, Zhe Hou, Wei Dai, Shengzhi Xu, Jian Fan, Yingying Bao, Zhengwu Huang, Yan Song, Jun Lin, Jingyang Liu, Chen Huang, Kai Wu, Jiaye Liu, and Jiahao Lu. In particular, I would like to thank Jiahao. Thanks, Jiahao, for the delicious meals that you prepared for me, the help you provided with me during the last four months of my PhD study, and the enjoyable time that we spent together in exploring Europe. It was a great pleasure to be your friend.

I owe many thanks to my friends in China: Linya Zhang, Haijing Zhang, Haojun Chen, Yin Ye, and Xiaoli Huang, for bringing enormous joy to my life. Without your company, my life would not be so colorful! I would like to give special thanks to Linya, who always offers me generous help and support whenever I need. Thanks, Linya!

Last but not least, I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my parents, Jiadong Chen and Qunzhen Su, for their never-ending love, encouragement, and support. Also, I would like to thank my dear sister and brother-inlaw, Hong Chen and Yong Wang, for their unconditional caring and guidance. Particularly, I would like to express my gratitude to my adorable nephews, Weiming Wang and Yining Wang, whose smile helped me overcome many difficulties that I had in this four-year journey. (最后,我想向我的父母陈家 东与苏群珍致以我最衷心的感谢,谢谢他们对我永不停歇的爱、鼓励与支持。 同样,我想向我亲爱的姐姐陈虹与姐夫王勇表达感谢,谢谢他们对我无条件 的关怀与教导。特别地,我想谢谢我两个可爱的小外甥王伟茗与王奕宁,你 们可爱的笑脸帮助我克服了过去四年遇到的许多困难。)

> Guanliang Chen March 2019 Melbourne, Australia

_____ |

Contents

1	Intr	oduction	1
	1.1	Motivation and Objectives	1
	1.2	Research Questions and Contributions	3
	1.3	Thesis Outline and Origin of Chapters	8
2	Lea	rner Identification across Social Web Platforms	9
	2.1	Introduction	10
	2.2	Social Web & MOOCs	12
	2.3	Approach	$13 \\ 13 \\ 14 \\ 15$
	2.4	MOOC Learners & the Social Web	19
	2.5	Results	21 21 23 28 30
	2.6	Conclusion	31
3	Lea	rning Transfer	33
	3.1	Introduction	34
	3.2	Background	36
	3.3	FP101x	38
	3.4	Methodology	$\frac{38}{38}$

Contents

		3.4.2 From Hypotheses To Measurements 4 edX Logs 4 GitHub Logs 4	0 2 2
	3.5	Results	4
		3.5.1 FP101x Overview	4
		3.5.2 Learning Transfer $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 4$	5
		3.5.3 A Qualitative Analysis	3
	3.6	Conclusion	5
4	Seco	ond Language Acquisition Modeling 5	7
	4.1	Introduction	8
	42	Data Analysis 5	9
	1.2	4.2.1 Data Description	9
		4.2.2 Research Hypotheses	0
		4.2.3 Performance Metrics	1
		4.2.4 From Hypotheses To Validation	1
	4.3	Knowledge Tracing Model	$\overline{7}$
		4.3.1 Gradient Tree Boosting	7
		4.3.2 Feature Engineering	7
	4.4	Experiments	0
		4.4.1 Experimental Setup 7	0
		4.4.2 Results \ldots 7	1
	4.5	Conclusion	2
5	Ena	abling MOOC Learners to Solve Real-world Paid Tasks 7	5
	5.1	Introduction	6
	5.2	Background 7	8
	5.3	EX101x	1
	5.4	Approach	- 9
	0.4	5.4.1 Measurements	$\frac{2}{2}$
	5.5	Results	5
		5.5.1 RQ 4.1: Can learners solve real-world tasks well? 8	6
		5.5.2 RQ 4.2 & RQ 4.3: An exploratory analysis of UpWork 8	9
		5.5.3 RQ 4.4: Learner engagement	3
		5.5.4 Post-course survey	4
	5.6	Freelance Recommender System Design	8
	5.7	Conclusion	0

х

Contents

6	Lea	rningQ for Educational Question Generation	103
	6.1	Introduction	104
	6.2	Related Work	107
		6.2.1 Question Generation	107
		6.2.2 Datasets for Question Generation	108
		6.2.3 Question-worthy Sentence Selection	109
	6.3	Data Collection	110
		6.3.1 Data Sources	110
		6.3.2 Question Classification for Khan Academy	111
		6.3.3 Final Statistics of $LearningQ$	113
	6.4	Sentence Selection Strategies	115
	6.5	Data Analysis on LearningQ	116
		6.5.1 Document & Question Lengths	117
		6.5.2 Topics, Interrogative Words, and Readability	117
		6.5.3 Cognitive Skill Levels	120
	6.6	Experiments and Results	123
		6.6.1 Experimental Setup	124
		6.6.2 Evaluation on LearningQ	127
		6.6.3 Evaluation on Sentence Selection Strategies	129
	6.7	Conclusion	132
7	Con	nclusion	133
	7.1	Summary of Contributions	134
	7.2	Future Work	137
		7.2.1 Adaptive Learning in MOOCs	137
		7.2.2 Interactive Learning in MOOCs	138
		7.2.3 Content Enrichment in MOOCs	139
Bi	bliog	graphy	141
\mathbf{Li}	st of	Figures	159
\mathbf{Li}	st of	Tables	163
Su	ımma	ary	167
Sa	men	vatting	171

xi

Curriculum Vitae

175

xii

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Motivation and Objectives

Lifelong learning has been widely recognized as an important social issue. As indicated by UNESCO, one objective stated in the Education 2030 Framework for Action is to "promote lifelong learning as the leading educational paradigm for achieving inclusive and sustainable learning societies" [153]. Learning used to be largely restricted to formal education in schools. With the development of technology, people now have more options to receive education and learn. Massive Open Online Courses (MOOCs), as one of the available options, are endowed with the mission to educate the world [121]. MOOCs refer to online courses that are designed for an unlimited number of participants. In MOOCs, the learning materials are distributed over the Web, which can be accessed by learners with internet connections anytime and anywhere [112]. There are two types of MOOC platforms: topic-agnostic and *topic-specific.* Topic-agnostic platforms (e.g., edX^1 and $Coursera^2$) provide courses covering a wide range of topics, while topic-specific MOOC platforms (e.g., $Duolingo^3$ and $Codeacademy^4$) focus on courses in one specific topic. UNESCO regards MOOCs as an essential tool to "promote lifelong learning opportunities for all" [121]. In fact, MOOCs are becoming increasingly popular. According to Class Central [141], by the end of 2017, there have been more than 81 million learners enrolled in 9,400 MOOCs in 33 MOOC platforms including edX, Coursera, etc.

¹https://www.edx.org/

²https://www.coursera.org/

³https://www.duolingo.com/

⁴https://www.codecademy.com/

To better support MOOC learners, there have been many works on investigating MOOC learning. Typically, these works employed the data traces generated by learners *within* MOOC platforms to investigate their behavior *during* the running of a course, such as course navigation patterns of learners of various demographics [63], the impact of different video types on learner engagement [66], the sentiment expressed by learners in forum posts [163], the effect of instructor involvement [149]. Still, there are many other aspects of MOOC learning to be explored.

In this thesis, we focus on (i) learner modeling and (ii) generation of educational material for both topic-agnostic and topic-specific MOOC platforms. For *learner modeling* in the topic-agnostic platforms, as there have been a lot of works utilizing the learner traces generated within the MOOC platforms, we hypothesize that we can better understand learners by moving beyond the MOOC platforms and exploring other data sources on the wider Web, especially the Social Web. Nowadays, hundreds of millions of users are heavily using Social Web platforms with different purposes, such as microblogging (Twitter⁵), professional networking (LinkedIn⁶), Q&A (StackExchange⁷) and collaborative programming (GitHub⁸). Previous research demonstrated that abundant data traces in the Social Web platforms can be used to reveal detailed information about users such as age [113], occupation [127], language proficiency [159] and professional experience [26]. Therefore, we investigate what attributes can be revealed for modeling MOOC learners with the aid of the Social Web, not only during a MOOC but also before and after the MOOC. With regard to the topic-specific MOOC platforms, given that there are only a few works on modeling learners [63, 66, 163], we investigate what approaches can be used to enable a better understanding of learners in these platforms.

For generation of educational material, previous research demonstrated that certain Social Web data (e.g., code snippets in GitHub, Q&A pairs in StackExchange) can be reused by users of similar interests and needs [41, 130]. Therefore, we investigate what Social Web data can be used to generate educational material and potentially benefit MOOC learners.

⁵https://twitter.com/

⁶https://www.linkedin.com/

⁷https://stackexchange.com/

⁸https://github.com/

1.2 Research Questions and Contributions

In the following, we present the research questions investigated in Chapters 2-6. Each chapter explores different data sources (MOOC platforms and Social Web platforms), and focuses on different MOOC stages (*before*, *during* and *after* a MOOC), which are summarized in Figure 1.1. In total, we consider two MOOC platforms and eight Social Web platforms in our thesis, and most of our works focus on the stage of *during* a MOOC.

MOOC Stages Data Sources		() Before	() During	() After
MOOC			235	
Platforms	🤎 duolingo		4	
	U Gravatar	2		
	Y twitter	2		
	Linked in			2
Social Web Platforms	Stack Exchange	2	2	2
	GitHub			23
	Upwork		5	
	KHAN ACADEMY		6	
	TEDEd		6	

Figure 1.1: An overview of the MOOC stages and data sources investigated in Chapters 2-6. The number in a cell represents the corresponding chapter, which focuses on the MOOC stage specified in the column and the MOOC platform or the Social Web platform specified in the row.

To explore whether the Social Web can be used to enable learner modeling beyond the topic-agnostic MOOC platforms, in **Chapter 2** we first verify whether MOOC learners are active on Social Web platforms and investigate how to reliably identify these learners. As people tend to be attracted by different Social Web platforms and correspondingly leave various data traces in those platforms, it is a non-trivial task to identify MOOC learners across multiple platforms and further gather information relevant to their learning activities in MOOCs. Specifically, we investigate the following research questions: **RQ 1.1** On what Social Web platforms can a significant fraction of MOOC learners be identified?

RQ 1.2 Are learners who demonstrate specific sets of traits on the Social Web drawn to certain types of MOOCs?

RQ 1.3 To what extent do **Social Web** platforms enable us to observe (specific) user attributes that are highly relevant to the online learning experience?

To answer those questions, we consider over 320,000 learners from eighteen MOOCs in edX and propose a systematic methodology to reliably identify these learners across five popular Social Web platforms, i.e., Gravatar⁹, Twitter, LinkedIn, StackExchange and GitHub. Furthermore, we explore what valuable data traces can be gathered from the considered platforms and used to investigate MOOC learning. In particular, we find that over one-third of learners from a MOOC teaching functional programming are actively engaged with GitHub, the most popular social coding platform in the world to date, and have left abundant coding traces in the specific platform. More importantly, this enables a first investigation on *learning transfer*, which refers to the application of knowledge or skills gained in the learning environment to another context [10].

Based on the observation of the active engagement of learners from a programming MOOC in GitHub in Chapter 2, in Chapter 3, we zoom in on the coding traces of these learners in GitHub and continue the investigation of their *learning transfer*, as a perspective to examine the influence of the course on the learners. Concretely, we investigate the following research questions:

RQ 2.1 To what extent do learners from a programming MOOC transfer the newly gained knowledge to practice?

RQ 2.2 What type of learners are most likely to make the transfer?

RQ 2.3 How does the transfer manifest itself over time?

To answer those questions, we conduct a longitudinal analysis on both the MOOC platform data and the GitHub data. We find that only a small fraction of engaged learners (about 8%) display transfer. To our knowledge, this analysis has been the first to introduce the use of the Social Web to model learners' knowledge application beyond the learning platform.

⁹https://gravatar.com/

As indicated before, only a few works attempted to model learners in topic-specific MOOC platforms like Duolingo and Codeacademy. The main reason for this is the lack of public available datasets from these platforms to enable further research. In the Second Language Acquisition Modeling challenge [140] organized by Duolingo, which is the largest language-learning MOOC platform in the world, three large-scale datasets collected from its learners over the first 30 days of language learning were released. With the datasets, we are able to gain more insights about learners in topic-specific MOOC platforms.

In **Chapter 4**, we use the three released datasets to analyze learners' behavior in **Duolingo** and model their mastery of the taught knowledge over time (i.e., *knowledge tracing* [125]). Concretely, we investigate the following research question:

RQ 3.1 What factors are correlated with learners' language learning performance?

To answer the question, we analyze the three Duolingo datasets to identify a range of features that are correlated with learners' performance and further investigate their effectiveness in predicting learners' future performance. We demonstrate that the learning performance, which is measured by learners' accuracy in solving exercises and the amount of vocabulary learned, is correlated with not only learners' engagement with a course but also contextual factors like the devices being used.

In Chapter 3, we have shown that learners transfer the acquired knowledge to practice. In **Chapter 5**, we investigate whether learners could apply the acquired knowledge to solve real-world tasks, i.e., paid tasks which are retrieved from online marketplaces and can be solved by applying the knowledge taught in a course. If learners are able to solve such tasks, ultimately, we envision a recommender system that presents learners with paid relevant tasks from online marketplaces. By solving these tasks, learners, who cannot spend a large amount of time in learning because of the need to work and earn a living, could earn money and thus gain more time for learning with the MOOC. To investigate the feasibility of the proposed recommender system, we investigate the following questions:

RQ 4.1 Are MOOC learners able to solve real-world (paid) tasks from an online work platform with sufficient accuracy and quality?

RQ 4.2 How applicable is the knowledge gained from MOOCs to paid tasks offered by online work platforms?

RQ 4.3 To what extent can an online work platform support MOOC learners (i.e., are there enough tasks available for everyone)?

RQ 4.4 What role do real-world (paid) tasks play in the engagement of MOOC learners?

To answer those questions, we consider a MOOC teaching data analysis in edX and manually select a set of paid tasks from $Upwork^{10}$, one of the most popular freelancing marketplaces in the world, and present the selected tasks to learners and observe how learners interact with these real-world tasks. We find that these tasks can be solved by MOOC learners with high accuracy and quality. This demonstrates the potential of using freelancing paid tasks to enrich MOOC content.

Questions are recognized as essential not only for assessment but also for learning because questions allow learners to not only assess their understanding of concepts but also to reflect on their knowledge state and then better direct their learning efforts [8, 128]. However, designing a suitably large question bank to meet the needs of MOOC learners is a time-consuming and cognitively demanding task for course instructors. To ease the burden of the instructors, automatic question generation has been proposed and investigated by researchers to automate the question creation process with the aid of machine learning techniques [69, 110, 136]. Ideally, we can construct a question generator, which takes an article of any learning topic as input and generates a set of questions that are relevant to the article and useful for assessment or discussion. To this end, two challenges need to be overcome. Firstly, a large-scale dataset covering questions of various cognitive levels from a set of diverse learning topics should be collected. With the collected dataset, we are able to discover common question-asking patterns and inform the construction of the question generator. Secondly, given that an article often contains a limited number of sentences that are worth asking questions about, i.e., those carrying important concepts, we need to develop effective strategies to identify question-worthy sentences from the article before using them as input to the question generator. To deal with the challenges, we turn to education-oriented Social Web platforms (e.g., TED-Ed¹¹, Khan Academy¹², Codecademy) because these platforms typically have accumulated a substantial amount of high-quality questions generated by instructors and learners. Therefore, in Chapter Chapter 6, we investigate whether we can

¹⁰https://www.upwork.com/

¹¹https://ed.ted.com/

¹²https://www.khanacademy.org/

use the education-oriented Social Web platforms to collect a large-scale educational question dataset and further use the dataset to develop effective strategies to identify question-worth sentences from an article. Correspondingly, we investigate the following research questions:

RQ 5.1 Can a large-scale and high-quality educational question dataset be collected from the Social Web?

RQ 5.2 What are effective strategies in identifying question-worthy sentences from an article?

To answer those questions, we rely on TED-Ed and Khan Academy to retrieve an educational question dataset, LearningQ, which contains over 230K document-question pairs generated by both instructors and learners. To the best of our knowledge, LearningQ is the largest dataset that can be used for educational question generation. We demonstrate that LearningQ consists of high-quality questions covering not only all cognitive levels in the Bloom's Revised Taxonomy [104] but also various learning topics. We show that it is a challenging task to automatically generate educational questions, even with sufficient training data and state-of-the-art question generation techniques. Besides, we develop and compare a total of nine strategies to select question-worthy sentences from an article and demonstrate that questions in learning contexts usually are based on source sentences that are informative, important, or contain novel information.

In summary, this thesis makes the following research contributions.

- We contribute a systematic methodology to reliably identify learners across five popular Social Web platforms and derive a set of valuable learner attributes to investigate MOOC learning.
- We contribute a novel approach to use GitHub to complement data traces within MOOC platforms as a means to investigate learner behavior (i.e., *learning transfer*) beyond the MOOC platform.
- We contribute an analysis to identify factors (e.g., learners' engagement with a course, the learning devices being used) that are related to learners' performance in second language acquisition.
- We contribute a study to demonstrate that learners can apply the knowledge acquired from a MOOC to solve real-world tasks with high accuracy and quality.

• We contribute a large educational dataset (LearningQ) for automatic question generation and investigate nine strategies in selecting question-worthy sentences from an article.

1.3 Thesis Outline and Origin of Chapters

This thesis consists of seven chapters. The current chapter describes the motivation, objectives, and research questions as well as contributions. All the main chapters (Chapter 2-6) are based on full research papers published in conferences or journals, except for Chapter 4, which is published as a workshop paper.

- Chapter 2 is based on the paper published at the ACM Conference on Web Science [31].
- Chapter 3 is based on the paper published at the ACM Conference on Learning at Scale [30], where the paper received the *Honorable Mention* Award.
- Chapter 4 is based on the paper published at the Workshop on Innovative Use of NLP for Building Educational Applications [32].
- Chapter 5 is based on the paper published at the IEEE Transactions on Learning Technologies [28].
- Chapter 6 is based on the paper published at the International AAAI Conference on Web and Social Media [33] and includes new research work.

Lastly, **Chapter 7** concludes this thesis by summarizing the main findings and contributions. Furthermore, we provide an outlook on future research directions in relevant fields.

8

Chapter 2

Learner Identification across Social Web Platforms

In this chapter, we first conduct an exploratory study to verify whether MOOC learners are active in the Social Web and how to reliably identify their accounts across various Social Web platforms. This study is intended to serve as a foundation to collect learner traces beyond the MOOC platform and investigate questions that cannot be answered by solely utilizing the data traces learners leave within the MOOC platform. To this end, we consider over 320,000 learners from eighteen MOOCs in edX. Notice that not every Social Web platform attracts a large number of learners and is open for user identification and data retrieval, we eventually consider five popular Social Web platforms in our study, i.e., Gravatar, Twitter, LinkedIn, StackExchange and GitHub. Furthermore, we investigate what data traces can be collected from these platforms and used to derive learner attributes that are relevant to their learning activities in the MOOC setting. The contributions of this chapter have been published in [31].

2.1 Introduction

Online education recently entered a new era of large-scale, free and openaccess which has revolutionised existing practices. This new era dates from 2011, when the University of Stanford released its initial three MOOCs. Today, a wide range of courses in the humanities, business and natural sciences are offered for free with millions of learners taking advantage of them.

At the same time, however, the initial predictions of the "MOOC revolution" (universities will become obsolete) have not come to pass. On the contrary, MOOCs today generally suffer from a lack of retention [82, 95] many learners sign up, but on average less than 7% complete a course.

Examining the current nature of MOOCs reveals an important clue as to why they, as yet, fail to realize their full potential. Although the "MOOC revolution" changed online education with respect to scale and openness, it did not involve any truly novel pedagogical approaches or education technologies. Currently, many MOOCs revolve around a set of videos, a set of quizzes and little else (the so-called "xMOOCs"). Instead, new approaches are necessary that support learning under the unique conditions of MOOCs: (i) the extreme diversity among learners (who come from diverse cultural, educational and socio-economic backgrounds [64]), and, (ii) the enormous learner-staff ratio, which often exceeds 20,000:1.

In order to improve the learning experience and retention, MOOC data traces (i.e. learners' clicks, views, assignment submissions and forum entries) are being employed to investigate various aspects of MOOC learning, such as the effect of lecture video types on learner engagement [66], the introduction of gamification [37], the impact of instructor involvement [149] and the significance of peer learning [38].

Few data-driven research works go beyond the data learners generate within a MOOC platform. We argue that we can potentially learn much more about MOOC learners if we move beyond this limitation and explore the learners' traces on the wider Web, in particular the Social Web, to gain a deeper understanding of learner behavior in a distributed learning ecosystem. Hundreds of millions of users are active on the larger Social Web platforms such as Twitter and existing research has shown that detailed user profiles can be built from those traces, covering dimensions such as age [113], interests [1], personality [7], location [68] and occupation [127].

While MOOC learners are usually invited to participate in pre-course surveys that include inquiries about their demographics and motivations, not all of them do (and those who do may fill in non-credible or false information), with return rates hovering around $10\%^1$. In addition, these surveys can only provide a very limited view of the learners as the return rate drops with every question that is added to the questionnaire and, finally, questionnaires offer us only a snapshot-based perspective as learners cannot be polled continuously across a period of time.

We hypothesize that the Social Web can provide us with a source of diverse, fine-grained and longitudinal learner traces we can exploit in order to (i) derive more extensive learner profiles for a larger learner population than is possible through pre/post-MOOC surveys, and, (ii) investigate questions that cannot be investigated solely based on the traces learners leave within MOOC environments (e.g. the uptake of learned concepts in practice).

In this work we provide a first exploratory analysis of more than 329,000 MOOC learners and the Social Web platforms they are active on, guided by the following three **R**esearch **Q**uestions:

RQ 1.1 On what Social Web platforms can a significant fraction of MOOC learners be identified?

RQ 1.2 Are learners who demonstrate specific sets of traits on the Social Web drawn to certain types of MOOCs?

RQ 1.3 To what extent do Social Web platforms enable us to observe (specific) user attributes that are highly relevant to the online learning experience?

Our contributions can be summarized as follows:

- We provide a methodology to reliably identify a subset of learners from a set of five Social Web platforms and eighteen MOOCs. Depending on the MOOC/platform combination, between 1% and 42% of the learners could reliably be identified.
- We show that it is indeed possible to derive valuable learner attributes from the Social Web which can be used to investigate learner experience in MOOCs.

¹An estimate we derived based on the MOOCs we consider in this work. This percentage drops to 1% or less when considering post-course surveys, i.e. questionnaires conducted at the end of a MOOC.

• We show that the tracking of learners over time (in the case of GitHub we consider three years of data traces) enables us to investigate the impact of MOOCs in the long-term.

2.2 Social Web & MOOCs

The wider Web is starting to be viewed as a source of useful information in MOOC *learning analytics* — the field concerned with the understanding and optimization of learning in massive open online courses. Existing works focus on the analysis of Social Web platforms *during* the running of a MOOC in order to learn more about the interactions and processes occurring within a MOOC. These analyses are not conducted on the individual learner level, but on the aggregated group level, without the explicit matching of MOOC learners to Social Web profiles.

Alario et al. [5] investigate the learners' engagement with two built-in MOOC platform components (Q&A and forum) and three external Social Web portals (Facebook, Twitter and MentorMob) during the running of a single MOOC. Learners' MOOC and Social Web identities are not matched directly, instead, learners are asked to join a specific Facebook group and use a course-specific Twitter hashtag. The authors find that despite the active encouragement of the platforms' usage to exchange ideas and course materials, after the initial phase of excitement, participation quickly dropped off. Similarly, van Treeck & Ebner [156] also rely on Twitter hashtags to identify the microblog activities surrounding two MOOCs. They (qualitatively) analyse the tweet topics, their emotions and the extent of actual interactions among learners on Twitter and find a small group of MOOC participants (6%) to have generated more than half of all microblog content.

Garcia et al. [59] analysed the concurrent Twitter activities of students taking a "Social Networking and Learning" MOOC to track their engagement and discussion beyond the MOOC environment by designating and tracking hashtagged conversation threads. In the same MOOC, [42] presented a generalisable method to extend the MOOC ecosystem to the Social Web (in this case Google+ and Twitter) to both facilitate and track students' collaborations and discussions outside of the immediate context of the course.

[80] tracked Twitter interactions among MOOC students to understand the dynamics of social capital within a connectivist [142] MOOC environment, which is inherently decentralised and distributed across platforms. This work was primarily concerned with learner-learner relationships in the context of a MOOC—not individual learner traits. And, more broadly, [81] explored the types and topics of conversations that happen in the Social Web concurrent to a MOOC.

Four observations can be made based on these studies: existing works (i) analyze one or two Social Web platforms only, (ii) are usually based on experiments within a single MOOC, (iii) do not require a learner identification step (as an intermediary such as a Twitter hashtag is employed), and (iv) focus on learner activities exhibited during the running of a MOOC that are topically related to the MOOC content (e.g. ensured through the use of moderated Facebook group).

In contrast, we present a first exploratory analysis across eighteen MOOCs and five Social Web platforms exploring the learners' behaviours, activities and created content over a considerably longer period of time.

2.3 Approach

In this section, we first describe our three-step approach to locate a given set of MOOC learners on Social Web platforms, before going into more detail about the analyses performed on the learners' Social Web traces.

2.3.1 Locating Learners on the Social Web

On the edX platform, a registered learner l_i is identified through a username, his or her full name and email address (as required by the platform), i.e. $l_i = (login_i, name_i, email_i)$. On a Social Web platform P_j , the publicly available information about a user u^j usually consists of (a subset of) username, full name, email address and profile description. The profile description is often semi-structured and may also contain links to user accounts on other Social Web Platforms $P_x, ...P_z$. A common assumption in this case (that we employ as well) is that those accounts belong to the same user u.

For each Social Web platform P_j we attempt to locate l_i through a threestep procedure:

Explicit If P_j enables the discovery of users via their email address, we use $email_i$ to determine l_i 's account u_i^j on P_j . If available, we also crawl the profile description of u_i^j , the profile image (i.e. the user avatar) and extract all user account links to other Social Web platforms under the assumption stated before.

Direct This step is only applied to the combination of learners and Social Web platforms (l_i, P_j) for which no match was found in the **Explicit** step. We now iterate over all extracted account links from the **Direct** step and consider l_i 's account on P_j to be found if it is in this list.

Fuzzy Finally, for pairs (l_i, P_j) not matched in the **Direct** step, we employ fuzzy matching: we rely on l_i 's name_i & login_i and search for those terms on P_j . Based on the user (list) returned, we consider a user account a match for l_i , if one of the following three conditions holds:

(i) the profile description of the user contains a hyperlink to a profile that was discovered in the **Explicit** or **Direct** step,

(ii) the avatar picture of the user in P_j is highly similar to one of l_i 's avatar images discovered in the **Explicit** or **Direct** step (we measure the image similarity based on image hashing [143] and use a similarity threshold of 0.9), or,

(iii) the username and the full name of the user on P_j and l_i are a perfect match.

2.3.2 Social Web Platforms

Our initial investigation focused on ten globally popular Social Web platforms, ranging from Facebook and Twitter to GitHub and WordPress. We eventually settled on five platforms, after having considered the feasibility of data gathering and the coverage of our learners among them. Concretely, we investigate the following platforms:

 $Gravatar^2$ is a service for providing unique avatars to users that can be employed across a wide range of sites. During our pilot investigation, we found Gravatar to be employed by quite a number of learners in our dataset. Given that Gravatar allows the discovery of users based on their email address, we employ it as one of our primary sources for **Explicit** matching. We crawled the data in November 2015. We were able to match 25,702 edX learners on Gravatar.

StackExchange³ is a highly popular community-driven question & answering site covering a wide range of topics. The most popular sub-site on this platform is StackOverflow, a community for computer programming related questions. StackExchange regularly releases a full "data dump" of their content that can be employed for research purposes. We employed the data

14

release from September 2015 for our experiments. We were able to match 15,135 edX learners on StackExchange.

LinkedIn⁴ is a business-oriented social network users rely on to find jobs, advertise their skill set and create & maintain professional contacts. The public profiles of its users can be crawled, containing information about their education, professional lives, professional skills and (non-professional) interests. We crawled the data in November 2015. We were able to match 19,405 edX learners on LinkedIn.

Twitter⁵ is one of the most popular microblogging portals to date, used by hundreds of millions of users across the globe. Twitter allows the crawling of the most recent 3,200 tweets per user. We crawled the data in December 2015 and January 2016. We were able to match 25,620 edX learners on Twitter.

 $GitHub^6$ is one of the most popular social coding platforms, allowing users to create, maintain and collaborate on open-source software projects. The GitHub platform creates a large amount of data traces, which are captured and made available for research through two large initiatives: *GitHub Archive*⁷ and *GHTorrent*⁸. For our work, we rely on all data traces published between January 1, 2013 and December 31, 2015. We were able to match 31,478 edX learners on GitHub.

In addition, we are interested in how many learners are observed across more one platform. The numbers of learners that can be matched across 2, 3, 4, 5 platforms are 14824, 6980, 3129, 1125, respectively.

2.3.3 Social Web Data Analysis

As our work is exploratory in nature, we employ a range of data analysis approaches that enable us to explore our gathered data traces from various angles.

t-SNE. Many of our user profiles are high-dimensional: a LinkedIn user may be represented through a vector of his or her skills⁹ and a Twitter user profile may be encoded as a vector of the entities or hyperlinks mentioned in his or her tweets. If we are interested to what extent those user profiles

⁷https://www.githubarchive.org/

⁸http://ghtorrent.org/

⁹The dimension of the vector space depends on the number of unique skills in the dataset, with a single skill being encoded in binary form.

are similar or dissimilar for users (learners) that are taking different kinds of MOOCs, we can visualize these similarities using t-SNE (t-Distributed Stochastic Neighbor Embedding [154]), a visualization approach for highdimensional data that computes for each datapoint a location on a 2D (or 3D) map. t-SNE¹⁰ creates visualizations that reveal the structure of the high-dimensional data at different scales and has been shown to be superior to related non-parametric visualizations such as Isomaps [9].

Age and gender prediction. Predicting certain user attributes based on a user's Social Web activities is an active area of research. It has been shown that attributes such as age [113], gender [11], personality [79], home location [106] and political sentiments [14] (to name just a few) can be predicted with high accuracy from Social Web data sources.

In our work we focus on the prediction of age and gender, as those two attributes can be inferred of Social Web users with high accuracy. We also have intuitions concerning the age and gender (in contrast to, for instance, their personalities) of the learners that take our MOOCs (e.g. a computer science MOOC is likely to have a larger pool of male participants), enabling us to judge the sensibility of the results.

The main challenge in this area of work is the collection of sufficient and high-quality training data (that is, Social Web users with known age, gender, location, etc.). Once sufficient training data has been obtained, standard machine learning approaches are usually employed for training and testing.

In our work, we make age and gender predictions based on tweets and employ the models provided by $[139]^{11}$, who utilized the English language Facebook messages of more than 72,000 users (who collectively had written more than 300 million words) to create unigram-based age & gender predictors based on Ridge regression [77]. The age model M_{age} contains 10,797 terms and their weights w_i . To estimate the age of a user u, we extract all his English language tweets (excluding retweets), concatenate them to create a document D_u and then employ the following formulation:

$$age_u = w_0 + \sum_{t \in M_{age}} w_t \times \frac{freq(t, D_u)}{|D_u|}.$$
 (2.1)

16

¹⁰In this work, we utilize t-SNE's scikit-learn implementation: http://scikit-learn. org/. ¹¹The models are available at http://www.wwbp.org/data.html

Here, $|D_u|$ is the number of tokens in D_u , w_0 is the model intercept and $freq(t, D_u)$ is the term frequency of t in D_u . Only terms in D_u that appear in M_{age} have a direct effect on the age estimate. The model is intuitively understandable; the five terms with the largest positive weights (indicative of high age) are {grandson, daughter, daughters, son, folks}. Conversely, the five terms with the largest negative weights (indicative of a young user) are {parents, exams, pregnant, youth, mommy}.

The gender prediction is derived in an analogous fashion based on model M_{gender} , which consists of 7,137 terms and their weights. In contrast to the age estimation (which provides us with a continuous estimate), we are interested in a binary outcome. Thus, after the regression stage, classification is performed: if the estimation is ≥ 0 , the user is classified as *female* and otherwise as *male*. Once more, the model is intuitive; the largest negative weights (indicating maleness) are {*boxers, shaved, ha3ircut, shave, girlfriend*}.

Learning Transfer. Existing investigations into student learning within MOOC environments are commonly based on pre- & post-course surveys and log traces generated within those environments by the individual learners [74]. With a crude, binary measure of learning, the success (pass/no-pass) of the learner could be labeled. While learning is an important success measure, we also believe that the amount of *learning transfer* [94] that is taking place should be considered: do learners actually utilize the newly gained knowledge in practice? Are learners expanding their knowledge in the area over time or do they eventually move back to their pre-course knowledge levels and behaviours? While most Social Web platforms do not offer us insights into this question, for MOOCs (partially) concerned with the teaching of programming languages (such as *Functional Programming*) we can rely on the GitHub platform to perform an initial exploration of this question.

GitHub provides extensive access to data traces associated with *public* coding repositories, i.e. repositories visible to everyone¹². GitHub is built around the git distributed revision control system, which enables efficient distributed and collaborative code development. GitHub not only provides relevant repository metadata (including information on how popular a repository is, how many developers collaborate, etc.), but also the actual code that was altered. As the *GitHub Archive*¹³ makes all historic GitHub data traces easily accessible, we relied on it for data collection and extracted all GitHub

¹²Data traces about private repositories are only available to the respective repository owner.

¹³https://www.githubarchive.org/

data traces available between January 1, 2013 and June 30, 2015 (five months after the end of the programming MOOC in our dataset). We then filtered out all traces that were *not* created by the 31,478 learners we identified on the GitHub platform. Of the more than 20 GitHub *event types*¹⁴, we only consider the PushEvent as vital for our analysis.

Every time code is being updated ("pushed" to a repository), a PushEvent is triggered. Figure 2.1 contains an excerpt of the data contained in each PushEvent. The most important attributes of the event are the created_at timestamp (which allows us to classify events as before/during/after the running of the programming MOOC), the actor (the user doing the "push") and the url, which contains the URL to the actual *diff file*. While the git protocol also allows a user to "push" changes by another user to a repository (which is not evident from inspecting the *diff file* alone), this is a rare occurrence among our learners: manually inspecting a random sample of 200 PushEvents showed 10 such cases.

```
"_id" : ObjectId("55b6005de4b07ff432432dfe1"),
  "created_at" : "2013-03-03T18:36:09-08:00",
  "url" : "https://github.com/john/
            RMS/compare/1c55c4cb04...420e112334",
  "actor" : "john",
  "actor_attributes" : {
        "name" : "John Doe",
        "email" : "john@doe.com"
  },
  "repository" : {
        "id" : 2.37202e+06,
        "name" : "RMS",
        "forks" : 0,
        "open_issues" : 0,
        "created at" : "2011-09-12T08:28:27-07:00",
        "master_branch" : "master"
    }
}
```

Figure 2.1: Excerpt of a GitHub PushEvent log trace.

A diff file shows the difference between the last version of the repository and the new one (after the push) in terms of added and deleted code. For each of the identified PushEvents by our learners, we crawled the corresponding diff file, as they allow us to conduct a more fine-grained code analysis. As a first step in this direction, we identified the number of additions and deletions a user conducts in each programming language based on the filename extensions found in the corresponding diff file.

¹⁴https://developer.github.com/v3/activity/events/types/

2.4 MOOC Learners & the Social Web

As a starting point for our investigation we utilize eighteen MOOCs that have run between 2013 and 2015 on the edX platform — the largest MOOCs conducted by the Delft University of Technology (situated in the Netherlands) to date; the courses cover a range of subjects in the natural sciences, computer science and the humanities and were all taught in English. An overview of the MOOCs can be found in Table 2.1; we deemed the MOOC titles not to be self-explanatory, so we also added the MOOC's "tag line". Apart from the *Pre-universiy Calculus* (specifically geared towards pre-university learners) and the *Topology in Condensed Matter* (aimed at MSc and PhD physics students) courses, the MOOCs were created with a wide variety of learners in mind. All courses follow the familiar MOOC recipe of weekly lecture videos in combination with quizzes and automatically (or peer-) graded assignments.

The MOOCs vary significantly in size. The largest MOOC (*Solar Energy* 2013) attracted nearly 70,000 learners, while the smallest one (*Topology in Condensed Matter* 2015) was conducted with approximately 4,200 learners. While the majority of learners register for a single MOOC only, a sizable minority of learners engage with several MOOCs and thus the overall number of unique learners included in our analysis is 329,200.

To answer **RQ 1.1**, Table 2.1 summarizes to what extent we were able to identify learners across the five Social Web platforms, employing the threestep procedure described in Section 2.3.1. Note that the numbers reported treat each course independently, i.e. if a learner has registered to several courses, it will count towards the numbers of each course.

The percentage of learners we identify per platform varies widely across the courses between 4-24% (Gravatar), 1-22% (StackExchange), 3-42% (GitHub), 4-11% (LinkedIn) and 5-18% (Twitter) respectively. *Functional Programming* is the only MOOC we are able to identify more than 10% of the registered learners across *all* five Social Web platforms. While this finding by itself is not particularly surprising — two of the five Social Web platforms are highly popular with users interested in IT topics (i.e. GitHub and StackExchange) and those users also tend to be quite active on Social Web platforms overall — it can be considered as an upper bound to the fraction of learners that are active on those five platforms and identifiable through robust and highly accurate means.

In Table 2.2 we split up the matches found according to the type of matching performed (Explicit, Direct or Fuzzy). On Gravatar, we relied exclusively on Explicit matching, while the vast majority of learners on GitHub

Chapter 2. Learner Identification across Social Web Platforms

MOOC	Year	#Learners	Gravatar	Stack- Exchange	GitHub	LinkedIn	Twitter
Solar Energy	2013	67,143	$^{\dagger}3,\!510$	1,570	$^{\dagger}3,\!677$	2,997	$^{\dagger}3,\!828$
Solar Energy	2014	34,524	$^{\dagger}1,923$	874	$^{\dagger}2,\!229$	1,625	$^{\dagger}2,\!152$
Solar Energy	2015	26,178	$1,\!147$	435	1,184	1,181	$^{\dagger}1,\!557$
Introduction to Water Treatment	2013	34,897	1,559	508	1,198	1,362	1,741
Introduction to Drinking Water Treatment	2014	10,458	457	129	430	427	$^{\dagger}548$
Introduction to Water and Climate	2014	9,267	$^{\dagger}561$	154	$^{\dagger}510$	452	†558
Technology for Biobased Products	2014	9,811	[†] 545	149	[†] 511	452	[†] 547
Next Generation Infrastructures ¹	2014	20,531	$^{\dagger}1,\!438$	583	$^{\dagger}1,\!451$	$^{\dagger}1,\!155$	$^{\dagger}1,\!447$
Functional Programming ²	2014	38,682	$^{\ddagger 9,087}$	[‡] 8,477	[‡] 16,220	[‡] 4,274	$^{\ddagger}6,801$
Data Analysis ³	2015	33,547	$^{\dagger}2,392$	1,165	$^{\ddagger}4,432$	$^{\dagger}2,469$	$^{\dagger 2,800}$
Pre-university Calculus	2015	28,015	$^{\dagger}1,928$	960	$^{\dagger}2,\!477$	$^{\dagger}1,406$	$^{\dagger 2,064}$
Introduction to Aeronautical Engineering	2014	20,481	[†] 1,134	605	$^{\dagger}1,\!373$	921	$^{\dagger}1,\!192$
Introduction to Aeronautical Engineering	2014	13,197	$^{\dagger}699$	318	[†] 837	609	[†] 788
Topology in Condensed Matter ⁴	2015	4,231	$^{\dagger}277$	$^{\dagger}292$	[†] 600	201	$^{\dagger}302$
Framing ⁵	2015	34,018	[†] 2,838	1,034	[†] 2,597	[†] 2,211	$^{\dagger}2,\!657$
Solving Complex Problems ⁶	2014	32,673	$^{\dagger}2,803$	1,620	$^{\ddagger}3,928$	[†] 1,934	$^{\dagger}2,\!647$
Delft Design Approach ⁷	2014	$13,\!543$	$^{\dagger}1,319$	514	$^{\ddagger}1,376$	$^{\dagger}1,085$	$^{\dagger}1,\!124$
Responsible Innovation ⁸	2014	10,735	[†] 877	274	†800	†713	†753
Unique Users		329,200	25,702	15,135	31,478	19,405	25,620

 $^1\,\mathrm{Explores}$ the challenges of global & local infras-tructure (ICT, energy, water and transportation).

 2 Teaches the foundations of functional programming & how to apply them in practice.

 3 Teaches data analysis skills using spread sheets and data visualization.

⁴ Provides an overview of topological insulators, Majoranas, and other topological phenomena.

 5 Analyzes how politicians debate and what the underlying patterns are framing and reframing.

⁶ How to solve complex problems with analytics based decision-making & solution designs.

⁷ How to design meaningful products & services.

⁸ How to deal with risks and ethical questions raised by the development of new technologies.

Table 2.1: Overview of the edX MOOCs under investigation, the number of learners registered to those MOOCs and the number of learners that could be matched (with either Explicit/Direct or Fuzzy matching) to our five Social Web platforms. Marked with \dagger (\ddagger) are those course/platform combinations where we were able to locate > 5% (> 10%) of the registered learners. The final row contains the unique number of users/learners (a learner may have taken several MOOCs) identified on each platform.

and StackExchange were also identified in this manner, with Direct and Fuzzy matching contributing little. On these platforms, users' email addresses are either directly accessible (Gravatar and GitHub) or indirectly accessible (StackExchange provides the MD5 hash of its users' email ad-

20

dresses¹⁵). In contrast, the LinkedIn and Twitter platforms do not publish this type of user information and thus the majority of matches are fuzzy matches. Overall, the Direct approach has the least impact on the number of matches found.

To verify the quality of our matchings, for each platform, we sampled 50 users identified through any matching strategy and manually determined whether the correct linkage between the learner's edX profile and the Social Web platform was found (based on the inspection of user profile information and content). We found our matching to be robust: of the 100 samples, we correctly linked 93 (StackExchange), 87 (GitHub), 97 (Twitter) and 95 (LinkedIn) respectively.

	Explicit	Direct	Fuzzy	Overall
Gravatar	7.81%			7.81%
StackExchange	4.32%	0.01%	0.25%	4.58%
GitHub	9.04%	0.02%	1.23%	10.29%
LinkedIn		0.48%	5.41%	5.89%
Twitter		0.67%	7.12%	7.78%

Table 2.2: Overview of the percentage of MOOC learners (329,200 overall) identified through the different matching strategies on the five selected Social Web platforms. A dash (—) indicates that for this specific platform/strategy combination, no matching was performed.

2.5 Results

In this section, we present an overview of our findings. As we collected different types of data (tweets vs. skills vs. source code) from different Social Web platforms, we describe the analysis conducted on each platform's data traces independently in the following subsections.

2.5.1 Learners on Twitter

Our Twitter dataset consists of 25,620 unique users having written 12, 314,067 tweets in more than 60 languages, which offers many insights into **RQ 1.2**. The majority language is English (68.3% of all tweets), followed by Spanish

¹⁵Note that StackExchange stopped the release of MD5 hashes in September 2013, thus we use the 2013 data dump for email matching and the September 2015 data dump for our content analysis.

(7.3%), Dutch (3.1%), Portuguese (3.1%) and Russian $(2.2\%)^{16}$. The popularity of the Dutch language among our Twitter users can be explained by the fact that all MOOCs we consider in this analysis are offered by a Dutch university.

For each Twitter user with at least 100 English language tweets we estimated their age according to the approach described in Section 2.3.3. The results for our Twitter user set overall and three exemplary MOOCs (that is, we only consider users that participated in a particular MOOC) are shown in Figure 2.2: we have binned the estimations into six age brackets¹⁷. The average MOOC learner is between 20 and 30 years of age, though we do observe that different types of courses attract slightly different audiences: In the *Functional Programming* MOOC, the 20-40 year old learners are overrepresented (compared to the "Overall" user set — computed across all eighteen MOOCs), while *Framing* and *Responsible Innovation* engage older learners to a larger than average degree.

We conduct an analogous analysis of our users' gender distribution; the results are shown in Figure 2.3¹⁸. The majority of MOOCs we investigate are anchored in engineering or the natural sciences, which traditionally attract a much larger percentage of male learners (in most parts of the world). This is reflected strongly in our Twitter sample: across all users with 100 or more English speaking tweets, 89% were identified as male. The MOOC with the highest skew in the distribution is *Functional Programming* with more than 96% of users identified as male. In contrast, the *Framing* and *Robust Innovation* exhibit the lowest amount of skewness: in both MOOCs, more than 20% of the users in our sample are classified as female.

The results we have presented provide us with confidence that microblogbased user profiling in the context of massive open online learning yields reliable outcomes. Future work will investigate the derivation of more complex and high-level attributes (such as personalities and learner type) from microblog data and their impact on online learning.

¹⁶We generated these numbers based on Twitter's language auto-detect feature.

 $^{^{17}\}text{Based}$ on the ground truth data provided by 20,311 edX learners, the prediction precision is 36.5%.

 $^{^{18}{\}rm The}$ prediction precision is 78.3% based on the ground truth provided by 20,739 edX learners.



Figure 2.2: Percentage of our Twitter users across eight age brackets. The "Overall" user set contains all users independent of the specific MOOC(s) taken, the remaining three user sets are MOOC-specific.



Figure 2.3: Percentage of our Twitter users of each gender. The "Overall" user set contains all users independent of the specific MOOC(s) taken, the remaining three user sets are MOOC-specific.

2.5.2 Learners on LinkedIn

LinkedIn user profiles are often publicly accessible, containing information about a user's education, past and current jobs as well as their interests and skills. As shown in Table 2.1, for each of the MOOCs we were able to identify between 200 (*Topology in Condensed Matter*) and 2, 997 (*Solar Energy* 2013) learners on the LinkedIn platform. To explore **RQ 1.2** we focus on two types
of information in those profiles: job titles and skills. In our dataset, among the 19,405 collected LinkedIn profiles, 17,566 contain a job title (with on average 5.89 number of terms) and 16,934 contain one or more skills (37.42 skills on average).



Figure 2.4: Overview of the most frequent job title bigrams among the learners of the Data Analysis (top), Delft Design Approach (middle), and Responsible Innovation (bottom) MOOCs.

2.5. Results

In Figure 2.4, exemplary for three MOOCs (*Data Analysis, Responsible Innovation*, and *Delft Design Approach*), we present the most frequently occurring bigrams among the job titles of our learners. Interestingly, the *Data Analysis* MOOC attracts a large number of self-proclaimed "software engineers" and "business analysts," despite the fact that it covers elementary material (it is an introduction to spreadsheet-based data analysis & Python) which we consider users in this area to be already familiar with. In contrast, the *Delft Design Approach* and *Responsible Innovation* job title bigram distributions are more in line with our expectations — the most frequent bigrams are "project manager" and "co founder" respectively, positions for which knowledge about the risks and ethical questions of new technologies (*Responsible Innovation*) and the design of new products (*Delft Design Approach*) are very relevant to.



Figure 2.5: Fraction of learners displaying *n* numbers of MOOC certificate.

As prior works [176] have indicated extrinsic factors such as recognitionby-others to play an important motivating role for MOOC learners, an explanation for the observed discrepancy between expected learners and actual MOOC participants, we also investigate to what extent our learners on LinkedIn present their MOOC achievements to the outside world. In Figure 2.5 we present a distribution of the number of MOOC certificates our users in the LinkedIn dataset list on their profile page. Each certificate represents a successfully completed MOOC. We limit our investigation to any certificate issued by the edX or Coursera platforms, as they offer a verifiable certificate interface to LinkedIn. We manually checked a random sample of 100 DelftX edX certificates listed by LinkedIn users to check whether each was actually issued to this specific user via edX. This was indeed the case for all sampled certificates. Overall, 9% of our users list one or more MOOC certificates on their public profile with the majority of users (57%) having achieved one or two certificates only. A small fraction of learners (2%) is highly active in the MOOC learning community, having collected more than 15 certificates over time. Future work will investigate the impact of MOOC certificates on professional development through the lense of LinkedIn.

Lastly, we investigate to what extent the users' listed skills on their LinkedIn profiles can be considered indicative of their course preferences (to enable course recommendations for instance). A user can list up to 50skill on his profile — skills are not restricted to a pre-defined set, any keyword or short phrase can be added as a skill. Across all LinkedIn users in our dataset (19,405 users in total), the five most frequently mentioned skills are management (5,847 times), project management (4,894 times), java (4,087 times), microsoft office (4,073 times) and leadership (3,971 times). Thus, most of the users in our dataset present skills of themselves that are required for higher positions. We created a skill vocabulary by considering all skills mentioned at least once by a user in our dataset and then filtering out the fifty most frequent skills overall, leaving us with 28,816 unique skills. We create a user-skill matrix, where each cell represents the presence or absence of a skill in a user's profile. We then applied truncated SVD [52] to reduce the dimensions of the matrix to 50 and then employed t-SNE (described in Section 2.3.3) to visualize the structure of the data in a two dimensional space.

In Figure 2.6 we present the t-SNE based clustering of user skills exemplary for three pairs of MOOCs: Delft Design Approach vs. Topology of Condensed Matter, Data Analysis vs. Solar Energy 2015, and, Functional *Programming* vs. *Framing*. Recall, that a point in a plot represents a skill vector; t-SNE visually clusters data points together that are similar in the original (high-dimensional) skill space. The most distinct clustering can be observed for the final course pairing — users interested in functional programming are similar to each other, but different in their skill set from users interested in the analyses of political debates. This is a sensible result, which highlights the suitability of t-SNE for this type of data exploration. For the other two course pairings, the plots show less separation. In particular, for the Data Analysis vs. Solar Energy 2015 pairing, we observe a complete overlap between the two sets of users, i.e. there is no distinct set of skills that separates their interests. The pairing Delft Design Approach vs. Topology of *Condensed Matter* shows that the users of the design course have a larger spread of skills than those taking the physics MOOC. Still, the overlap in the skill set is considerable.



Figure 2.6: t-SNE based visualization of LinkedIn skill vectors for pairs of MOOCs. Each data point represents one skill vector (i.e. one user).

2.5.3 Learners on StackExchange

Our StackExchange dataset consists of 86,672 questions (1% of all StackExchange questions posted), 197,504 answers (1.2% of all answers) and 418,633 comments, which were contributed by the 31,478 unique users we identified as MOOC learners among our courses. Given that 51.5% of the identified users registered for the *Functional Programming* MOOC, we focus our attention on the StackOverflow site within StackExchange (the Q&A site for programming-related questions), where our learners contributed 71,344 questions, 177,780 answers and 358,521 comments.

Driven by **RQ 1.3**, we first explored to what extent (if at all) MOOC learners change their question/answering behaviour during and after a MOOC. We restricted this analysis to the learners of the *Functional Programming* MOOC as those were by far the most active on StackOverflow. Among the 38,682 learners that registered for that MOOC, 8,068 could be matched to StackExchange. Of those users, 849 attempted to answer at least one question related to functional programming.

In Figure 2.7 (top) we plot month-by-month (starting in January 2014) the number of questions and answers by our learners that are tagged with "Haskell", the functional language taught in the MOOC. Two observations can be made: (i) a subset of learners was already using Haskell before the start of the MOOC (which ran between 10/2014 and 12/2014), and, (ii) the number of Haskell questions posed by MOOC learners after the end of the MOOC decreased considerably (from an average of 32 questions per month before the MOOC to 19 per months afterwards), while the number of answers provided remained relatively stable. Figure 2.7 (bottom) shows that this trend is specific to the subset of MOOC learners: here we plot the frquency of "Haskell"-tagged questions and answers across all StackExchange users and observe no significant changes in the ratio between questions and answers. Finally, in Figure 2.7 (middle) we consider our learners' uptake of functional programming in general, approximated by the frequency of questions and answers tagged with any of the nine major functional language names¹⁹. We again find that over time, the ratio between questions & answers becomes more skewed (i.e. our learners turn more and more into answerers).

Finally, we also explored whether our MOOC learners have a similar expertise-dispensing behaviour as the general StackOverflow user population. To this end, we make use of the two expertise use types proposed in [169]: *sparrows* and *owls*. In short, sparrows are highly active users that

¹⁹Scala, Haskell, Common Lisp, Scheme, Coljure, Racket, Erlang, Ocaml, F#



Figure 2.7: Overview of the number of StackOverflow questions and answers posted on a monthly basis between January 2014 and July 2015 by (i) our MOOC learners [top and middle], and (ii) all StackExchange users [bottom] for Haskell [top, bottom] and the nine major functional languages [middle]. Marked in gray is the time period of the Functional Programming MOOC. The dashed green line indicates the ratio of <u>Questions</u> in each month.

contribute a lot but do not necessarily increase the community's knowledge. Their answers, while relevant, might be of low quality or low utility as they are motivated by reputation scores, and gamification elements of the platform. Owls on the other hand are users that are motivated to increase the overall knowledge contained in the platform. Owls are experts in the discussed topic, and they prove their expertise by providing useful answers to important and difficult questions. [169] proposed the mean expertise contribution (MEC) metric to capture measure expertise, based on answering quality, question debatableness and user activeness. Based on this metric, they determined 10.0% of the StackOverflow users to be owls. We derived MEC for our set of Functional Programming MOOC learners that are active on StackOverflow and found 21.0% of them to be owls. Thus, the

average MOOC learner is not only interested in gathering knowledge, but also in distributing knowledge to others, on a deeper level than the average StackExchange user.

Study Hereiton (month) Study

2.5.4 Learners on GitHub

Figure 2.8: Month-by-month GitHub contributions in the Haskell language by the Functional Programming MOOC learners identified on GitHub.

Finally, with respect to **RQ 1.3**, we consider the concept of learning transfer, introduced in Section 2.3.3. As a social coding platform, GitHub is most suitable to explore programming-heavy MOOCs, thus we restrict our analysis (as in the previous section) to the Functional Programming MOOC. We are particularly interested in the extent of the learners' functional programming after the end of the MOOC — our MOOC learners ask fewer topic-related questions (on StackExchange) over time, but does it also mean they program less in the language? To his end, we explored th 6,371,518PushEvents we extracted from our MOOC learners between January 1, 2013 and June 30, 2015. Figure 2.8 provides a first answer to this question. The amount of Haskell programming by our learners was increasing slowly over time even before the start of the MOOC. A spike is visible in November 2014 (weeks 3-6 of the Functional Programming MOOC) and immediately after the end of the MOOC the contributions increase. However, by March 2015, i.e. three months after the end of the MOOC, the contributions are beginning to decline again towards nearly pre-MOOC levels.

In contrast to Haskell, we observe a sharp rise in "Scala" (the main functional language in industry) activities after the end of the MOOC which peak in November 2015. These functional activities are not evenly spread across all users though, only 32% of the users we identified on GitHub exhibited any type of functional language activities after the end of the *Functional Language* MOOC. In the future, we will not only consider the addition of lines of codes in a particular language, but also perform fine-grained code analyses to investigate which specific concepts the learners picked up on in the MOOC and later employed in their own works.

2.6 Conclusion

In this chapter, we have provided a first exploratory analysis of learners' Social Web traces across eighteen MOOCs and five globally popular Social Web platforms. We argue that MOOC-based learning analytics has much to gain from looking beyond the MOOC platform and accounting for the fact that learning events frequently happen beyond the immediate course environment. This study embraces the data traces learners leave on various Social Web platforms as integral parts of the distributed, connected, and open online learning ecosystem.

Focusing on **RQ 1.1**, we have found that on average 5% of learners can be identified on globally popular Social Web platforms. We observed a significant variance in the percentage of identified learners; in the most extreme positive case (*Functional Programming*/GitHub) we were able to match 42% of learners. We also found that learners with specific traits prefer different types of MOOCS (**RQ 1.2**) and we were able to present a first investigation into user behaviours (such as learning transfer over time) that are paramount in the push to make MOOCs more engaging and inclusive (**RQ 1.3**).

In this work we were only able to explore the possible contributions of each Social Web platform to enhance massive open online learning on a broad level. In future work, we will zoom in on each of the identified platforms and explore in greater detail how learners' behaviours and activities can be explored to positively impact our understanding of massive open online learning and improve the learning experience.

_____ |

Chapter 3

Learning Transfer

In this chapter, we follow Chapter 2, in which we have observed that over one-third of learners from a *Functional Programming* MOOC used GitHub to maintain their programming activities. While course completion is indeed an important measure of learning, we argue that another key measure is *learning transfer*: do learners actually use the newly acquired knowledge and skills to solve problems in practice? To answer the question, we combine the data traces from both edX and GitHub for analysis. The contributions of this chapter have been published in [30].

3.1 Introduction

The rising number of MOOCs enable people to learn & advance their knowledge and competencies in a wide range of fields. *Learning*, though, is only the first step; the *application* of the taught concepts is equally important, as knowledge that is learned but not frequently applied or activated is quickly unlearned [166, 18, 148].

Existing investigations into student learning *within* MOOC environments are commonly based on pre- & post-course surveys and log traces generated within those environments by the individual learners [74]. While student learning is indeed an important measure of success, we argue that another key measure is the amount of **learning transfer** [94] that is taking place: do learners actually utilize the newly gained knowledge in practice? Are learners expanding their knowledge in the area over time or do they eventually move back to their pre-course knowledge levels and behaviours? These are important questions to address in the learning sciences, and their answers will enable us to shape the MOOCs of the future based on empirical evidence.

The main challenge researchers face in answering these questions is the lack of *accessible*, *large-scale*, *relevant* and *longitudinal* data traces outside of MOOC environments. While learners can be uniquely identified within a MOOC platform, at this point in time we have no general manner of capturing their behavioural traces outside of these boundaries.

Not all is lost though. Social Web platforms (Twitter being the prime example) have become a mainstay of the Web. They are used by hundreds of millions of users around the world and often provide open access to some — if not all — of the data generated within them. While most of these platforms are geared towards people's private lives, in the past few years social Web platforms have also begun to enter our professional lives.

One such work-related social Web platform is GitHub¹; it is one of the most popular *social coding* platforms world-wide with more than 10 million registered users. Hobbyists and professional programmers alike use GitHub to collaborate on programming projects, host their source code, and organize their programming activities. As GitHub was founded in 2007, we have potential access to log traces reaching several years into the past; moreover, its continuously increasing popularity will enable us to observe our learners over years to come. The potential of GitHub for behavioural mining has long been recognized by the software engineering research community where GitHub is

¹https://github.com/

one of the most popular data sources to investigate how (groups of) people code.

Thus, for MOOCs with a strong focus on programming concepts, we consider GitHub to be one of the most detailed and openly accessible sources of learners' relevant behavioral traces outside of the MOOC environment itself. Concretely, we analyze $FP101x^2$, an edX MOOC covering basic functional programming concepts. Of the 37,485 learners that registered for FP101xwe matched 12,415 (33.1%) to their respective GitHub accounts, enabling a first large-scale analysis of the uptake of taught programming concepts in practice.

Here, we are foremost interested in exploring to what extent the course affects learners *after it has ended*. We are guided by the following three **R**esearch **Q**uestions:

RQ 2.1 To what extent do learners from a programming MOOC transfer the newly gained knowledge to practice?

RQ 2.2 What type of learners are most likely to make the transfer?

RQ 2.3 How does the transfer manifest itself over time?

Based on these guiding questions we have formulated seven research hypotheses which build on previous research efforts in work-place and classroom learning. In contrast to our work though, in these settings, the investigations are mostly based on questionnaires and interviews instead of behavioural traces. To the best of our knowledge, learning transfer has not yet been investigated in the context of MOOCs. Gaining deeper insights about the (lack of) learning transfer in MOOCs will lead to more informed discussions on the practical purposes and benefits of MOOCs. The main contributions of our work can be summarized as follows:

- We investigate to what extent learning transfer insights gained in workplace and classroom settings hold in the MOOC context. We find that the majority of findings are also applicable in the case of MOOCs.
- We introduce the use of *external* social Web-based data sources to complement learner traces within MOOC environments as a means to capture much more information about MOOC learners.

²https://www.edx.org/course/introduction-functional-programming-delftx-fp101x

• We introduce GitHub as a specific large-scale data source to mine relevant longitudinal behavioural traces about learners before, during and after a programming-oriented MOOC.

3.2 Background

Meaningful, robust educational experiences transcend rote memorization of facts and leave the learner empowered to take on new problems and practice novel ways of thinking. In tracking student activity from the learning context (edX) to a real-world, practical one (GitHub) over a period of three years, the present study observes the first two of the three criteria of *robust learning* as outlined in [94]: (i) application in new situations different from the learning context, (ii) retained over the long-term, and (iii) prepares for future learning. Gaining a better understanding of how students apply what they learn in online learning environments over an extended time frame enables instructors to design future courses that induce more robust learning.

Some researchers [162, 158] have begun to look beyond traces generated in online learning environments, by utilizing post-course surveys or conducting post-course interviews with MOOC students.

Although the early studies of transfer stemmed from educational issues, the majority of recent learning transfer research literature is concerned with work-place training in Human Resource Development (HRD) [19]. With the recent influx of student activity data generated from digital learning environments, we can now empirically measure not only the rate of transfer, but other contributing factors as well. That, in tandem with the established surveying strategies used by HRD, promises to fundamentally change the way we think about measurable learning outcomes.

Learning transfer is the application of knowledge or skills gained in a learning environment to another context [10]. While training situations in professional environments have a clear target context (the job), this is not the case with most academic learning situations. Students are generally taught a broad set of skills and knowledge which they may apply in countless ways. This deliberately broad definition encapsulates both *near transfer* (to similar contexts) and *far transfer* (to dissimilar contexts) [13] and avoids the subjective question of *how* similar or different the learning context is from the target context, as we are only concerned with whether the student transferred the learned skills or knowledge beyond the learning context.

3.2. Background

Due to their rising popularity as a professional development tool and their roots as an educational resource, MOOCs serve as an ideal source of information to gain new insights on learning transfer. Studies have begun to discuss the learners' intention to apply what they've learned in MOOCs but do not continue to track student activity beyond the learning platform [55]. The present research aims to reoperationalize [45] the understanding of learning transfer given the emerging possibilities of user modeling and learning analytics from the current standard of *reported* learning transfer towards *observed* learning transfer.

Yelon & Ford [173] offer a key distinction in transfer that differentiates open and closed skills. Open skill training programs include "leadership and interpersonal skills training," and typical closed skill trainings include "various technical training and computer software training." This emerges as an important distinction. In a study in which Blume et al. [19] found posttraining knowledge (PTK) and post-training self-efficacy (PTSE) to have similar correlations with learning transfer, PTK and PTSE for closed skills resulted in lower correlation coefficients than for open skills. Independent of performance, self-efficacy is a person's self-reported ability to successfully complete a future task [12]. Knowledge is measured as a result of a task answering a quiz question correctly indicates possession of that knowledge [19].

Regarding the maintenance and persistence of learning transfer over time, Blume et al. [19] analyzed how the *amount of time* (the "lag") between the end of training and the beginning of the transfer study affects learning transfer. They found that in studies with at least some lag time between training and testing, learners exhibited significantly lower post-training knowledge and post-training self-efficacy than those that tested students immediately following training.

In their survey of training professionals from 150 organizations, [138] report that 62% of employees in their organization "effectively apply what they learned in training" to their job immediately, 42% after six months, and 34% after one year. Other studies directly survey students in gathering self-reported data about learning transfer [99]. Another manner by which researchers have measured transfer is through assessment questions following instruction that, in order for students to answer correctly, would have to apply what they learned to a new context or problem [101, 2]. The present study examines transfer as a more naturally occurring, un-elicited phenomenon that the learners undertake and exhibit on their own accord.

3.3 FP101x

Introduction to Functional Programming (or short FP101x) is a MOOC offered on the edX platform. The course introduces learners to various functional programming concepts; all programming is performed in the functional language Haskell.

The first iteration of the course ran between October 15, 2014 and December 31, 2014. As is common in MOOCs today, learners were invited to participate in a pre-course and a post-course survey containing questions on the motivation of the learners, the perceived quality of the course, etc. In August 2015 we approached a subset of learners for an additional post-course survey.

The course was set up as an xMOOC [134]: lecture videos were distributed throughout the 8 teaching weeks. Apart from lectures each week, exercises ("homeworks" and "labs") were distributed in the form of multiple choice (MC) questions. While homework questions evaluated learners on their understanding of high-level concepts and code snippets (e.g., "What is the result of executing [...]?"), labs required learners to implement programs themselves. To enable fully automatic evaluations, all lab work was also assessed through MC questions. Each of the 288 MC questions was worth 1 point & could be attempted once. Answers were due 2 weeks after the release of the assignment. To pass the course, $\geq 60\%$ of all MC questions had to be answered correctly.

Overall, 37,485 users registered for the course. Fewer than half (41%) engaged with the course, watching at least one lecture video. The completion rate was 5.25%, in line with similar MOOC offerings [95]. Over 75% of the learners were male and more than 60% had at least a Bachelors degree.

3.4 Methodology

We first outline and justify the seven research hypotheses upon which we ground our work. Next, we describe in detail how to verify them empirically based on course questionnaire data, edX logs and GitHub data traces.

3.4.1 Research Hypotheses

Based on prior work we can make the following hypothesis associated with **RQ 2.1**:

H1 Only a small fraction of engaged learners is likely to exhibit learning transfer.

While previous works, e.g. [138], note transfer rates of up to 60%, we hypothesize our rate to be much lower, due to the natural setting we investigate, the difficulty of the topic (closed skills) and the generally low retention rate of MOOCs.

A large part of existing literature has focused on the different dimensions of a learner that may be indicative of a high or low transfer rate. Thus, the following research hypotheses are all related to **RQ 2.2**, which focuses on the *type* of learner exhibiting transfer.

H2 Intrinsically motivated learners with mastery goals are more likely to exhibit learning transfer than extrinsically motivated learners.

[129] found that, in academic settings, mastery goals are more consistently linked to transfer success than performance goals. This was measured by instructors guiding students through either mastery- or performance-oriented experimental conditions and comparing their assessment scores. In line with intrinsic motivation, mastery goals are characterized by a learner's intention to understand and develop new knowledge and abilities. Performance goals, extrinsically motivated, are those sought after in order to obtain positive judgements from others [43].

- H3 Learners expressing high self-efficacy are more likely to actively apply their trained tasks in new contexts.In other words, in both academic and professional settings, if you believe that you are able to do something, you are more likely to try it [56, 73, 78, 129].
- H4 Experienced learners (high ability levels) are more likely to transfer trained skills and knowledge in order to maintain and improve performance levels [56].
- **H5** Learners reporting a high personal capacity (time, energy and mental space) for transfer are more likely to actually exhibit learning transfer [78].
- **H6** Learners exhibiting a high-spacing learning routine are more likely to exhibit learning transfer than learners with a low-spacing learning routine.

Here, high-spacing refers to a larger number of discrete learning sessions than low-spacing with few learning sessions each lasting a long time (i.e. "cramming") [111, 49, 17].

Finally, for **RQ 2.3** we investigate the following hypothesis:

H7 The amount of exhibited transfer decreases over time [138].

3.4.2 From Hypotheses To Measurements

Table 3.1 shows an overview of the data sources used to investigate each research hypothesis.

	Pre CS	Post CS	edXLogs	${\tt GitHub} \ {\tt Logs}$
H1			\checkmark	\checkmark
H2	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark
H3		\checkmark		\checkmark
$\mathbf{H4}$	\checkmark			\checkmark
H5		\checkmark		\checkmark
H6			\checkmark	\checkmark
$\mathbf{H7}$				\checkmark

Table 3.1: Overview of the different data sources used to investigate each research hypothesis.
 CS refers to the conducted Course Surveys (before and after the course).

To explore **H1** we relate learners' performance during the course (as found in the edX logs) to their development activities on GitHub.

To determine the impact of learners' motivation on learning transfer (H2), we distinguish learners based on their answers to several pre/postcourse survey questions we manually established as being motivation-related. To determine *intrinsic motivation* we identified six question-answer pairs including the following two³:

• What describes your interest for registering for this course?; Answer: My curiosity (in the topic) was the reason for me to sign up for this course [Pre CS, 5-point Likert]

 $^{^3\}mathrm{Due}$ to space constraints, only a subset of the identified question/answer pairs are shown.

• Express your level of agreement with the following statement.; Answer: Course activities piqued my curiosity. [Post CS, 5-point Likert]

Similarly, for *extrinsic motivation* we determined nine appropriate questionanswer pairs, including:

- What describes your interest for registering for this course? Choose the one that applies to you the most; Answer: My current occupation motivated me to enroll in the course. [Pre CS, 5-point Likert]
- Considering your experience in this, how much do you agree with the following statement?; Answer: The course was compulsory for me [Post CS, Multiple choice]

Learners' belief in their ability to complete a task (H3), can be inferred based on a question asking the learners to express their level of agreement with a set of statements from the validated General Self-Efficacy Scale [29]:

- I can describe ways to test and apply the knowledge created in this course. [Post CS, 5-point Likert]
- I have developed solutions to course problems that can be applied in practice. [Post CS, 5-point Likert]
- I can apply the knowledge created in the course to my work or other non-class related activities. [Post CS, 5-point Likert]

The prior expertise of learners (H4) can both be inferred from survey questions as well as from the GitHub logs. The questions utilized are:

- Is your educational background related to (Functional) Programming? [Pre CS, 5-point Likert]
- Do you have professional experience in this field? [Pre CS, 5-point Likert]

The personal capacity (H5) of a learner is inferred based on two questions:

- Did any of the following negatively affect your participation in the course? [Post CS, 5-point Likert]
- Considering your experience in this course, how much did each of the technical issues affect your participation? [Post CS, 5-point Likert]

Responses to these questions allow learners to share which factors inhibited and distracted them from engaging with the course. Examples of responses to these questions range from personal problems, such as family obligations and medical issues, to technical trouble, such as slow Internet or hardware problems. H6 considers the manner in which learners learn and can be inferred solely based on edX log traces which will be explained in more detail in the section below. Finally, H7, the extent to which functional programming is employed and applied by the learners over time can be inferred from GitHub logs alone.

edX Logs

For each learner, we collect all available traces (between October 1 and December 31, 2014), such as the learner's clicks & views, provided answers to MC questions as well as forum interactions. Using the MOOCdb toolkit⁴ we translate these low-level log traces into a data schema that is easily queryable.

To investigate **H6**, for each learner the learning routine is determined based on their edX logs. We partition the learners into low-spacing and highspacing types following [111]. Initially, all learners are sorted in ascending order according to their total time on-site. Subsequently they are binned into ten equally-sized groups. Within each group, the learners are sorted according to the number of distinct sessions on the site and based on this ordering divided into two equally-sized subgroups: learners with few sessions (low-spacing) and learners with many sessions (high-spacing). In this manner, learners spending similar amounts of time (in total) on the course site can be compared with each other.

GitHub Logs

We identify edX learners on GitHub through the email identifiers attached to each edX and GitHub account. A third of all learners that registered to FP101x are also active on GitHub: 12,415 learners in total⁵. This is likely to be an underestimate of the true number of GitHub users (people generally have multiple email accounts), as we did not attempt to match accounts based on additional user profile information.

GitHub provides extensive access to data traces associated with public coding repositories, i.e. repositories visible to everyone⁶. GitHub is built

⁴http://moocdb.csail.mit.edu/

⁵Note that the number is different from the one (16,220) we presented in Table 2.1 in Chapter 2. This is because: (i) we only consider learners registered before the end of the MOOC; (ii) Chapter 2 used *GitHub Archive* to match learners and we use *GHTorrent* here as it provides a more fine-grained record about users' coding traces.

 $^{^{6}\}mathrm{Data}$ traces about private repositories are only available to the respective repository owner.

around the git distributed revision control system, which enables efficient distributed and collaborative code development. GitHub not only provides relevant repository metadata (including information on how popular a repository is, how many developers collaborate, etc.), but also the actual code that was altered. As the *GitHub Archive*⁷ makes all historic GitHub data traces easily accessible, we relied on it for data collection and extracted all GitHub data traces available between January 1, 2013 and July 21, 2015. We then filtered out all traces that were *not* created by our edX learners, leaving us with traces from 10,944 learners. Of the more than 20 GitHub *event types*⁸, we only consider the PushEvent as vital for our analysis.

```
"_id" : ObjectId("55b6005de4b07ff432432dfe1"),
  "created_at" : "2013-03-03T18:36:09-08:00",
  "url" : "https://github.com/john/
            RMS/compare/1c55c4cb04...420e112334",
  "actor" : "john",
  "actor_attributes"
        "name" : "John Doe",
        "email" : "john@doe.com"
  },
  "repository" : {
        "id" : 2.37202e+06,
        "name" : "RMS",
        "forks" : 0,
        "open_issues" : 0,
        "created_at" : "2011-09-12T08:28:27-07:00",
        "master_branch" : "master"
    }
}
```



Every time code is being updated ("pushed" to a repository), a PushEvent is triggered. Figure 3.1 contains an excerpt of the data contained in each PushEvent. The most important attributes of the event are the created_at timestamp (which allows us to classify events as before/during/after the running of FP101x), the actor (the user doing the "push") and the url, which contains the URL to the actual *diff file*. While the git protocol also allows a user to "push" changes by another user to a repository (which is not evident from inspecting the *diff file* alone), this is a rare occurrence among our learners: manually inspecting a random sample of 200 PushEvents showed 10 such cases. A *diff file* shows the difference between the last version of the repository and the new one (after the push) in terms of added and deleted code. An example excerpt is shown in Figure 3.2. For each of the identified 1, 185, 549 PushEvents by our learners, we crawled the corresponding *diff*

43

⁷https://www.githubarchive.org/

⁸https://developer.github.com/v3/activity/events/types/

file, as they allow us to conduct a fine-grained code analysis. As a first step, we identified the additions and deletions a user conducts in each programming language based on the filename extensions found in the corresponding diff file. We consider code updates in the following nine functional languages as clear evidence for functional programming: Common Lisp, Scheme, Clojure, Racket, Erlang, Ocaml, Haskell, F# and Scala. We also log changes made in any of the other 20 most popular programming languages found on GitHub in the same manner. Any filename extension not recognized is first checked against a blacklist (which includes common filename extensions for images, compressed archives, audio files, etc.) and if not found, the change is classified as Other.

```
diff --git a/viewsA.rb b/viewsA.rb
index e37bca1..3ad75e4 100644
--- a/viewsA.rb
+++ b/viewsA.rb
@@ -26,6 +26,16 @@ def new
@shift = Shift.new
end
...
diff --git a/config/routes.rb b/config/routes.rb
index e576929..27ce68f 100644
--- a/config/routes.rb
+++ b/config/routes.rb
+++ b/config/routes.rb
@@ -29,6 +29,7 @@
put 'secondary'
...
```



3.5 Results

We first present some basic characteristics of FP101x, before delving into the analyses of our research questions and hypotheses.

3.5.1 FP101x Overview

We partition our set of all *registered FP101x* learners according to two dimensions: (i) learners with and without a GitHub account, and (ii) learners with and without prior expertise in functional programming. In the latter case, we consider only those learners that could be identified on GitHub. We define **Expert learners** as those who used any of our nine identified functional programming languages before the start of the course to a meaningful degree

(i.e. more than 25 lines of functional code being added). The characteristics of these learner cohorts are listed in Tables 3.2 and 3.3.

When considering the GitHub vs. non-GitHub learners, we observe significant differences along the dimensions of engagement and knowledge:

- GitHub learners are on average more engaged with the course material (significantly more time spent on watching lecture videos and significantly more questions attempted).
- GitHub learners exhibit higher levels of knowledge (significantly more questions answered correctly).

Zooming in on the GitHub learners and their functional programming expertise, we find the differences to be enlarged: Expert learners have a higher completion rate (more than double that of non-Expert learners), attempt to solve significantly more problems and are significantly more accurate in answering. Experts are also more engaged in terms of forum usage - 8% post at least once compared to 4% of the non-Expert learners.

Finally, we note that we repeated this analysis on the subset of *engaged* learners only, where we consider all learners that attempted to solve at least one MC question or watched at least one video. While the absolute numbers vary, the trends we observe for the different partitions of learners in Tables 3.2 and 3.3 remain exactly the same.

3.5.2 Learning Transfer

Let us first consider the general uptake of functional programming languages. We can split each learner's GitHub traces into three distinct sequences according to their timestamp: traces generated *before*, *during* and *after FP101x*. We are interested in comparing the before & after and will mostly ignore the activities generated during FP101x.

Expert Learners.

Overall, 1,721 of all GitHub learners have prior functional programming experience (our **Expert learners**). 1,165 of those are also *engaged* with FP101x (the remainder registered, but did not engage), leading to nearly a third (29.4%) of all engaged GitHub learners having pre-FP101x functional programming experience.

Most of our GitHub learners though are not continuously coding functionally: Figure 3.3 shows for each month of GitHub logs (January 2013 to

	All Learners	GH Learners	Non-GH Learners
#Enrolled learners	37,485	12,415	25,070
Completion rate	5.25%	7.71%	4.03%
%Learners who watched at least one video	40.84%	50.58%	36.02%
Avg. time watching video material (in min.) †	31.87	44.56	25.59
%Learners who tried at least one question	23.28%	31.94%	18.99%
Avg. #questions learners attempted to solve †	22.07	31.29	17.51
Avg. #questions answered correctly †	18.30	26.54	14.22
Avg. accuracy of learners' answers †	16.36%	23.41%	12.86%
#Forum posts	8,157	3,726	4,431
%Learners who posted at least once	2.84%	4.27%	2.13%
Avg. #posts per learner \dagger	0.22	0.30	0.18

Table 3.2: Basic characteristics across all learners and their partitioning into GitHub (GH) and non-GitHub learners. Significant differences (according to Mann-Whitney) between GH and non-GH learners are marked with $\dagger(p < 0.001)$.

July 2015) the *unique* number of GitHub learners programming functionally while in 2013 less than 250 of our GitHub learners were active per month, by 2015 this number has increased to nearly unique 600 active users a month. Thus, the trend to functional programming is generally increasing. Most learners though are not actively using functional languages on a monthly basis.

How much functional code do our engaged Expert learners produce over time? An answer to this question delivers Figure 3.4: here, for each month, the functional coding activities (calculated as the additions made in functional languages as a fraction of all additions made in recognized programming languages) are averaged across all engaged Expert learners. Again we observe that over the years functional programming has become more popular. By September 2014 (right before the start of FP101x), on average more than 36% of coding activities are functional. What is surprising (and somewhat counter-intuitive) is the steady decline of functional activities af-

3.5. Results

	Expert Learners	Non-Expert Learners
#Enrolled learners	1,721	10,694
Completion rate	15.05%	6.53%
%Learners who watched at least one video	64.44%	48.35%
Avg. time watching video material (in min.) †	69.61	40.53
%Learners who tried at least one question	48.69%	29.24%
Avg. #questions learners attempted to solve †	57.86	27.02
Avg. #questions answered correctly †	50.24	22.73
Avg. accuracy of learners' answers †	37.96%	21.06%
#Forum posts	1,612	2,114
%Learners who posted at least once ‡	7.55%	3.74%
Avg. $\#$ posts per learners	0.94	0.20

Table 3.3: Basic characteristics when partitioning the GitHub learners according to prior functional programming expertise. Significant differences (according to Mann-Whitney) between Expert and Non-Expert learners are marked with $\dagger(p < 0.001)$ and $\ddagger(p < 0.01)$.

ter the end of FP101x. If we restrict our engaged Expert Learners to those 542 learners with functional traces before and after FP101x (Figure 3.5), the results are more in line with our expectations: functional programming is continuously gaining in popularity and a peak in activities is observed in the two months following $FP101x^9$. Thus, 46.5% of engaged Expert learners did continue to program functionally after the end of FP101x.

Novice Learners.

Most interesting to use are the **Novice Learners**: to what extent do learners that did not program (meaningfully) in functional languages before FP101x take it up afterwards? We find 522 such learners — 4.3% of all GitHub learners. If we restrict ourselves to engaged GitHub learners, we are left with 336 Novice learners (8.5% of all engaged GitHub learners). Fig-

 $^{^{9}\}mathrm{The}$ drop in July 2015 is explained by the non-complete log coverage of July (the log ends on July 21, 2015).

ure 3.6 shows the evolution of their functional programming usage over time: the uptake after the end of FP101x is substantial, on average more than 35%of all activities are conducted subsequently in functional languages! While there is no substantial increase after the initial uptake over time, there is also no significant drop. Since the average can only provide limited insights, we drill down to the individual user level in Figure 3.7: the usage of functional programming is highly varied; 50% of the Novice Learners use it for less than 10% of their programming activities, while some learners almost exclusively code in functional languages. Finally, we also consider which functional languages these Novice learners code in. Figure 3.8 shows that a month after FP101x ended (January 2015), Haskell contributions made up 48% of all contributions, but continued dropping to a low of 14.5% in June 2015. Scala on the other hand (the most popular functional language in industrial settings) slowly rises in popularity over time and by June 2015 makes up roughly half of the functional contributions. Other functional languages play less of a role. Conducting a similar analysis on our engaged Expert learners (not shown here), we find that on average across all months, 47% ($\sigma = 7.4$) of all functional activities are in Scala, whereas 24.0% ($\sigma = 5.5$) are in Haskell. The distribution of functional languages is stable over time. The only outliers can be found in the three months of FP101x, where Haskell contributions rise significantly.





Transfer Learning Hypotheses

On which learners should (or can) we investigate our seven research hypotheses? Ideally, we rely on all learners that engaged with the course and for whom GitHub traces are available. However, for Expert learners we are unable to determine the amount of transfer: since our analysis of functional

Fraction of functional language activities (additions)



Figure 3.4: Fraction of functional programming activities among the 1,165 engaged Expert Learners. FP101x ran during the highlighted region.

coding is based on activities in functional languages (instead of a more finegrained analysis of the type of functional concepts employed), we are not able to determine whether learners that programmed functionally before acquired knowledge in FP101x and applied it in practice (a direction of future work). Only for the engaged Novice learners can we be confident that FP101x actually impacted their programming practice and that the observed transfer is likely a result of FP101x.

Considering H1, we observe a transfer rate of at least 8.5% (i.e. among the 3,965 engaged GitHub learners we found 336 Novice learners that began programming functionally after FP101x). This percentage can be considered as a lower bound, as we (due to the reasons listed above) do not consider engaged Expert learners here. Only a minority (70) of the 336 engaged Novice learners did pass FP101x, indicating that transfer and pass rate are related but not synonymous. In fact, while the 70 Novice learners that successfully completed the course remained mostly active until the final



Fraction of functional language activities (additions)

Figure 3.5: Fraction of functional programming activities among the 542 engaged Expert Learners with functional activities before & after *FP101x*. *FP101x* ran during the highlighted region.

course week (Figure 3.9), nearly 40% of all engaged Novice learners became inactive after week 1.

To investigate H2, H3, H4, H5 and H6, for each hypothesis, we partition our 336 engaged Novice Learners who made the transfer according to the investigated dimensions (e.g. intrinsic vs. extrinsic motivation). Recall that the partitioning of the learners relies on their self-reported abilities in the pre- and post-course surveys. Similar to the retention rate, the return rate for such questionnaires is very low and many learners do not participate in these surveys for a variety of reasons. Table 3.4 shows the partitioning of our engaged Novice learners based on their survey data. The majority of learners cannot be assigned to a dimension due to a lack of data. Despite the low numbers, we do observe that the transfer learning hypotheses seem to hold in FP101x (for those learners for which it is possible to measure their effect): learners are more likely to make the transfer if (i) they are intrinsically motivated, (ii) have high self-efficacy, (iii) are more experienced programmers, and (iv) report a high personal capacity. Even though the number of learners



Figure 3.6: Fraction of functional programming activities among the 336 engaged Novice Learners with functional activities after *FP101x*. *FP101x* ran during the highlighted region.

we were able to investigate are small, we consider this as first evidence that transfer learning hypotheses also hold in the MOOC setting.

	Dimensions		N/A
H2 Motivation	Extr.: 12	Intr.: 28	296
H3 Self-efficacy	High: 23	Low: 5	308
H4 Experience	A lot: 42	Little: 25	269
${f H5}$ Personal capacity	High: 22	Low: 10	304

Table 3.4: Partitioning of the 336 Novice learners according to several dimensions. The last column shows the number of learners that could not be assigned (N/A) to a dimension.

To answer H6 (high-spaced learners are more likely to transfer), we binned all GitHub learners according to their total time and number of distinct sessions in the FP101x edX environment, as outlined earlier. This creates 10 groups, with learners in *Group 0* spending the least amount of time



Figure 3.7: Distribution of functional programming activities among the 336 engaged Novice Learners with functional activities after *FP101x*. *FP101x* ran during the highlighted region.

Groups	Low spacing	High spacing
0	2	2
1	9	9
2	6	16
3	10	20
4	21	21
5	19	16
6	19	22
7	20	22
8	16	29
9	27	30

Table 3.5: The number of Novice Learners falling into spacing groups.

and learners in $Group \ 9$ spending the most amount of time on the course site. Thus, each group contains those learners that roughly spent the same



Figure 3.8: Functional languages used by the 336 engaged Novice Learners during and after *FP101x*. Best viewed in color.

amount of time on the site. Further, within each group, learners are divided according to the number of distinct sessions. In Table 3.5 we report how many engaged Novice learners fell into each group and which part of the group — the high-spacing or the low-spacing one. While 187 engaged Novice learners are classified as high-spacing, 149 are classified as low-spacing. Thus, there is some indication that $\mathbf{H6}$ holds. However, the observed difference is rather small.

To conclude this section, we lastly consider **H7**. In contrast to the hypothesis (transfer decreases over time), we neither observe a significant decrease nor increase after the initial uptake as evident in Figures 3.6 and 3.7.

3.5.3 A Qualitative Analysis

We have found similarities and differences between transfer in classroom learning and our MOOC. Instead of speculating about the reasons for these differences, we designed a follow-up survey (containing 10 questions about learners' functional programming experiences before and after FP101x) and distributed it to subsets of GitHub learners in August 2015¹⁰. A second purpose of this questionnaire is to verify whether GitHub logs offer a good

53

 $^{^{10}\}mathrm{All}$ contacted learners had consented to additional contact.



Figure 3.9: Fraction of the 336 engaged Novice learners remaining active in each course week. 70 Novice learners completed *FP101x* successfully, 266 did not complete it.

approximation of our learners' true behaviour. We partitioned the *engaged* GitHub learners into eight categories:

- A Novice learners that completed the course but did not transfer (i.e. we did not observe functional GitHub traces after *FP101x*). #Survey responses: 131 (32% return rate).
- B Expert learners that completed the course but did not transfer. #Survey responses: 15 (39%).
- C Novice learners that completed the course and transferred (i.e. we observed functional GitHub traces after *FP101x*). #Survey responses: 11 (61%).
- D Novice learners that did not complete the course, but transferred. #Survey responses: 1 (3%).
- E Expert learners that completed the course and continued programming functionally (did they transfer?). #Survey responses: 20 (56%).
- F Expert learners that did not complete the course but did program functionally after *FP101x*. #Survey responses: 8 (16%).

- G Novice learners that were engaged in the course (but not completed) and did not transfer. #Survey responses: 93 (6%).
- H Expert learners that were engaged in the course (but not completed) and did not transfer. #Survey responses: 4 (7% return rate).

How accurate are GitHub traces as approximation of learners' functional programming activities? Of those learners we had identified as Novices, 63% also self-reported as such. Of the learners we estimated to have some prior functional programming experience, 77% self-reported prior experience. In particular, the latter number is intriguing: based on our stringent methodology, we can be confident that all of our identified Expert learners did indeed functionally program before FP101x, though about a quarter self-reports otherwise. Of the learners we identified as having demonstrated learning transfer, 88% also self-reported as doing so. Of those we identified as not having demonstrated learning transfer, only 37% self-reported of not having applied anything they had learnt. An explanation for this discrepancy is based on the non-exclusive use of GitHub: while 73% indicated that they use GitHub for either work or personal coding projects, 65% use a Private/Employer's repository service, and 39% use BitBucket. While 73% is promising in that it accounts for nearly three quarters of all learners, we could only detect users who use the same email address for both their edX and GitHub account.

What are the main reasons for learners not to transfer their acquired functional programming skills? 80% of learners reporting a reason for not transferring their acquired skills report a lack of opportunities. Many learners go on to explain that the programming language standards in their work-place do not allow them to practice what they have learned. Another common sentiment is that it is difficult for some experienced programmers to suddenly change their ways. For example, when asked why they did not apply what they learned in FP101x to either work or personal projects, one respondent shared, "It takes time and effort to change old programming habits." And another shared a similar sentiment: "[It's] hard to think functionally after 25 years of imperative [programming] experience."

3.6 Conclusion

We have investigated the extent of learning transfer in the MOOC setting and introduced the use of a social-Web based data source (i.e. GitHub) to complement the learner traces collected within MOOC environments. Focusing on one-third of FP101x learners we were able to link to GitHub, we made several important findings:

(1) Most transfer learning findings from the classroom setting translate into the MOOC setup; large discrepancies were only found for **H1**: the amount of observed transfer and **H7**: the development of transfer over time.

(2) The observed transfer rate in MOOCs is low. We found that 8.5% of engaged learners were indeed exhibiting transfer to varying degrees in our GitHub traces. We acknowledge that a substantial amount of programming occurs outside of GitHub (e.g. in private employer repositories). While the traces we gather offer many new insights by following learners beyond the MOOC platform for an extended period of time, considering one external data source alone is a limiting factor.

(3) The amount of transfer, operationalized as the fraction of functional coding is varying highly: about 50% of the learners transferring code less than 10% of the time functionally, while a small minority almost exclusively turns to functional languages.

(4) After the end of FP101x, learners making the transfer quickly identified the most industrially-relevant functional language at this moment (Scala). Over time their activities in Scala increased significantly, while their activities in Haskell (the language of FP101x) decreased. Overall though, after the initial uptake of functional programming, the fraction of functional activities (between 35%-40%) of all coding activities remained constant.

The limitations of the current study (only 33% of learners could be coupled to a GitHub account and our exploratory analysis has been conducted on the programming language type level) naturally lead to three directions for future work: (i) instead of focusing on the amount of code added per language, a more detailed analysis will determine the particular functional concepts employed and match them with the course material, (ii) programming languages are taught in a variety of MOOCs, it is an open question whether the same methodology is applicable across a variety of courses, and lastly, (iii) we will move beyond the GitHub platform and consider alternative external data sources.

Chapter 4

Second Language Acquisition Modeling

In this chapter, we focus on investigating the problem of *knowledge tracing* in the setting of topic-specific MOOC platforms. Knowledge tracing, which uses computational algorithms to model learners' mastery of knowledge being taught over time, is a well-established problem in computer-supported education. However, due to the lack of available datasets, this problem remains largely unexplored in the topic-specific MOOC platforms. With the three large-scale language learning datasets released by Duolingo [140], now we can gain a better understanding of learners in the topic-specific MOOC platforms. In particular, we investigate factors that are correlated with learners' performance and then apply a machine learning technique to predict learners' future performance. The contributions of this chapter have been published in [32].

4.1 Introduction

Knowledge tracing plays a crucial role in providing adaptive learning to learners [123]: by estimating a learner's current knowledge state and predicting her performance in future interactions, learners can receive personalized learning materials (e.g. on the topics the learner is estimated to know the least about).

Over the years, various knowledge tracing techniques have been proposed and studied, including Bayesian Knowledge Tracing [40], Performance Factor Analysis [122], Learning Factors Analysis [27] and Deep Knowledge Tracing [125]. Notable is that most of the existing works focus on learning performance within mathematics in elementary school and high school due to the availability of sufficiently large datasets in this domain, e.g. ASSISTment and OLI [125, 168, 175, 86]. The generalization to other learning scenarios and domains remains under-explored.

Particularly, there are few studies attempted to explore knowledge tracing in the setting of Second Language Acquisition (SLA) [15]. Recent studies showed that SLA is becoming increasingly important in people's daily lives and should gain more research attention to facilitate their learning process [97]. It remains an open question whether the existing knowledge tracing techniques can be directly applied to SLA modeling—the release of the Duolingo challenge datasets now enables us to investigate this very question.

Thus, our work is guided by the following research question: **RQ 3.1** What factors are correlated with learners' language learning performance?

To answer the question, we first formulate six research hypotheses which are built on previous studies in SLA. We perform extensive analyses on the three SLA Duolingo datasets [140] to determine to what extent they hold. Subsequently, we engineer a set of 23 features informed by the analyses and use them as input for a state-of-the-art machine learning model, *Gradient Tree Boosting* [172, 34], to estimate the likelihood of whether a learner will correctly solve an exercise.

We contribute the following major findings: (i) learners who are heavily engaged with the learning platform are more likely to solve words correctly; (ii) contextual factors like the device being used and learning format are correlated with learners' performance considerably; (iii) repetitive practice is a necessary step for learners towards mastery; (iv) Gradient Tree Boosting is demonstrated to be an effective method for predicting learners' future performance in SLA.

4.2 Data Analysis

Before describing the six hypotheses we ground our work in as well as their empirical validation, we first introduce the Duolingo datasets.

4.2.1 Data Description

To advance knowledge modeling in SLA, Duolingo released three datasets¹, collected from learners of English who already speak Spanish (EN-ES), learners of Spanish who already speak English (ES-EN), and learners of French who already speak English (FR-EN), respectively, over their first 30 days of language learning on the Duolingo platform [140]. The task is to predict what mistakes a learner will make in the future. Table 4.1 shows basic statistics about each dataset. Interesting are in particular the last two rows of the table which indicate the unbalanced nature of the data: across all languages correctly solving an exercise is far more likely than incorrectly solving it. Note that the datasets contain rich information not only on learners, words and exercises² but also on learners' learning process, e.g., the amount of time a learner required to solve an exercise, the device being used to access the learning platform and the countries from which a learner accessed the Duolingo platform.

	FR-EN	ES-EN	EN-ES
#Unique learners	1,213	$2,\!643$	2,593
#Unique words	$2,\!178$	2,915	$2,\!226$
#Exercises	$326,\!792$	$731,\!896$	$824,\!012$
#Words in all exercises	$926,\!657$	$1,\!973,\!558$	$2,\!622,\!958$
#Avg. words / exercise	2.84	2.7	3.18
%Correctly solved words	84%	86%	87%
%Incorrectly solved words	16%	14%	13%

 $^{^{1}} http://sharedtask.duolingo.com/\#task-definition-data$

 $^{^2\}mathrm{An}$ exercise usually contains multiple words.
In our work, we use *learning session* to denote the period from a learner's login to the platform until the time she leaves the platform. We use *learning type* to refer to the "session" information in the original released datasets, whose value can be *lesson, practice* or *test*.

4.2.2 Research Hypotheses

Grounded in prior works we explore the following hypotheses:

H1 A learner's *living community* correlates with her language acquisition performance.

Previous works, e.g., [48] demonstrated that the surrounding living community is a non-negligible factor in SLA. For instance, a learner learning English whilst living in an English-speaking country is more likely to practice more often and thus more likely to achieve a higher learning gain than a learner not living in one.

H2 The more *engaged* a learner is, the more words she can master.

Educational studies, e.g., [24], have shown that a learner's engagement can be regarded as a useful indicator to predict her learning gain, which is the number of mastered words in our case.

H3 The more time a learner spends on solving an exercise, the more likely she will get it wrong.

H4 *Contextual factors* such as the device being used (e.g. iOS or Android), learning type (lesson, practice or test) and exercise format (such as transcribing an utterance from scratch or formulating an answer by selecting from a set of candidate words) are correlated with a learner's mastery of a word.

We hypothesize that, under specific contexts, a learner can achieve a higher learning gain due to the different difficulty level of exercises. For instance, compared to transcribing an utterance from scratch, a learner is likely to solve more exercises correctly when being provided with a small set of candidate words.

H5 *Repetition* is useful and necessary for a learner to master a word [174, 62, 98].

H6 Learners with a high-spacing learning routine are more likely to learn more words than those with a low-spacing learning routine.

Here, high-spacing refers to a larger number of discrete learning sessions. Correspondingly, low-spacing refers to relatively few learning sessions, which usually last a relatively long time. In other words, learners with a low-spacing routine tend to acquire words in a "cramming" manner [111, 49, 17].

4.2.3 Performance Metrics

We now define four metrics we use to measure a learner's exercise performance.

Learner-level Accuracy (Lear-Acc) measures the overall accuracy of a learner across all completed exercises. It is calculated as the ratio between the number of words correctly solved by a learner and the total number of words she attempted.

Exercise-level Accuracy (Exer-Acc) measures to what extent a learner answers a particular exercise correctly. It is computed as the number of correctly solved words divided by the total number of words in the exercise.

Word-level Accuracy (Word-Acc) measures the percentage of times of a word being answered correctly by learners. For a word, it is calculated as the number of times learners provided correct answers divided by the total number of attempts.

Mastered Words (Mast-Word) measures how many words have been mastered by a learner. As suggested in [174], it takes about 17 exposures for a learner to learn a new word. Thus, we define a word being mastered by a learner only if (i) it has been exposed to the learner at least 17 times and (ii) the learner answered the word accurately in the remaining exposures.

4.2.4 From Hypotheses To Validation

To verify H1, we use the location (country) from where a learner accessed the Duolingo platform as an indicator of the learner' living community. We first bin learners into groups according to their locations. Next, we calculate the average learner-level accuracy and the number of mastered words of learners in each group. We report the results in Table 4.2. Here we only consider locations with more than 50 learners. If a learner accessed the platform from more than one location, the learner would be assigned to all of the identified location groups. In contrast to our hypothesis, we do not observe the anticipated relationship between living community and language learning (e.g. Spanish-speaking English-learners living in the US do not perform better than other learners).

Datasets	Locations	Lear-Acc	Mast-Word
	Avg.	83.57	3.37
	\mathbf{CA}	84.12	3.13
FR-EN	US	83.01	3.40
	GB	83.66	3.46
	AU	85.69	3.70
	Avg.	85.91	2.74
	\mathbf{CA}	84.89	3.26
ES EN	US	86.22	2.58
ES-EIN	AU	85.82	3.50
	GB	83.94 *	3.30
	NL	87.15	2.86
	Avg.	87.62	4.39
	CO	87.49	4.14
	US	87.98	5.02
	\mathbf{ES}	87.85	5.66 *
EN ES	MX	86.92 *	3.71 *
EIN-ES	CL	88.95	4.42
	DO	87.26	4.40
	AR	89.58	4.75
	VE	89.47 *	4.99
	\mathbf{PE}	88.83	4.37

Chapter 4. Second Language Acquisition Modeling

Table 4.2: Avg. learner-level accuracy (%) and the number of mastered words of learners
living in different locations (approximated by the countries from which learn-
ers have finished the exercises). Significant differences (compared to Avg.,
according to Mann-Whitney) are marked with * (p < 0.001).

	Lear-Acc			Μ	last-Word	1
	FR-EN	ES-EN	EN-ES	FR-EN	ES-EN	EN-ES
# Exercises Attempted	-0.05 *	-0.09 *	-0.08 *	0.85 *	0.87 *	0.79 *
# Words Attempted	-0.06 *	-0.08 *	-0.08 *	0.85 *	0.86 *	0.80 *
Time Spent	-0.13 *	-0.14 *	-0.22 *	0.73 *	0.79 *	0.61 *

Table 4.3: Pearson Correlation between learner engagement (measured by # attempted
exercises/words and the amount of time spent in learning) and learner-level
accuracy as well as # mastered words. Significant differences are marked with
 * (p < 0.001).

For **H2** (learner engagement), we consider three ways to measure engagement with the platform: (i) number of attempted exercises, (ii) number of

attempted words and (iii) amount of time spent learning. To quantify the relationship between learners' engagement and their learning gain, we report the Pearson correlation coefficient between the three engagement metrics and Lear-Acc as well as Mast-Word (Table 4.3). We note a consistent negative correlation between accuracy and our engagement metrics. This is not surprising, as more engagement also means more exposure to novel vocabulary items. When examining the number of mastered words, we can conclude that—as stated in **H2**—higher engagement does indeed lead to a higher learning gain. This motivates us to design engagement related features for knowledge tracing models.

	FR-EN	ES-EN	EN-ES
Correlation	-0.16 *	-0.18 *	-0.18 *

Table 4.4: Pearson Correlation between the amount of time spent in solving each exercise
and exercise-level accuracy. Significant differences are marked with * (p < 0.001).

To determine the validity of **H3**, in Table 4.4 we report the Pearson correlation coefficient between the amount of time spent in solving each exercise and the corresponding exercise-level accuracy. The moderate negative correlation values indicate that the hypothesis holds to some extent.

For H4, we investigate three types of contextual factors: (i) device used (i.e., Web, iOS, Android); (ii) learning type (i.e., Lesson, Practice, Test) and (iii) exercise format (i.e., Reverse Translate, Listen, Reverse Tap). To verify whether these contextual factors are correlated with learners' exercise performance, we partition exercises into different groups according to the contextual condition in which they were completed and calculate the average of their exercise-level accuracy within each group. Table 4.5 shows the results. Interestingly, learners with iOS devices perform better than those using Web or Android. Learners' learning accuracy is highest in the Lesson type. Learning formats are also likely to have a positive effect: Reverse Tap achieves the highest accuracy followed by Reverse Translate and then Listen. This result is not surprising as active recall of words is more difficult than recognition. Finally, we note for English learners who speak Spanish (EN-ES) and Spanish learners who speak English (ES-EN), the accuracy of *Reverse Translate* is considerably higher than *Listen*, which is not the case in FR-EN (where both are comparable). These results suggest that contextual factors should be taken into account in SLA modeling.

Chapter 4. Second Language Acquisition Modeling

	FR-EN	ES-EN	EN-ES
Avg.	84.29	86.31	87.96
Client			
Web	80.64 *	85.44 *	85.68 *
iOS	86.45 *	87.90 *	88.10 *
Android	83.92 *	84.88 *	88.92 *
Session			
Lesson	85.43 *	87.23 *	88.76 *
Practice	80.94 *	83.92 *	84.19 *
Test	82.19 *	84.34 *	84.66 *
Format			
Reverse Translate	77.92 *	85.88 *	85.42 *
Listen	78.30 *	77.01	82.78 *
Reverse Tap	92.51 *	94.84 *	95.48 *

Table 4.5: Average exercise-level accuracy (%) in different contextual conditions. Significant differences (compared to Avg., according to Mann-Whitney) are marked with *(p < 0.001).

We investigate **H5** from two angles. Firstly, we investigate whether words with very different exposure amounts will differ from each other in terms of word-level accuracy as they are practiced by learners to different degrees. For this purpose, we only retain words with more than n exposures (with n being ≥ 1 , ≥ 10 , ≥ 20 , ≥ 50 , ≥ 100) and calculate Pearson correlation coefficient between the word-level accuracy and their number of exposures (Table 4.6). As expected, the more low-exposure words we filter out, the higher the average word-level accuracy and the stronger the correlation scores (albeit at best these are moderate correlations).

Secondly, we believe that whether a learner will solve a word correctly (0 mean solving correctly and 1 incorrectly) is correlated with two factors that are related to word repetition. One factor is the number of previous attempts that a learner has for a word, and the other is the amount of time elapsed since her last attempt at the word. Therefore, we compute Pearson correlation coefficient between learners' performance on exercises and the two repetition related factors (Table 4.7). The resulting correlations are even weaker than in our preceding analysis, though they do point towards a (very) weak relationship: if a learner gets more exposed to a word or practices the

	# Words	Word-Acc	Correlation
FR-EN			
≥ 1	2,178	72.30	-0.08 *
≥ 10	1,007	75.01	0.13 *
≥ 20	756	75.78	0.15 *
≥ 50	756	76.41	0.19 *
≥ 100	580	77.47	0.25 *
ES-EN			
≥ 1	2,915	75.33	-0.10 *
≥ 10	1,798	77.10	0.12 *
≥ 20	1,511	77.29	0.19 *
≥ 50	1,163	77.92	0.25 *
≥ 100	900	78.67	0.31 *
EN-ES			
≥ 1	2,226	75.58	0.00
≥ 10	1,587	77.12	0.25 *
≥ 20	$1,\!401$	77.88	0.28 *
≥ 50	$1,\!171$	78.90	0.28 *
≥ 100	963	79.57	0.34 *

Table 4.6: Avg. word-level accuracy (%) of words with different number of exposures.

	FR-EN	ES-EN	EN-ES
# Previous attempts	-0.05 *	-0.04 *	-0.07 *
Time elapsed	0.05 *	0.06 *	0.07 *

 Table 4.7: Pearson Correlation between learner performance and the number of previous attempts and the amount of time elapsed since the last attempt for a word.

word more frequently, she is more likely to get it correct. Clearly, the results indicate that other factors at play here too.

Lastly, to study H6, we partition all learners into low-spacing and highspacing groups according to [111]. Initially, all learners are sorted in ascending order according to their total time spent in learning words. Subsequently, these learners are binned into ten equally-sized groups labeled from 0 (spending the least amount of time) to 9 (spending the most amount of time). Therefore, we can regard learners from the same group as learning roughly the same amount of time. Next, within each group, the learners



Figure 4.1: The average learner-level accuracy, i.e., Lear-Acc (Top), and the average number of mastered words, i.e., Mast-Word (Bottom), of learners in high-spacing and low-spacing groups.

are sorted based on their number of distinct learning sessions³, and we further divide them into two equally-sized subgroups: learners with few sessions (low-spacing) and learners with many sessions (high-spacing). In this way, learners spending similar total amounts of time can be compared with each other. We plot the average learner-level accuracy as well as the number of mastered words within each low-spacing and high-spacing subgroup in Figure 4.1. We do not observe consistent differences between low-spacing and high-spacing groups. Therefore, we conclude **H6** to not hold.

4.3 Knowledge Tracing Model

We now describe the machine learning model we adopt for knowledge tracing and then introduce our features.

4.3.1 Gradient Tree Boosting

Various approaches have been proposed for modeling learner learning. Two representatives are Bayesian Knowledge tracing [40] and Performance Factor Analysis [122], both of which have been studied for years. Inspired by the recent wave of deep learning research in different domains, deep neural nets were also recently applied to track the knowledge state of learners [125, 168, 175]. In principal, all of these methods can be adapted to predict learners' performance in SLA. As our major goal is to investigate the usefulness of the designed features, we selected a robust model that is able to take various types of features as input and works well with skewed data. Gradient Tree Boosting (GTB) is a machine learning technique which can be used for both regression and classification problems [172]. It is currently one of the most robust machine learning approaches that is employed for a wide range of problems [34]. It can deal with various types of feature data and has reliable predictive power when dealing with unbalanced data (as in our case). We selected it over a deep learning approach as we aim to built an interpretable model.

4.3.2 Feature Engineering

Based on the results in Section 4.2, we designed 23 features. The features are categorized into two groups: features directly available in the datasets (7

 $^{^{3}}$ Here we consider all learning activities occurring within 60 minutes as belonging to the same learning session.

given features) and features derived from the datasets (16 derived features). Note that the features differ in their granularity—they are computed per learner, or per word, per exercise or a combination of them, as summarized in Table 4.8.

Features	Gra	nularity	Level
reatures	User	Word	Exercise
Learner ID	\checkmark		
Word			
Countries			
Format			
Туре			
Device			
Time spent (exercise)			
# Exercises attempted			
# Words attempted			
# Unique words attempted			
# sessions			
Time spent (learning)			
# Previous attempts			
# Correct times			
# Incorrect times			
Time elapsed			
Word-Acc			
Std. timestamps (exercise)			
Std. timestamps (word)			
Std. timestamps (session)		·	
Std. timestamps (word-session)			
Std. timestamps (word-correct)			
Std. timestamps (word-incorrect)			

Table 4.8: Granularity levels on which each feature is retrieved or computed. Featuresmarked with b are used as input in the baseline provided by the benchmarkorganizers.

Given features:

- Learner ID^b: the 8-digit, anonymized, unique string for each learner;
- *Word*^b: the word to be learnt by a learner;

- *Countries*: a vector of dimension N (N denotes the total number of countries) with binary values indicating whether a learner complete an exercise in one or multiple countries;
- *Format*^b: the exercise format in which a learner completed an exercise, i.e., Reverse Translate, Reverse Tap and Listen;
- *Type*: the learning type in which a learner completed an exercise, i.e., Lesson, Practice and Test;
- *Device*: the device platform which is used by a learner to complete an exercise, i.e., iOS, Web and Android;
- *Time spent (exercise)*: the amount of time a learner spent in solving an exercise, measured in seconds;

Derived features:

- # *Exercises attempted*: the number of exercises that a learner has attempted in the past;
- # Words attempted: the number of words that a learner has attempted in the past;
- # Unique Words attempted: the number of unique words a learner has attempted in the past;
- # Sessions: the number of learning sessions a learner completed;
- *Time spent (learning)*: the total amount of time a learner spent learning, measured in minutes;
- # *Previous attempts*: a learner's number of previous attempts at a specific word;
- # Correct times: the number of times that a learner correctly solved a word;
- # *Incorrect times*: the number of times that a learner incorrectly solved a word;
- *Time elapsed*: the amount of time that elapsed since the last exposure of a word to a learner;
- *Word-Acc*: the word-level accuracy that a learner gained for a word in the training dataset;

- *Std. timestamps (exercise)*: the standard deviation of the timestamps that a learner solved exercises;
- *Std. timestamps (word)*: the standard deviation of the timestamps that a learner solved a word;
- *Std. timestamps (session)*: the standard deviation of timestamps that a learner logged in to start a learning session;
- *Std. timestamps (word-session)*: the standard deviation of session starting timestamps that a learner solved a word;
- *Std. timestamps (word-correct)*: the standard deviation of timestamps that a learner answered a word correctly;
- *Std. timestamps (word-incorrect)*: the standard deviation of timestamps that a learner answered a word incorrectly.

Finally, we note that none of the features in our feature set make use of external data sources. We leave the inclusion of additional data sources to future work.

4.4 Experiments

In this section, we first describe our experimental setup and then present the results.

4.4.1 Experimental Setup

Each of the three Duolingo datasets consists of three parts: TRAIN and DEV sets for offline experimentations and one TEST set for the final evaluation. We use the TRAIN and DEV sets to explore features that are useful in predicting a learner's exercise performance and then combine TRAIN and DEV sets to train the GTB model; we report the model's performance on the TEST set.

We trained the GTB model using XGBoost, a scalable machine learning system for tree boosting [34]. All model parameters⁴ were optimized through grid search and are reported in Table 4.9.

 $^{^4 \}rm For~a$ detailed explanation of the parameters, please refer to https://github.com/dmlc/xgboost/blob/v0.71/doc/parameter.md.

We also report the official baseline provided by the benchmark organizers as comparison. The baseline is a logistic regression model which takes six features as input, which include learner ID, word, format and three morphosyntactic features of the word (e.g., Part of Speech). As suggested by the benchmark organizers, we use the AUC and F1 scores as our evaluation metrics.

	FR-EN	ES-EN	EN-ES
learning_rate	0.4	0.5	0.6
n_estimatorss	800	1100	1550
\max_depth	6	6	5
min_child_weight	7	8	13
gamma	0.0	0.0	0.1
subsample	1.0	1.0	1.0
colsample_bytree	0.7	0.7	0.85
reg_alpha	4	6	5

 Table 4.9: Model parameters of the GTB model; determined by using grid search per dataset.

4.4.2 Results

In order to investigate the features described in Section 4.3.2, we report in Table 4.10 different versions of GTB training, starting with three features (Learner ID, Word, Format) and adding additional features one at a time. We incrementally added features according to the order presented in Section 4.3.2 and only kept features that boost the prediction performance (i.e. the AUC score improves on the DEV set). Among all 23 evaluated features, seven are thus useful for SLA modeling. Here, we only report the results in the ES-EN dataset; we make similar observations in the other two datasets. In contrast to our expectations, a large number of the designed features did not boost the prediction accuracy. This implies that further analyses of the data and further feature engineering efforts are necessary. The extraction of features from external data sources (which may provide insights in the difficulty of words, the relationship between language families and so on) is also left for future work.

In our final prediction for the TEST set, we combine the TRAIN and DEV data to train the GTB model with the nine features listed in Table 4.10 and learner ID as well as the word as input. The results are shown in Table 4.11.

	TRAIN	DEV
Learner ID & Word & Format	0.8095	0.7758
Mode	0.8111	0.7780
Client	0.8137	0.7790
Time spent (exercise)	0.8270	0.7828
# Previous attempts	0.8323	0.7835
# Wrong times	0.8348	0.7871
Std. time (word-session)	0.8348	0.7871

Table 4.10:
 Experimental results reported in AUC on ES-EN. Each row indicates a feature added to the GBT feature space; the model of row 1 has three features.

Compared to the logistic regression baseline, GTB is more effective with a 6% improvement in AUC and 83% improvement in F1 on average.

	Methods	AUC	F1
FR-EN	Baseline GTB	0.7707 0.8153 *	$0.2814 \\ 0.4145 *$
ES-EN	Baseline GTB	0.7456 0.8013 *	$0.1753 \\ 0.3436 *$
EN-ES	Baseline GTB	0.7737 0.8210 *	0.1899 0.3889 *

Table 4.11: Final prediction results on the TEST data. Significant differences (compared to Baseline, according to paired t-test) are marked with * (p < 0.001).

4.5 Conclusion

Knowledge tracing is a vital element in personalized and adaptive educational systems. In order to investigate the peculiarities of SLA and explore the applicability of existing knowledge tracing techniques for SLA modeling, we conducted extensive data analyses on three newly released Duolingo datasets. We identified a number of factors relating to learners' learning performance in SLA. We extracted a set of 23 features from learner trace data and used them as input for the GTB model to predict learners' knowledge state. Our experimental results showed that (i) a learner's engagement plays an important role in achieving good exercise performance; (ii) contextual factors like the device being used and learning format should be taken into account for SLA modeling; (iii) repetitive practice of words and exercises are related to learners' performance considerably; (iv) GTB can effectively use some of the designed features for SLA modeling and there is a need for further investigation on feature engineering. Apart from the future work already outlined in previous sections, we also plan to investigate deep knowledge tracing approaches and the inclusion of some of our rich features into deep models, inspired by [175]. Also, instead of developing a one-size-fitsall prediction model, it will be interesting to explore subsets of learners that behave similarly and develop customized models for different learner groups.

_____ |

Chapter 5

Enabling MOOC Learners to Solve Real-world Paid Tasks

In this chapter, we focus on investigating whether learners can apply the knowledge acquired from a MOOC to solve real-world tasks, e.g., freelancing tasks collected from online marketplaces like Upwork or witmart¹, which can be solved with the knowledge taught in the MOOC. If learners are capable of solving such tasks, it becomes possible that learners can learn with a MOOC and apply the newly acquired knowledge to earn money at the same time. Ultimately, we envision a recommender system that automatically retrieves paid tasks relevant to a MOOC from online marketplaces and presents these tasks to learners to solve, as a possible means to help learners, who do not have a large amount of time for learning because of the need to work and earn a living, to benefit from MOOCs. To investigate the potential of the proposed vision, we consider the specific case of Data Analysis: Take It to the MAX() (a MOOC teaching data analysis in edX). We manually select a set of relevant tasks from Upwork and offer them to learners in the MOOC as bonus exercises to solve. Based on our experimental design, we also investigate the impact of real-world tasks on the MOOC learners. The contributions of this chapter have been published in [28].

¹http://www.witmart.com

5.1 Introduction

In 2011, the first MOOCs started out with the promise of educating the world. To this day, this promise remains largely unfulfilled, as MOOCs struggle with student engagement and retention rates — on average, only 6.5% of MOOC learners complete a course and those who do often already have a higher degree [82]. At the same time though, the potential reach of MOOCs was visible from the very beginning: learners from 162 different countries engaged with the very first MOOC (*Circuits and Electronics*) offered on the edX platform [21].

Among the many reasons for learners' disengagement from a course are also financial ones: learning is superseded by the need to work and earn a living. Our ultimate vision is to *pay* learners to take a MOOC, thus enabling learners from all financial backgrounds to educate themselves. But how can we achieve this *at scale*? We believe that online work platforms such as Upwork and witmart can be an important part of the solution; if we were able to automatically recommend paid online work tasks to MOOC learners which are related and relevant to the MOOC content, the financial incentive would enable more learners to remain engaged in the MOOC and continue learning.

Figure 5.1 shows a high-level overview of our vision: online work task platforms are continuously monitored for newly published work tasks; a recommender system maintains an up-to-date course model of every ongoing MOOC and determines how suitable each work task is for every ongoing course and course week. At any given moment, the suitable open work tasks are shown alongside the course material on the MOOC platform, together with the possible financial gain and their level of difficulty.

While we do not claim this vision as *the* solution for MOOCs to singlehandedly "lift ... people out of poverty," [57], we strongly believe this to be a step in the right direction and something to build upon.

To lay the groundwork, we investigate the *feasibility* of letting MOOC students solve real world tasks from an online work market place. In a pilot study presented here, we manually selected a number of paid tasks from Upwork and offered them to learners of the EX101x MOOC (*Data Analysis: Take It to the MAX()*, offered on edX) as bonus exercises. We illustrate that it is indeed feasible to expect students to be able to earn money while taking a MOOC.



Figure 5.1: Paying MOOC learners — a vision.

Based on these encouraging initial results we then expand our investigation and analyse the realm of online work platforms and their suitability for our vision along a number of dimensions including payments, topical coverage and task time.

Lastly, it is worth nothing that our experimental setup not only allows us to investigate **learning enabling** methods (i.e. paying learners), but also **learner motivations**: we expect that real-world tasks (as shown in the bonus exercises) engage learners more than artificially created course tasks.

The work we present in this chapter is guided by the following four **R**esearch **Q**uestions:

RQ 4.1 Are MOOC learners able to solve real-world (paid) tasks from an online work platform with sufficient accuracy and quality?

RQ 4.2 How applicable is the knowledge gained from MOOCs to paid tasks offered by online work platforms?

RQ 4.3 To what extent can an online work platform support MOOC learners (i.e., are there enough tasks available for everyone)?

RQ 4.4 What role do real-world (paid) tasks play in the engagement of MOOC learners?

77

By answering these questions, we expect to provide solid evidence to the feasibility of the proposed design, i.e., automatically retrieving relevant tasks from online marketplaces and recommend them to learners, we expect to financially enhance MOOC learners and help them achieve professional development in the long run.

5.2 Background

This study represents a movement towards MOOCs truly living up to their name with respect to their openness. The current demographic of MOOC participants is predominantly educated males from developed countries [36, 44, 74, 132, 90]. Simply putting the content out there on the Web may not be enough to justify calling it "open". Although it is available, it is not readily accessible to everyone. Based on both survey and student activity data, Kizilcec and Halawa found that "the primary obstacle for most [MOOC] learners was finding time for the course" [90]. By conducting post-course surveys, [90] found that 66% of students struggled to keep up with course deadlines and 46% reported that the course required too much time.

Self-regulated learning

Providing income to students in exchange for real-world tasks can serve as a support mechanism in encouraging students to better self-regulate their study and engagement habits. The study of Self-Regulated Learning (SRL) has a rich history in the traditional classroom setting [126, 179], but now the new challenge arises of how to support and enable non-traditional and disadvantaged students to practice effective SRL habits in online/distance learning endeavors. SRL is defined as a student's proactive engagement with his or her learning process by which various personal organization and management strategies are used in order to control and monitor one's cognitive and behavioral process towards a learning outcome [157, 178]. Many SRL tactics hinge on effective time management skills [22, 117]. Although, with proper coaching, many students can be taught to find and make time for studies [105, 117], this is simply not plausible for others who do not have enough time in a day to introduce a new challenge-no matter how well they manage their time. These learners are the primary target of our vision. By introducing these opportunities to earn money while completing a course, we hope that they can essentially "buy time."

For the group of students who complete the paid tasks in order to make "extra" money, the compensation can be viewed as a reward mechanism and an incentive to prioritize the MOOC over other less important tasks [54, 90]. For the other group, the money earned from the extra tasks is a required means for them to commit time. Whereas reward-seeking students would no longer have a reason to complete the extra tasks if the monetary prize was removed, the other group of students would no longer have the time or the ability.

Using rewards to motivate learning

One of the leading critiques of reward programs in traditional education settings is that their prize pool is finite, and once that is exhausted, student motivation will dwindle [165]. In our setup, however, this is not an issue, as online work platforms are consistently replenished with new tasks to recommend to our MOOC learners. This model thus shows the potential for sustainability at scale.

The existing literature on paying or rewarding students with material goods is concerned with young students in traditional classroom settings [46, 58, 67, 165], however the people who stand to benefit the most from the inclusion of freelance projects and tasks into the MOOC environment are predominantly non-traditional students.

[58] approaches the dilemma of incentivising student performance with money through an economic lens. In order to test how financial incentives impact student performance in historically-disadvantaged and under-performing school districts in the United States, this study compared the effectiveness of input-driven versus output-driven reward systems. It was found that incentives based on student input, such as completing assignments or reading books, are more effective than those based on output, such as test scores and grades [6, 46, 58]. In line with the concept of instructional scaffolding, this finding suggests that incentivising and rewarding intermediate tasks along the path to a larger learning goal or objective is more effective than rewarding only the goal itself. Likewise, one of these intermediate tasks especially challenging to open learning is that of allocating and committing time, and we hope the potential to get paid for this time will support learners in doing so.

Incentives for underprivileged learners

We also see the introduction of opportunities for learners to contribute to online work market places while taking a MOOC as a potential manner by which we can mitigate belonging uncertainty for under-privileged learners [87, 160]. This is characterized by stigmatized or minority group members feeling uncertain and discouraged by their social bonds in a given environment [160]. If a student sees his or her participation in the course with an immediately clear and relevant purpose—learning the necessary skills to complete this realworld task—then it should thus mitigate any uncertainty or doubt about the students belonging. Walton and Cohen found that interventions designed to reduce/remove feelings of belonging uncertainty can have great effects on students' subjective experiences in academic settings which can therefore boost academic performance. Learners of low socio-economic status are not the only ones who stand to benefit from this. Other major demographics, such as women (particularly in STEM courses), are currently outnumbered, and often outperformed [74], by their male student counterparts [44, 132, 90].

Using extra credit to motivate learning

Many studies have examined the effect that offering extra credit assignments to students can have on overall class performance. [25] found that extra credit assignments can be used to motivate students to read journal articles; [20] found extra credit, in the form of an in-class token economy, to increase course participation; [164] saw increases in course attendance stemming form the offering of extra credit assignments; and [116] found that extra credit assignments can facilitate mastery of course material and strongly predict final exam performance.

Similarly, in a study that specifically targeted students on the verge of failing a college course, researchers found that an intervention in the form of a skills-based extra credit assignment increased these students' final exam grades, increased and diversified their engagement, and decreased their dropout/incompletion rate [84].

In December 2015, edX, one of the most popular MOOC platforms announced a new policy which rescinds the free honor code course completion certificates previously made available to any student who earned a passing grade in the course. Instead, according to the announcement on the edX blog [4], "all of edX's high-quality educational content, assessments and forums will continue to be offered for free, but those learners who want to earn a certificate upon successful completion of the course will pay a modest fee for a verified certificate." While both edX and its partner institutions will offer various levels of financial aid to students who apply, the design introduced in this work has the potential to reduce the burden of supporting students. Simply by completing one task from an online marketplace (of high enough value), a student can offset the cost of the verified course certificate.

To the best of our knowledge, this effort to pay students in an open learning environment in order to encourage and enable student engagement is the first of its kind. Research findings in this area promise to help narrow the established achievement gap we currently observe among MOOC learners.

5.3 EX101x

To investigate our research questions, we inserted bonus exercises, drawn from paid tasks posted on Upwork, into the MOOC Data Analysis: Take It to the MAX(), or in short: EX101x. EX101x is a MOOC offered on the edX platform; its first edition (the one we deployed this study in) ran between March 31, 2015 and June 18, 2015. The core objective of EX101x is to learn to conduct data analysis using spreadsheets. Throughout the first six course weeks, the following set of skills are taught (using Excel as specific spreadsheet instance): string manipulation and conditional statements (Week 1), lookup and search functions (Week 2), pivot tables (Week 3), named ranges (Week 4), array formulas (Week 5) and testing in spreadsheets (Week 6). Week 7 is dedicated to the programming language Python and its use within spreadsheets, while the final week (Week 8) introduces the graph database Neo4j.

As is common in MOOCs today, learners were invited to participate in a pre-course and a post-course survey containing questions on the motivation of the learners, the perceived quality of the course, etc. In September 2015 we approached a selected subset of all learners for an additional post-course survey.

The course was set up as an xMOOC [134]: lecture videos were distributed throughout the 8 teaching weeks. Apart from lectures, each week exercises were distributed in the form of multiple choice and numerical input questions. Each of the 136 questions was worth 1 point and could be attempted twice. Answers were due 3 weeks after the release of the respective assignment. To pass the course, $\geq 60\%$ of the questions had to be answered correctly. Each week, alongside the usual assignments, we posted one additional bonus exercise.

Overall, 33,515 users registered for the course. Less than half of all learners (45%) engaged with the course, watching at least one lecture video. The completion rate was 6.53% in line with similar MOOC offerings [95]. Over 65% of the learners were male and more than 76% had at least a Bachelor degree.

5.4 Approach

The design of our experiments was guided by our research questions. As we aim to determine whether learners can solve real-world tasks that are related to the course material with high accuracy and high quality (\mathbf{RQ} 4.1), for the six weeks of EX101x that cover data analysis topics in spreadsheets, we manually selected appropriate paid tasks from the Upwork platform — one task per course week. No bonus exercises were posted in weeks 6 and 8 due to the topics covered that week: testing in spreadsheets and the graph database Neo4J. We chose Upwork (which at that time was still called oDesk) as it is one of the largest online work platforms in the English speaking world (cf. Table 5.4); for each course week, we chose an Upwork task that was strongly related to that week's course content by extensively scanning the currently active Upwork tasks worth up to \$50. We chose this price limit to provide tasks that can be solved in a reasonable amount of time. We kept the task description intact, and added a short introduction to provide the necessary context to our learners (i.e. a clear disclaimer that this is a real-world task). A concrete example of a bonus exercise derived in this manner is shown in Figure 5.2; it was posted in week 4 of EX101x.

To answer **RQ 4.2** and **RQ 4.3**, we explored the suitability of Upwork as a source of paid tasks along several dimensions including the covered topics, the task longevity, and the financial gain. In order to investigate **RQ 4.1** and **RQ 4.4** we require exact definitions of a number of metrics (i.e. accuracy, coverage, quality and engagement). In the following section, we describe them in detail.

5.4.1 Measurements

Accuracy. For each bonus exercise, we developed a gold standard solution in collaboration with the course instructor and verified whether the submitted learner solutions matched the gold standard solution, thus measuring their *accuracy*. We considered a submitted spreadsheet a match to our gold standard if it contained the required solution columns with the correct cell content; additional columns were ignored; slight deviations from the gold standard (e.g. an empty string or "N/A" instead of an empty cell in the gold standard) were allowed. We iteratively refined our automated grading script by randomly sampling 20 submission in each iteration (and manually verifying the correctness of the grading script) until all samples were classified correctly. Have you ever sold anything on Amazon.com? For this real-world task (again derived from an actual oDesk task), we put you in the shoes of an Amazon seller who is selling accessories for pets. The seller himself buys these accessories from a supplier. The seller currently has a five star feedback rating on Amazon. To keep it this way, only items that the seller can immediately ship should appear in the seller's Amazon storefront (i.e., those items that the supplier has in stock).

The seller has this Excel sheet which stores the ID of all products to be posted on his Amazon.com storefront and the number of units available, as illustrated in the example below.

ID	Stock	
08357EDA-DF5C-392E-F7CC-A27E3AB768DF	?	
08357EDA-DF5C-392E-F7CC-DD445453DDEF	?	
File 1: Excel sheet of the seller		

It is your job to update the **Stock** column based on the information the seller receives from the supplier.

Every day, the seller receives an Excel sheet from his supplier, which contains the supplier's inventory. An example is provided below. Note that the supplier's column **Product** corresponds to the seller's column **ID**.

Product	Inventory	
08357EDA-DF5C-392E-F7CC-A27E3AB768DF	7	
08357EDA-DF5C-392E-F7CC-DD445453DDEF	188	
File 2: Excel sheet of the supplier		

To keep his customers satisfied, the seller uses the following two rules to set the Stock column:

- If the supplier's inventory of a product is less than 30, Stock should be set to 0;
- If the supplier's inventory of a product is more than or equal to 30, Stock should be set to 20.

Applying these two rules to our example files above, yields the following result:

ID	Stock			
08357EDA-DF5C-392E-F7CC-A27E3AB768D	F O			
08357EDA-DF5C-392E-F7CC-DD445453DDE	F 20			
File 3: Result sheet of the seller				
Please send your solutions to				

Figure 5.2: Bonus exercise posted in week 4 of *EX101x*. The original task was posted with a price of \$35 to Upwork (note that at the time of posting this exercise, Upwork was still called oDesk).

Coverage. Besides accuracy, we also measured the coverage of learner solutions. We operationalize *coverage* as the percentage of cells that the learner

solution *shares* with the gold standard. As for *accuracy*, we ignored additional columns and allowed minor deviations in the cells such as additional white spaces or minimal numeric differences to account for floating point inaccuracy on different computers. Coverage can be seen as an indicator of how close the solution is to the gold standard solution.

Quality. To investigate the *quality* of the submissions, we turned to the concept of *code smells* [155], an established measure of quality in the field of Software Engineering: code smells are specific to particular programming languages; spreadsheets code smells include standard errors (e.g., #N/A!, #NAME?), high conditional complexity (e.g., involving too many nested IF operations), hidden rows/columns/worksheets, etc. We adopted the code smells for spreadsheets proposed in [71] and rank the solutions by the number of smells they exhibit - the fewer smells a solution has, the higher its quality.

Engagement. Finally, based on our experimental setup, we are also able to investigate the effect of real-world tasks on student engagement (**RQ 4.4**). We hypothesize that learners who *view* the bonus exercises and realize that those are real-world tasks that could earn them money, will become more engaged with the course material than learners who did not *view* the bonus material. To this end, we only consider the subset of active learners $L_{noBonus}$ that did *not* submit any solutions to the bonus exercises.

We group learners together that are similarly engaged in the course up to the point of either viewing a bonus exercise or not. If our hypothesis holds, then after that point in time, those learners that viewed the bonus exercise should, on average, exhibit higher engagement than those that did not.

We operationalize this experiment as follows: we measure a learner's engagement through his or her amount of video watching. In week 1, we partition the learners in $L_{noBonus}$ in two groups: we sort the learners in video watching time order and then split them in two equally sized groups - the lower half is the *low* engagement, and the upper half is the *high* engagement group. We then compute for each learner the amount of video watching in all following weeks and determine for the low and high engagement groups separately whether there is a statistically significant difference between those learners that did view and those that did not view the bonus exercise. In week 2, we repeat this analysis by taking as starting point only the subset of learners in $L_{noBonus}$ that viewed the bonus exercise in 1. We repeat those steps until week 7 (in each week resorting the remaining learners into the low and high engagement groups). While we expect significant differences based on bonus exercise viewing in the early weeks of the course, we should

not observe significant differences towards the end of the course — in week n we only include learners that up to that point in time have viewed all n-1 bonus exercises. At some point, bonus exercises should not provide additional engagement anymore.

5.5 Results

Before we discuss our results for each of the four research questions in turn, we provide a first global view of our learner population in EX101x.

	All Engaged Learners	BE Learners	Non-BE Learners
#Learners	$15,\!074$	2,020	$13,\!054$
Completion rate	14.02%	44.11%	9.36%
Avg. time watching video material (in min.) ‡	58.78	133.48	47.21
%Learners who tried at least one question	59.89%	98.56%	53.91%
Avg. #questions learners attempted to solve ‡	24.06	67.41	17.36
Avg. #questions answered correctly ‡	19.56	55.60	13.98
Avg. accuracy of learners' answers ‡	53.40%	90.09%	47.73%
#Forum posts	10,106	4,341	5,765
%Learners who posted at least once	16.20%	43.61%	11.96%
Avg. #posts per learner ‡	0.67	2.15	0.44

Table 5.1: Basic characteristics across all learners and their partitioning into those who attempted to solve at least one Bonus Exercise (BE) and those who did not (Non-BE). Where suitable, significance tests between the BE/Non-BE groups were performed according to Mann-Whitney. All performed tests exhibited significant differences - indicated with \ddagger (significant difference with p < 0.001).

We classified our set of *engaged* learners, i.e., those who watched at least one video² (a definition also employed for instance in [65]), according to two

²We note, that we also evaluated two alternative definitions of engagement: (1) learners that watched at least 15 minutes of video material (i.e. at least two videos), and (2) learners that submitted at least five quiz questions. While the absolute values reported in Tables 1

dimensions: (i) whether learners attempted to solve at least one bonus exercise (**BE**) or not (**Non-BE**) and (ii) the number of bonus exercises learners attempted to solve. In the latter case, we consider only the **BE** learners. We mark learners as dedicated bonus exercise solvers (**DBE**) if they attempted to solve more than two bonus exercises, the remaining learners are non-dedicated (**Non-DBE**). The basic statistics of both learner cohorts are presented in Tables 5.1 and 5.2. It is evident that learners who solved at least one bonus exercise are more engaged than learners who did not - across all important characteristics (average time spent watching videos, average number of questions answered, accuracy of answers) the BE learners perform significantly better than the Non-BE learners. Among the cohort of BE learners, this trend continues with the dedicated learner group being significantly more engaged and successful than the non-dedicated learner group.

We note that these results are not surprising — they are dictated by common sense and our manner of classifying learners. Importantly, we do not claim a causal relationship between bonus exercise presence and learner engagement based on *these* results (in Section 5.5.3 we explore the relationship between engagement and bonus exercises in greater detail).

As our goal is to improve the ability of learners from the developing world to engage and successfully complete the course, we also investigate to what extent they are already capable of doing so now. For each country, we computed the percentage of learners that completed the course (based on all registered learners). Shown in Figure 5.3 is the completion rate of EX101xacross countries, split into developed countries according to the OECD (in blue) and developing countries (in red). We observe, that in general, the completion rate of learners from developed countries is higher than those of developing countries (with the exception of Russia and Malaysia). This confirms one of our assumptions that learners from developing countries are facing issues that learners in developed countries do not face. This result is in line with previous findings in [36].

5.5.1 RQ 4.1: Can learners solve real-world tasks well?

Across all weeks, we received a total of 3,812 bonus exercise solutions from 2,418 learners. Since the edX platform has very limited solution uploading capabilities, we asked learners to email us their solutions and then matched the email addresses of the learners to their edX accounts. 352 of the learners

[&]amp;~2 change depending on the definition employed, we did observe the same trends and the same significant differences for all three engagement definitions and thus only report one.

5.5. Results

	DBE Learners	Non-DBE Learners
#Enrolled learners	314	1,706
Completion rate	86.31%	36.34%
Avg. time watching video material (in min.) ‡	189.45	123.18
%Learners who tried at least one question	100.00%	98.30%
Avg. #questions learners attempted to solve ‡	110.52	59.47
Avg. #questions answered correctly ‡	93.99	48.53
Avg. accuracy of learners' answers ‡	94.83%	89.22%
#Forum posts	1,626	2,715
%Learners who posted		
at least once	59.87%	40.62%
Avg. $\#$ posts per learners \ddagger	5.18	1.59

Table 5.2: Basic characteristics of BE learners partitioned into dedicated BE learners
(DBE) solving 3+ bonus exercises and non-dedicated BE learners. Where
suitable, significance tests between the DBE/Non-DBE groups were performed
according to Mann-Whitney. All performed tests exhibited significant differ-
ences - indicated with \ddagger (significant difference with p < 0.001).

could not be matched to an edX account (i.e. these learners used a different email when signing up for edX) and had to be excluded from the subsequent analyses of edX log traces (they are included though in all results analyzing the accuracy/quality of the solutions).

Table 5.3 lists the main results of our accuracy and quality analyses. Between 1% (in week 7) and 15% (in week 1) of active learners participated in the bonus tasks each week. The percentage of *accurate* solutions varies widely between tasks and is not correlated with the amount of pay for a task. In fact, the two tasks with the lowest pay (\$20 in weeks 3 & 5) resulted in the lowest percentage of accurate solutions (11% and 17% respectively). The low accuracy for the seemingly simple (as cheaply priced task) is intriguing. We sampled 50 of the incorrect solutions and found most of them to miss a required final step in the task. Both tasks require students to carefully read and understand the assignment to be successful. In week 3, learners needed to implement an equation containing an *absolute* value. As the equation





Figure 5.3: Developed countries according to the OECD are shown in blue, developing countries are shown in red. The color shade indicates the overall completion rate of learners from that country. A darker shade indicates a higher completion rate.

text is fairly long, students tended to miss this vital piece of information; 78% of all wrong answers that week show this misconception. In week 5, the solutions had a similar issue, often missing a final re-ranking step of the result columns as required in the task description.

An alternative view of submission accuracy is presented through the average *coverage* of all submissions, that is the fraction of gold standard result cells, that were also present in the submissions. Coverage is 1.0 for the correct submissions, but usually lower for incorrect ones (note that it is possible for an incorrect solution to reach a coverage of 1.0 if it contains all gold standard result cells as well as additional result cells - this happens rarely though). In Table 5.3 we observe that the coverage across all submitted solutions is rather high (with the exception of week 3), thus even solutions that are not correct are at least sensible.

Having considered accuracy and coverage, we now turn to the *quality* of the solutions. Among the correct solutions, a large fraction (between 38% and 96%) are of high quality, that is they exhibit zero code smells as shown in Table 5.3. Again, we do not observe a correlation between the price of a task and the quality of the solutions. The quality of the accurate and inaccurate solutions (as measured in code smells) is comparable. Across all weeks and submitted solutions, the median number of code smells is less than 10, indicating that most learners were able to code high-quality solutions.

The vast majority of solutions across all weeks have less than 50 reported code smells.

Overall, we can positively answer **RQ 4.1**: it is indeed possible for MOOC learners to provide correct and high-quality solutions to selected real-world tasks from an online work platform.

Week	# Active learners	# Bonus (% from active)	Task payment	# Accurate (% of active)	# High quality (% of accurate)	Coverage (SD)
1	13,719	2,145~(15.64%)	\$ 25	1,731 (80.70%)	$1,230\ (71.06\%)$	0.88(0.32)
2	8,228	594 (7.22%)	\$ 50	227 (38.22%)	87 (38.33%)	0.91(0.27)
3	5,825	390 (6.70%)	\$ 20	44 (11.28%)	28~(63.64%)	0.54(0.32)
4	4,270	414 (9.70%)	\$ 35	354 (85.51%)	296 (83.62%)	0.95(0.22)
5	3,709	231 (6.23%)	\$ 20	39~(16.88%)	16~(41.03%)	0.69(0.24)
7	3,059	38 (1.24%)	\$ 35	26~(68.42%)	25~(96.15%)	$0.73 \ (0.68)$

Table 5.3: Learners' performance on real-world tasks. The second column shows the number of active learners. The third column shows the number of students taking the bonus exercise. The fourth column shows the task payment offered at UpWork. Accurate submissions are those matching our gold standard (with the additional requirement of the correct order for tasks 3 and 5). High-quality submissions are those correct submissions without code smells. The coverage column reports the average (and standard deviation) fraction of cells covered by all of a week's submissions.

5.5.2 RQ 4.2 & RQ 4.3: An exploratory analysis of UpWork

We first note that Upwork is only one of multiple large online work platforms in the English speaking world as shown in Table 5.4. Together those companies facilitated more than 2.5 billion dollars in worker payments. Important for us, some of these platforms (including Upwork) provide API access to their content, thus enabling a recommender system as we envision.

For our analysis, we took a snapshot of all available tasks on Upwork on September 15, 2015 leading to a total of 56,308 open tasks. Each task is assigned to one or more topical categories, e.g. *Translation* or *IT & Networking*. Additionally, tasks can be tagged with particular required skills such as *excel* or *python*. Tasks either pay per hour or have a fixed budget. We focus on the latter, as the budget is a direct indicator for the amount of work required. A task pays on average \$726 (SD: \$3,417) and stays 27 days on the platform (SD: 34 days) before being solved or canceled. Among all tasks, we found 574 spreadsheet tasks (potentially relevant for *EX101x*) in the budget range from \$1 - \$50. A task in this (*budget*) subset stayed 25 days on the platform on average (SD: 40 days). To estimate the proportion of tasks that may be suitable recommendations for EX101x learners, we analysed a random sample of 80 tasks of the *budget* set. An expert classified these tasks into three categories:

- 1. *lecturable* are tasks that would make them suitable as course material for a specific lecture (e.g. a task that requires knowledge of a spread-sheet's VLookUp function);
- 2. relevant are tasks that fit the topic yet do not fit into a specific lecture (e.g. a task that requires the use of spreadsheets but otherwise does not rely on knowledge taught in the course);
- 3. *unrelated* are all other tasks that do not fit in the courseware in general.

Among the 80 tasks we found 34 unrelated tasks, 39 relevant tasks and 7 lecturable tasks. Based on these numbers and the average time a task stays online we can estimate how many tasks are added every day to Upwork that fit our criteria (i.e. have a price between \$1 and \$50 and require spreadsheet knowledge): 10 unrelated tasks, 11 relevant tasks, and 2 lecturable tasks. These numbers indicate that there are not yet enough budget tasks available to provide individual MOOC learners with weekly opportunities to earn money whilst learning — at least for the EX101x MOOC.

Company	Paid worker fees	API
Upwork	$1,000 {\rm M}$	yes
witmart	$1,000 {\rm M}$	no
freelance	\$462 M	no
Guru	\$200 M	yes
Envato	\$200 M	yes
Topcoder	\$72 M	yes

Table 5.4: Paid total worker fees by company in Million US Dollar. These numbers areself reported by the companies and are not given for a specific year.

One limiting factor in our design is the budget limit we set ourselves (\$50). The majority of tasks have a higher budget as shown in Figure 5.4 and future experiments will investigate the question up to which budget level learners are able to solve tasks in a reasonable amount of time, with high accuracy and high quality.

Tasks that have a higher budget (on the topic of spreadsheets) are usually more intricate and instead of solving one specific problem in a spreadsheet



Figure 5.4: From the 56,308 Upwork tasks available on 15/09/2015 a total of 8,153 have a fixed budget (the remaining tasks are paid by the hour). Budgeted tasks are binned according to the budget they have.

(as less pricey tasks, cf. Figure 5.2) they often require the development of a complete solution as exemplified in the three task examples priced between \$100 and \$500 at Upwork:

\$500 "We are commercial real estate brokers and are looking for an expert in Microsoft Excel to create an interactive Excel worksheet(s) for rental comparison purposes."

\$250 "I need to have financial calculations for a customer equity/lifetime value model integrated into an excel workbook. (...)"

\$100 "I currently plot support and resistance zones manually on a chart like the attached image. (...) I need to calculate these support and resistance levels within MS Excel programmatically or using some sort of algorithm. (...)"

In contrast to the budget, the longevity of tasks on Upwork is beneficial for our vision. Figure 5.5 shows that many tasks remain available for at least 20 days, which is beneficial in the MOOC setting where assignments also commonly have a grace period of 2-3 weeks.

Recall, that additionally to a general category each task is tagged with a set of required skills. Table 5.5 shows Excel (the comon tag for spreadsheet





Figure 5.5: The 56,308 Upwork tasks available on 15/09/2015 are binned according to the number of days they have been "online" (i.e. the task is open).

tasks) to be a relatively popular task. More general skills such as proficiency in HTML and CSS occur more often than specific skills such as proficiency in R. Overall, programming tasks only make up a small percentage of all available tasks, as shown in Table 5.6. Indeed, the breadth of tasks offered on **Upwork** indicates the tremendous potential of online work platforms for suggesting paid tasks to learners across a range of MOOCs.

To conclude, we observe that, indeed, the knowledge gained during EX101x can be used to solve paid tasks (**RQ 4.2**), though the number of tasks posted per day that fit our criteria is rather low: we estimate that, an average, 13 tasks a day are posted in the \$1-\$50 category, requiring spreadsheet knowledge fitting the course topic of EX101x.

This result also provides an answer to **RQ 4.3** in the context of EX101x: as per day, on average, only 13 MOOC students stand to benefit from these paid tasks (i.e., can earn money from them), there are not sufficient tasks available to sustain a standard MOOC population of learners throughout an entire run of EX101x — at least at the current rate of online work tasks being posted to Upwork.

#Tasks	Skill Tag
$5,\!443$	HTML5 & HTML
5,034	PHP
3,928	Javascript
2,731	Excel
616	Python
559	Ruby & Ruby-on-Rails
537	Objective-c
450	Java
26	Perl
34	R

Table 5.5: Overview of programming tasks among our crawl of 56,308 Upwork tasks on 15/09/2015.

Category	#Tasks	Days Online (SD)	Payment (SD)
Customer Service	986	74.76(83.24)	1,817 (\$6,692)
Engineering & Architecture	$1,\!432$	53.70(61.50)	\$1,699 (\$6,640)
Translation	2,109	53.02(74.64)	1,156 ($3,710$)
Admin Support	5,961	50.33(89.14)	982 (\$4,855)
Accounting & Consulting	1,095	49.37 (77.77)	997 (4,642)
IT & Networking	2,182	39.60(52.38)	\$ 854 (\$4,356)
Data Science & Analytics	$1,\!156$	37.29(45.94)	\$ 777 (\$3,308)
Writing	8,448	32.31 (58.54)	418 (8832)
Legal	333	27.97(33.67)	377 (2,055)
Web, Mobile & Software Dev	16,328	25.39(46.02)	376 (\$2,028)
Design & Creative	$9,\!667$	24.60(45.70)	\$ 274 (\$ 710)
Sales & Marketing	6,724	21.54(34.31)	263 (2,124)

Table 5.6: The 56,308 Upwork tasks available on 15/09/2015 are partitioned according to their category. Shown are the number of tasks per category, the average number of days online and the average task payment (for the subset of 8,153 tasks with a fixed budget).

5.5.3 RQ 4.4: Learner engagement

We hypothesize that our bonus exercises, in particular the realization that those are real-world tasks with which money could be earned, are beneficial for learner engagement.

In Figure 5.6 we present the results of our experiment, comparing the amount of video watching between learners who did view and did not view

the bonus exercises (computed separately for low and high engagement learners). Let's consider week 1: in the low engagement group, the learners that did not view the bonus exercise spent on average 0.08 hours (5 minutes) in subsequent weeks on video watching, while the learners that did view the bonus exercise spent 1.3 hours in subsequent weeks on videos. This difference is statistically significant (p < 0.001, Mann-Whitney test). Similarly, in the high engagement group, learners that did not view the bonus exercise continued to spend 0.4 hours (24 minutes) on video watching, while learners that did view the bonus exercise spent 1.7 hours on the course. Across both engagement groups, the low amount of overall time spent in watching videos can be explained by the fact that over time, more and more learners drop out of a course. In week two, we only consider the subset of learners that viewed the bonus exercise in week 1, and again we observe significant differences in engagement between those that viewed the second bonus exercise and those that did not. As the weeks go on, the difference in video watching time between learners viewing and not viewing the bonus exercise of the week tends to decrease—also evident in the fact that in weeks 5 and 7, we find no significant differences in engagement for the high engagement learners. We consider these results as a first confirmation of **RQ 4.4**: our bonus exercises (real-world tasks) are likely to have a positive effect on engagement. We realize that this experiment can only be considered as first evidence: we observed that similarly engaged learners diverge in their behavior after having (not) viewed our real-world bonus tasks. We assume that this divergent behavior is caused by the action of (not) viewing the task, but this assumption cannot be directly verified. We attempt to verify it (among others) through a post-course survey, outlined next.

5.5.4 Post-course survey

We sent a follow-up survey with 11 questions (about success & engagement in EX101x, financial incentives in MOOC learning and the bonus tasks in EX101x) to a subset of learners who expressed their willingness to be contacted after the course had completed. An overview of all questions can be found in Table 5.7.

We partitioned the set of contacted learners into four groups according to their origin (developed vs. developing country) and their engagement with the bonus exercises (submitted vs. not submitted):

• from developed nations & submitted at least one bonus exercise (126 learners contacted, 26 replied);

Success & engagement							
	How engaged were you	Completed	Stopped mid-	Stopped in	Registered		
1.	in EX101x?	successfully	way	weeks 1 or 2	but nthg. else	-	-
		75 87 67 45%	14 10 16 23%	11 0 14 27%	0 3 3 5%	-	-
						Knew	
	To what extent did			Attempted	Looked at	about	No
2.	you engage with the	Submitted	Submitted 1-	1+ exercises,	1+ exercises,	exercises,	knowl-
	bonus exercises?	3+ exercises	2 exercises	but not	but not	did not	edge of
				submitted	attempted	any	exercises
		48 52 8 0%	41 38 25 32%	11 3 20 45%	0 7 20 9%	0 0 19 9%	0 0 8 5%
	In case you did not						
	complete EX101x suc-	Not applica-		Yes, a minor	Yes. a major		
3.	cessfully, were finan-	ble	No	factor	factor	-	-
	cial reasons a major						
	140001.	74 71 62 35%	26 18 32 50%	0 11 0 10%	0 0 6 5%	-	-
Fina	uncial incentives in ger	neral					
1 1110	If you are to C						
	ii you require finan-						
	plete a MOOC how						
	much (in US dollar)	No financial					
4.	would you need to	incentive re-	\$0-\$9	\$10-\$29	\$30-\$49	\$50-\$99	\$100+
	earn per week via real-	quired					
	world freelance tasks						
	MOOC?						
	MOOC.	80 52 77 64%	0 7 0 5%	0 10 6 9%	8 7 11 13%	4 14 3 9%	8 10 3 0%
	If earning that much						
_	money per week, how						
5.	many hours per week			Open-answe	er form		
	MOOC?						
	Would you consider						
	this income essential	Not applica					
6.	to your well-being or	ble	1 (Essential)	2	3	4	5 (Extra)
	more like extra spend-						
	ing money!	80 48 66 55%	4 10 3 9%	0 4 9 5%	8 17 6 23%	01141819%	8171810%
D	EX101		1110101070	012101070	0111012070	011101070	01101070
Bon	us exercises in EX101:	x					
-	How many hours per			0	6		
7.	commit to EX101x?			Open-answe	r Jorm		
	Did the bonus exer-						
	cises increase your mo-						
8	tivation to engage with	1 (Not at	9	3	4	5 (Very	
0.	the course (beyond the	all)	-	0		much)	
	standard course mate-						
		8 7 33 11%	12 0 23 21%	28 24 17 31%	32 41 20 26%	20 28 7 10%	-
	How difficult did you	To Lond The Party	111 11 10	1 1 112 70	1 1 1 1 1 7 0	5 (The -	
9.	find the bonus exer-	1 (Too easy)	2	3	4	difficult)	-
	cises?			Folos los leor	0.0100104104~	del da off	
	Why did you begin	0 0 7 0%	4 4 7 6%	56 31 61 50%	36 62 21 31%	4 3 4 13%	-
10.	attempting the bonus	oonus Open-answer form					
	exercises?						
11.	Why did you stop?	Open-answer form					

Table 5.7: Overview of the 11 questions in our post-course survey. For presentation purposes, some questions and answers appear slightly condensed. For all closed-form questions, we provide the distribution of answers (in %) across the four learner partitions in the form A | B | C | D%: (A) from developed nations + at least one bonus exercise submitted, (B) from developing nations + at least one bonus exercise submitted, (C) from developed nations + no bonus exercise submitted.


96 Chapter 5. Enabling MOOC Learners to Solve Real-world Paid Tasks

- Figure 5.6: The average amount of time (in hours) that learners spent in watching video after viewing (but not submitting) the bonus exercises. The numbers of learners within each group are given in brackets. Results marked with * (p < 0.001) are significantly different (*Viewed* vs. *Not viewed*) according to the Mann-Whitney U-test.
 - from developing nations & submitted at least one bonus exercise (114 learners contacted, 29 replied);
 - from developed nations & did not submit a bonus exercise (357 learners contacted, 34 replied);
 - from developing nations & did not submit a bonus exercise (271 learners contacted, 22 replied);

Besides the questions and answer options, in Table 5.7 we also report the distribution of given answers for all closed-form questions and each learner partition. We note that a small number of learners who we classified as not

5.5. Results

having submitted a bonus solution self-reported having done so. The converse is also true: a small number of learners that we have received bonus exercise submissions from reported not having submitted any. These self-reporting errors could be explained by the amount of time (12 weeks) passed between the end of EX101x and the release of the survey. Overall though, the vast majority of learners were remembering their (lack of) submissions for our bonus exercises correctly.

Students from developing nations who did not attempt any of the bonus exercises report that if they could earn somewhere between \$10 and \$100 per week through such online work platform tasks, they would commit up to six more hours to the course per week. In this same group, 45% of respondents attempted one or more bonus exercises but did not submit it to the course instructor. In contrast, of the survey respondents from developed nations who did not submit a bonus exercise to the instructor, only 20% reported having attempted to solve any. This difference suggests that learners from developing nations are more motivated and eager to engage with course material, but there seems to be a barrier stopping them from fully engaging as much as they would like. Providing an opportunity for them to gain income in the process could be a key factor in enabling them to fully commit to a MOOC.

In question 9 we asked students how difficult they found the bonus exercises to be on a five-point Likert scale—"1" being too easy and "5" being too difficult. Of the entire group of learners (across all partitions) that responded, the average score was 3.48. As bonus exercises, they are expected to be slightly more difficult than the rest of the course material, and the students seem to generally view them as such—slightly more difficult, yet accessible. This sentiment is also echoed in the students' comments in the survey when asked why they chose to engage with the bonus exercises in the first place; the three most common words to appear in the responses, in order, are "challenge," "real," and "test." To synthesize, students generally see these activities as an added challenge in which they test their ability to apply what they learned in the course to a real-world problem.

Also interesting is that learners from developing countries perceived the bonus exercises as being more difficult than learners in developed countries (Mann-Whitney U-test with U = 781, Z = -2.13 and p < 0.05). This discrepancy underlines the importance for learners in developing countries to be able to commit the necessary time for these types of tasks, as a higher perceived difficulty would require more time from the learner to understand and/or master the content.

Finally, we also explored the effect of the bonus exercises on learners' motivation to engage with the course (survey question 8). These responses, also on a five-point Likert scale, ranged from "Not at all" (1) to "Very much" (5). A difference emerged in the way learners from different backgrounds are affected by the presence of the bonus exercises. Learners from developing nations report that bonus exercises increased their motivation to engage with the course significantly more than learners from developing countries (Mann-Whitney U-test with U = 617.5, Z = 2.61 and p < 0.05).

5.6 Freelance Recommender System Design

Based on our analyses presented in the previous sections, we have to take the following two requirements into account when designing our freelance task recommender:

- The recommender should support multiple task platforms, as we have found Upwork (at this point in time) to only offer a very limited number of tasks in our specified price range and on our specific MOOC's topic each day.
- Once we recommend learners tasks on Upwork and other similar platforms, we need to continuously track the tasks' status (are they still available?) as well as the number of times we have recommended them to different learners (to avoid hundreds of learners trying to "bid" for the same task — only one of them can get the job and be paid).

Figure 5.7 shows our designed recommender system, which — for any given MOOC — will automatically retrieve real-world tasks relevant to the topics covered in the MOOC and recommend them to our learners. We briefly discuss the different layers in turn:

- **MOOC**. The MOOC layer serves as the playground for learners to interact with course components and our freelance task recommender system.
- Data layer. This layer is responsible for collecting learners' activity data and gathering real-world tasks from freelance platforms. To be specific, the component *MOOC data collector* collects data of learners' interactions with course components (e.g., watching lecture videos, viewing forum posts, submitting quiz answers) and the recommender



Figure 5.7: Overview of the freelance work task recommender system's design.

system (e.g., viewing recommended freelance tasks, dwell time). On the other side, the component *Freelance task collector* retrieves courserelevant tasks from multiple freelance platforms including Upwork, witmart, Guru and Envato. As some of the discovered freelance tasks may not be suitable for our setting of "earning whilst learning" (high budget tasks often require deep knowledge of several fields), the *Task filtering* component filters out unsuitable tasks by applying rule-based strategies (e.g., by setting the maximun budget). In addition, the *Task availability tracker* component regularly checks whether the recommended freelance tasks are still open & available before generating the recommendations for our learners.

- Analysis layer. In this layer, the *Learner profiling* component analyzes learners' interaction patterns with the recommender system and how/whether learners' course engagement can be influenced by freelance task recommendations. The *Task relevance estimation* component computes the relevance of the discovered tasks with respect to the specific MOOC as well as (potentially) the learner profile.
- Intervention layer. At last, the intervention layer makes task recommendations to our learners. The *Recommendation diversification* component is responsible for presenting a diverse selection of recommendations (to avoid hundreds or thousands of learners competing for the same freelance tasks).

In future work we will implement this design and test its influence in various MOOCs by exploring its effect on MOOC learners.

5.7 Conclusion

Can MOOC learners be paid to learn? We set out to provide a first answer to this question in the context of the EX101x MOOC. We found that indeed, work tasks of up to \$50 can be solved accurately and in high quality by a considerable percentage of learners that attempt it. We also explored the suitability of the online work platform Upwork in providing tasks to MOOC learners - while there are many budget tasks available (between \$1 and \$50), those specific to EX101x are rather low in number; at the moment we expect no more than 13 suitable tasks (i.e. specific to taught course material) to be posted per day. Finally, we investigated the matter of engagement: does knowing that real-world tasks may be solved with course knowledge increase learners' engagement? Our evidence suggests that this is may indeed be the case. We note that while we did observe correlational relationships between learners' bonus exercise engagement and in-course behavior, the present research cannot yet claim any causality.

Based on the work presented here, we will explore several promising directions (beyond the development and deployment of the presented recommender design) in the future. We will investigate (i) experimental setups that allow us to further investigate the causal relationship between real-world tasks and learner engagement, (ii) the suitability of more complex tasks (i.e. tasks with a budget greater than \$50) for MOOC learners, (iii) the acceptance of the "learners can be earners" paradigm in different populations, and (iv) setups that aid MOOC learners to take the first steps in the paid freelance task world, inspired by [146].

_____ |

Chapter 6

LearningQ for Educational Question Generation

In this chapter, we focus on the collection of a large-scale and high-quality educational question dataset, as the first step to construct an automatic question generator to ease the burden of instructors in manually creating a suitably large question bank. To this end, we examine the learning material accumulated in two mainstream education-oriented Social Web platforms, i.e., TED-Ed and Khan Academy, and present LearningQ, which consists of a total of 230K document-question paris, whose questions are of all cognitive levels in the Bloom's Revised Taxonomy [104] and covering various learning subjects. To show the research challenges in generating educational questions, we use LearningQ as a testbed to examine the performance of two state-of-the-art approaches in automatic question generation and investigate possible strategies to select question-worthy sentences from an article. The contributions of this chapter have been published in [33].

6.1 Introduction

In educational settings, questions are recognized as one of the most important tools not only for assessment but also for learning [128]. Questions allow learners to apply their knowledge, to test their understanding of concepts and ultimately, to reflect on their state of knowledge. This, in turn, enables learners to better direct their learning effort and improve their learning outcomes. Previous research has shown that the number of questions learners receive about a knowledge concept is positively correlated with the effectiveness of knowledge retention [8]. It is thus desirable to have large-scale question banks for every taught concept to better support learners.

Designing a suitably large set of high-quality questions is a time-consuming and cognitively demanding task. Instructors need to create questions of varying types (e.g., open-ended, multiple choice, fill-in-the-blank), varying cognitive skill levels (e.g., applying, creating) and varying knowledge dimensions (e.g., factual, conceptual, procedural) that are preferably syntactically different yet semantically similar in order to enable repeated testing of a knowledge concept. To ease instructors' burden, *automatic question generation* has been proposed and investigated by both computer scientists and learning scientists to automate the question creation process through computational techniques [110, 136, 137, 69].

Typically, automatic question generation has been tackled in a rule-based manner, where experienced teachers and course instructors are recruited to carefully define a set of rules to transform declarative sentences into interrogative questions [161, 3, 69]. The success of these rule-based methods is heavily dependent on the quality and quantity of the handcrafted rules, which rely on instructors' linguistic knowledge, domain knowledge and the amount of time they invest. This inevitably hinders these methods' ability to scale up to a large and diverse question bank.

Data-driven methods, deep neural network based methods, in particular, have recently emerged as a promising approach for various natural language processing tasks, such as machine translation, named entity recognition and sentiment classification. Inspired by the success of these works, Du et al. [51] treated question generation processes as a sequence-to-sequence learning problem, which directly maps a piece of text (usually a sentence) to a question. In contrast to rule-based methods, these methods can capture complex question generation patterns from data without handcrafted rules, thus being much more scalable than rule-based methods. As with most data-driven approaches, the success of neural network based methods is largely dependent on the *size* of the dataset as well as its *quality* [131].

Source	Document-Question pairs
SQuAD	Doc: after Heine's German birthplace of Düsseldorf had rejected, allegedly for anti- Semitic motives Q: Where was Heine born?
RACE	Doc: There is a big supermarket near Mrs. Green's home. She usually Q:: Where is the supermarket?
LearningQ	Doc: gases have energy that is proportional to the temperature. The higher the temperature, the higher the energy the gases have. The crazy thing is that at the same temperature, all gases have the same energy Q: If you were given oxygen (molecular mass = 18 AMU) and hydrogen (molecular mass = 1 AMU) at the same temperature and pressure,
	which has more energy?

Table 6.1: Examples of document-question pairs.

Exiting datasets, such as SQuAD [131] and RACE [96], though containing a large number of questions (e.g., 97K questions in SQuAD), are not suitable for question generation in the learning context. Instead of being aimed at educational question generation, these datasets were originally collected for reading comprehension tasks. They are often limited in their coverage of topics—the questions in SQuAD for example, were generated by crowdworkers based on a limited number (536) of Wikipedia articles. More importantly, these questions seek factual details, and the answer to each question can be found as a piece of text in the source passages; they do not require higher-level cognitive skills to answer them, as exemplified by the SQuAD and RACE example questions in Table 6.1. We speculate, as a consequence, question generators built on these datasets cannot generate questions of varying cognitive skill levels and knowledge dimensions that require a substantial amount of cognitive efforts to answer, which unavoidably limits the applicability of the trained question generators for educational purpose.

To address these problems, we investigate the research question: **RQ 5.1 can a large-scale and high-quality educational question dataset**

be collected from the Social Web? Specifically, we present LearningQ, which consists of more than 230K document-question pairs collected from mainstream online learning platforms. Learning Q does not only contain questions designed by instructors (7K) but also questions generated by students (223K) during their learning processes, e.g., watching videos and reading recommended materials. It covers a diverse set of educational topics ranging from computing, science, business, humanities, to math. Through both quantitative and qualitative analyses, we show that, compared to existing datasets, LearningQ contains more diverse and complex source documents; moreover, solving the questions requires higher-order cognitive skills (e.g., applying, analyzing). Specifically, we show that most questions in LearningQare relevant to multiple source sentences in the corresponding document, suggesting that effective question generation requires reasoning over the relationships between document sentences, as shown by the LearningQ question example in Table 6.1. Besides, we evaluate both rule-based and state-of-theart deep neural network based question generation methods on LearningQ. Our results show that methods which perform well on existing datasets cannot generate high-quality educational questions, suggesting that LearningQis a challenging dataset worth of significant further study.

Have you ever dropped your swimming goggles in the deepest part of the pool and tried to swim down to get them? It can be frustrating because the water tries to push you back up to the surface as you're swimming downward. The name of this upward force exerted on objects submerged in fluids is called the buoyant force.

Table 6.2: Question-worthy sentence in a paragraph.

After presenting *LearningQ*, we further investigate the problem of identifying question-worthy content (i.e., sentences used as input for the question generator) from an article, which is largely ignored by existing studies [51, 69]. Formally, we direct our efforts in answering the research question: **RQ 5.2 what are effective strategies in identifying question-worthy sentences from an article?** To be specific, given a paragraph or an article, often there are only a limited number of sentences that are worth asking questions about, i.e., those carrying important concepts. An example is shown in Table 6.2, where the last sentence defines the most important concept "buoyant force". We, therefore, argue that selecting question-worthy sentences is of critical importance to the generation of high-quality educational questions.

106

6.2. Related Work

To this end, we aim at achieving a better understanding of the effectiveness of different textual features in identifying question-worthy sentences from an article and proposing a total of nine strategies for question-worthy sentence selection, which cover a wide range of possible question-asking patterns inspired by both low-level and high-level textural features. For instance, we represent our assumption that *informative* sentences are more likely to be asked about by leveraging low-level features such as sentence length and the number of concepts as informativeness metrics; our assumption that *important* sentences are more worth asking about is represented by leveraging semantic relevance between sentences, which can be measured by using summative sentence identification techniques [53, 23]. To evaluate the effectiveness of the proposed strategies, we apply them to identify questionworthy sentences on five question generation datasets, i.e., SQuAD [131], TriviaQA [83], MCTest [133], RACE [96] and LearningQ presented in this chapter. We use the sentences identified by the proposed strategies as input for a well-trained question generator and evaluate the effectiveness of sentence selection strategies by comparing the quality of the generated questions.

To the best of our knowledge, LearningQ is the first large-scale dataset for educational question generation. It provides a valuable data source for studying cross-domain question generation patterns. The distinct features of LearningQ make it a challenging dataset for driving the advances of automatic question generation methods. Also, our work is the first to systematically study question-worthy sentence selection strategies across multiple datasets. Through extensive experiments, we find that the most questionworthy sentences in Wikipedia articles are often the beginning ones. In contrast, questions collected for learning purposes usually feature a more diverse set of sentences, including those that are most informative, important, or contain the largest amount of novel information. We further demonstrate that LexRank, which identifies important sentences by calculating their eigenvector centrality in the graph representation of sentence similarities, gives the most robust performance across different datasets among the nine selection strategies.

6.2 Related Work

6.2.1 Question Generation

Automatic question generation has been envisioned since the late 1960s [135]. It is generally believed by learning scientists that the generation of high-

quality learning questions should be based on the foundations of linguistic knowledge and domain knowledge, and thus they typically approach the task in a rule-based manner [161, 3, 69, 109]. Such rules mainly employ syntactic transformations to turn declarative sentences into interrogative questions [35]. For instance, Mitkov and Ha [109] generated multiple-choice questions from documents by employing rules of term extraction. Based on a set of manually-defined rules, Heilman and Smith [69] produced questions in a overgenerate-and-rank manner where questions are ranked based on their linguistic features. These methods, however, are intrinsically limited in scalability: rules developed in certain subjects (e.g., introductory linguistics, English learning) cannot be easily adapted to other domains; the process of defining rules requires considerable efforts from experienced teachers or domain experts. More importantly, manually designed rules are often incomplete and do not cover all possible document-question transformation patterns, thus limiting rule-based generators to produce high-quality questions.

Entering the era of large-scale online learning, e.g., Massive Open Online Courses [119], the demand for automatic question generation has been increasing rapidly along with the largely increased number of learners and online courses accessible to them. To meet the need, more advanced computational techniques, e.g., deep neural network based methods, have been proposed by computer scientists [51, 50]. In the pioneering work by Du et al. [51], an encoder-decoder sequence learning framework [144] incorporated with the global attention mechanism [103] was used for question generation. The proposed model can automatically capture question-asking patterns from the data, without relying on any hand-crafted rules, thus has achieved superior performance to rule-based methods regarding both scalability and the quality of the generated questions.

These methods, however, have only been tested on datasets that were originally collected for machine reading comprehension tasks. Noticeably, these datasets contain a very limited number of useful questions for learning, as we will show in the following sections. Therefore, it remains an open question how deep neural network methods perform in processing complex learning documents and generating desirable educational questions.

6.2.2 Datasets for Question Generation

Several large-scale datasets have been collected to fuel the development of machine reading comprehension models, including SQuAD [131], RACE [96], NewsQA [150], TriviaQA [83], NarrativeQA [93], etc. Though containing

questions, all of these datasets are not suitable for educational question generation due to either the limited number of topics [131, 96] or the loose dependency between documents and questions, i.e., a document might not contain the content necessary to generate a question and further answer the question. More importantly, most questions in these datasets are not specifically designed for learning activities. For example, SQuAD questions were generated by online crowdworkers and are used to seek factual details in source documents; TriviaQA questions were retrieved from online trivia websites. An exception is RACE, which was collected from English examinations designed for middle school and high school students in China. Though collected in a learning context, RACE questions are mainly used to assess students' knowledge level of English, instead of other skills or knowledge of diverse learning subjects.

Depending on different teaching activities and learning goals, educational questions are expected to vary in cognitive complexity, i.e., requiring different levels of cognitive efforts from learners to solve. Ideally, an educational question generator should be able to generate questions of all cognitive complexity levels, e.g., from low-order recalling factual details to high-order judging the value of a new idea. This requires the dataset for training educational question generators to contain questions of different cognitive levels. As will be presented in our analysis, LearningQ covers a wide spectrum of learning subjects as well as cognitive complexity levels and is therefore expected to drive forward the research on automatic question generation.

6.2.3 Question-worthy Sentence Selection

Existing studies, however, pay little attention to the selection of questionworthy sentences: they either assume that the question-worthy sentences have been identified already [51] or simply take every sentence in an article as input for the question generator. For instance, [69] assume that all sentences in an article are question-worthy and thus generate one question for each sentence and select high-quality ones based on their linguistic features. To our knowledge, [50] is the only study that explicitly tackles the questionworthy sentence selection problem. It uses a bidirectional LSTM network [75] to simultaneously encode a paragraph and calculate the question-worthiness of a sentence in the paragraph. However, training such a network relies on a large amount of ground-truth labels of question-worthy sentences (e.g., tens of thousands). Obtaining these labels is a long, laborious, and usually costly process. Furthermore, the proposed deep neural network was only validated in short paragraphs instead of the whole article. Considering that reading materials can be much longer and deep neural networks can fail at processing long sequence data due to the vanishing gradient problem [76], it remains an open question whether the proposed method can handle long articles.

Instead of developing a novel neural network architecture that simultaneously does sentence selection and question generation (like [50] does), we take one step back and focus extensively on question-worthy sentence selection. We propose heuristic strategies which exploit different textual features in selecting question-worthy sentences from an article, so as to clarify the main criteria in the selection process, and to adequately inform educational question generator design.

6.3 Data Collection

6.3.1 Data Sources

To gather large amounts of useful learning questions, we initially explored several mainstream online learning platforms and finally settled on two after having considered the data accessibility and the quantity of the available questions as well as the corresponding source documents. Concretely, we gathered *LearningQ* data from the following two platforms:

TED-Ed¹ is an education initiative supported by TED which aims to spread the ideas and knowledge of teachers and students around the world. In TED-Ed, teachers can create their own interactive lessons, which usually involve lecture videos along with a set of carefully crafted questions to assess students' knowledge. Lesson topics range from humanity subjects like arts, language, and philosophy to science subjects like business, economics and computer technology. Typically, a lesson, covering a single topic, includes one lecture video, and lasts from 5 to 15 minutes. Due to the subscriptionfree availability, TED-Ed has grown into one of the most popular educational communities and served millions of teachers and students every week. As questions in TED-Ed are created by instructors, we consider them to be highquality representations of testing cognitive skills at various levels (e.g., the LearningQ question in Table 6.1 is from TED-Ed). We use TED-Ed as the major data source to collect instructor-crafted learning questions.

Khan Academy² is another popular online learning platform. Similar to TED-Ed, Khan Academy also offers lessons to students around the world. Compared to

¹https://ed.ted.com/

²https://www.khanacademy.org/

TED-Ed, the lessons are targeted at a wider audience. For example, the math subjects in Khan Academy cover topics from kindergarten to high school. In addition, the lessons are organized in alignment with typical school curriculum (from the easier to the more advanced) instead of being an independent collection of videos as is the case in TED-Ed. Another distinction between the two platforms is that Khan Academy allows learners to leave posts and ask questions about the learning materials (i.e., lecture videos and reading materials) during their learning. For instance, the chemistry course Quantum numbers and orbitals³ includes one article (titled The quantum mechanical model of the atom) and three lecture videos (titled Heisenberg uncertainty principle, Quantum numbers and Quantum numbers for the first four shells) and learners can ask questions about any of them. More often than not, learners' questions express their confusion about the learning material—e.g., "How do you convert Celsius to Calvin?"—and thus are an expression of learners' knowledge gaps that need to be overcome to master the learning material. We argue that these questions can promote in-depth thinking and discussion among learners, thus complementing instructor-designed questions. We use those learner-generated questions as part of LearningQ.

We implemented site-specific crawlers for both Khan Academy and TED-Ed and collected all available questions and posts in English as well as their source documents at both platforms that were posted on or before December 31, 2017, resulting in a total of 1,146,299 questions and posts.

6.3.2 Question Classification for Khan Academy

Compared to instructor-designed questions collected from TED-Ed, learnergenerated posts in Khan Academy can be of relatively low quality for our purposes since they are not guaranteed to contain a question (a learner may for example simply express her appreciation for the video), or the contained question can be off-topic, lack the proper context, or be too generic. Examples of high- and low-quality questions are shown in Table 6.3.

Originally, we gathered a total of 953,998 posts related to lecture videos and 192,301 posts related to articles from Khan Academy. To distill useful learning questions from the collected posts, we first extracted sentences ending with a question mark from all of the posts, which resulted in 407,723 such sentences from posts on lecture videos and 66,100 on reading material. To further discriminate useful questions for learning from non-useful ones, we ran-

 $^{^{3}} https://www.khanacademy.org/science/chemistry/electronic-structure-of-atoms/orbitals-and-electrons/$

domly sampled 5,600 of these questions and recruited two education experts to annotate the questions: each expert labeled 3,100 questions (600 questions were labeled by both experts to determine the inter-annotator agreement) in a binary fashion: useful for learning or not. Based on the labeled data, we trained a convolutional neural network [88] on top of pre-trained word embeddings [108] to classify the remaining Khan Academy questions. In the following, we describe the labeling process in more details.

ID	Questions	Topic	Label
<i>a)</i>	What is the direction of current in a circuit?	S	
b)	Why can't voltage-gated channels be placed on the surface of Myelin?	S	\checkmark
c)	Is there a badge for finishing this course?	Ε	
d)	Have you looked on your badges page to see if it is one of the available badges?	Т	
<i>e)</i>	Why do each of them have navels?	Η	
f)	Does it represent phase difference between resistance and reactance?	S	
g)	What should the graph look like for higher voltages?	S	\checkmark
h)	What if some of the ideas come from different historical perspectives, giving inaccurate information?	Н	
i)	What if the information is wrong ?	М	
j)	Can someone please help me?	С	
\hat{k})	Could you be more specific ?	Т	
l)	Are you asking what geometric means?	Μ	
m)	Are you talking about the frequency?	Ε	
n)	What programming language or how much of coding I need to know to start learning algorithms here?	С	
o)	Can I do algorithms or should I do programming first?	С	

Table 6.3: Examples of useful (marked with $\sqrt{}$) and non-useful questions from Khan
Academy. S/H/M/C/E/T denote Science, Humanities, Math, Computing, Economics and Test Preparation, respectively.

Question Annotation. We consider a user-generated question to be as useful for learning when all of the following conditions hold: (i) the question is *concept-relevant*, i.e., it seeks for information on knowledge concepts taught in lecture videos or articles; (ii) the question is *context-complete*, which means sufficient context information is provided to enable other learners to answer the question; and (iii) the question is not generic (e.g., a question asks for learning advice). To exemplify this, two concept-relevant learning questions are shown in Table 6.3 (a and b), accompanied by two concept-irrelevant ones (c and d). Question e and f in the same table are also concept-relevant. However, as they don't provide enough context information, e.g., lack of references for "they" and "it", we consider them as non-useful. As a counterexample, we consider question g in the table as useful since the reference for "the graph" can be easily inferred. This comes in contrast to question h and i, where the references for "the idea" and "the information" are too vague thus failed to to provide sufficient context information. Finally, generic questions expressing the need for help (j and k), asking for clarification (land m) or general learning advice (as exemplified by n and o), are not useful for learning the specific knowledge concepts.

Annotation & Classification Results. Of the 5,600 annotated questions, we found 3,465 (61.9%) to be useful questions for learning. The interannotator agreement reached a Cohen's Kappa of 0.82, which suggests a substantially coherent perception of question usefulness by the two annotators. To understand the performance of the classifier trained on this labeled dataset, we randomly split the dataset into a training set of size 5,000, a validation set of size 300, and a test set of size 300. We iterated the training and evaluation process 20 times to obtain a reliable estimation of classification performance. Results show that the model reaches an accuracy of 80.5% on average (SD=1.8%), suggesting that the classifier can be confidently applied for useful/non-useful question classification. With this classifier, we retain about 223K unique useful questions in Khan Academy, which will be used for our following analysis.

6.3.3 Final Statistics of LearningQ

An overall description of Learning Q is shown in Table 6.4 (rows 1—4). As a means of comparison, we also provide the same statistics for the popular question generation datasets (though not necessarily useful for education and learning) SQuAD and RACE. Compared to these two datasets, Learning Q (i) consists of about 230K questions (versus 97K in SQuAD and 72K in RACE) on nearly 11K source documents; (ii) contains not only useful educational

	Ecot T			ЦС V С		Khan Ad	cademy
MOT	reature 1ype	reatures	UAUyo	RACE	тел-га	Video	$\operatorname{Article}$
÷		Creator	Crowdworker	Instructor	Instructor	Learner	Learner
2.	D	# Unique documents	20,958	27,933	1,102	7,924	1,815
3.	Dasic statistics	# Unique questions	97,888	72,547	7,612	201,273	22,585
4.		# Avg. questions / document	4.67	2.60	6.91	25.40	12.44
5.		# Avg. words / document	134.84	322.88	847.64	1370.83	1306.55
6.	D 0	# Avg. sentence / document	4.96	17.63	42.89	73.51	49.85
7.	Document &	# Avg. words / sentence of documents	27.17	18.31	19.76	18.65	26.21
ò.	dueseion iengen	# Avg. words / question	11.31	11.51	20.07	16.72	17.11
9.		# Avg. sentence / question	1.00	1.03	1.41	1.00	1.00
10.		# Avg. entities /document	10.24	9.75	17.66	14.55	47.38
11.	Entities	# Avg. entities /question	0.92	0.53	0.66	0.29	0.44
12.		% Entity words in question	8.10	4.58	3.29	1.72	2.54
13.	Doodchiliter	Document readability	45.82	73.49	64.08	76.54	55.15
14.	neauanny	Question readability	67.23	51.00	66.32	72.15	69.04
	Tat	ole 6.4: Descriptive features and statistics of	LearningQ and th	e datasets in	comparison.		

 $Chapter \ 6. \ Learning Q \ for \ Educational \ Question \ Generation$

114

questions carefully designed by instructors but also those generated by learners for in-depth understanding and further discussion of the learning subject; (iii) covers a wide range of educational subjects from two mainstream online learning platforms. To highlight the characteristics of LearningQ, we also include SQuAD and RACE in the data analysis presented next.

6.4 Sentence Selection Strategies

In the following, we describe in detail our proposed sentence selection strategies based on different question-asking assumptions and sentence properties measured by different textual features.

- Random sentence (Random). As the baseline, we randomly select a sentence and use it as input for the question generator.
- Longest sentence (Longest). This strategy selects the longest sentence in an article. The assumption is that people tend to ask questions about sentences containing a large amount of information, which, intuitively, can be measured by their lengths.
- Concept-rich sentence (Concept). Different from *Longest*, this strategy assumes that the amount of information can be better measured by the total number of entities in a sentence. The more entities a sentence contains, the richer information it has.
- Concept-type-rich sentence (ConceptType). This strategy is a variant of *Concept*. It calculates the total number of entity types in a sentence to measure the informativeness of a sentence.

The above three strategies approximate question-worthiness of a sentence by *informativeness*, which is further measured by different textual features. In contrast, the following two strategies approximate question-worthiness of a sentence by *difficulty* and *novelty*, respectively.

• Most difficult sentence (Hardest). This strategy is built on the assumption that difficult sentences can sometimes bring the most important messages that should be questioned and assessed. Therefore, it chooses the most difficult sentence in an article as the question-worthy sentence. We calculate the Flesch Reading Ease Score [39] of sentences as their difficulty indicators.

• Novel sentence (Novel). Unlike *Hardest*, this strategy believes that sentences with novel information that people do not know before are more question-worthy. We calculate the number of words that never appear in previous sentences as a sentence's novelty score [151] and select the most novel one.

Finally, we introduce three strategies that approximate question-worthiness of a sentence by the relative *importance* of the sentence concerning the remaining ones in an article. The importance is either measured by the relative position of a sentence or its centrality represented by semantic relevance with other sentences.

- Beginning sentence (Beginning). In the research of text summarization, one common hypothesis about sentence positions is the importance of a sentence decreases with its distance from the beginning of the document [115], and therefore less question-worthy. This strategy selects the first sentence in an article as the most question-worthy sentence.
- Centroid based important sentence (LexRank). In line with *Beginning*, this strategy also believes that question-worthy sentences should be selected from those of greater importance. The difference here is that the sentence importance is measured by the centroid-based method, *LexRank* [53], which calculates sentence importance based on eigenvector centrality in a graph of sentence similarities.
- Maximum marginal relevance based important sentence (MMR). Different from *LexRank*, this strategy computes sentence importance by considering a linear trade-off between relevance and redundancy [23], i.e., selecting the sentence that is most relevant but shares least similarity with the other sentences as the most important sentence.

6.5 Data Analysis on LearningQ

The complexity of questions concerning the required cognitive skill levels and knowledge dimensions is a crucial property that can significantly influence the quality of questions for learning [104]. We thus believe that this factor should be studied when building efficient question generators. However, to our knowledge, there is no work attempting to characterize this property of questions in datasets for question generation.

In this section, we characterize the cognitive complexity of questions in LearningQ and other existing question generation datasets (i.e., SQuAD and RACE as two representatives) along several dimensions: (i) low-level document and question attributes related to cognitive complexity [167, 170], e.g., the number of sentences or words per document or per question; (ii) document and question properties that can affect human perception of cognitive complexity, which include topical diversity, document and question readability [39, 147], etc.; and (iii) cognitive skill levels in accordance with Bloom's Revised Taxonomy [104].

6.5.1 Document & Question Lengths

Table 6.4 (rows 5—9) presents statistics on document and question lengths. It can be observed that while, on average, the number of words per sentence in the documents of *LearningQ* are not larger than in SQuAD/RACE, documents from both TED-Ed and Khan Academy are more than twice as longer than those from SQuAD and RACE. In particular, SQuAD documents are on average nearly ten times shorter than Khan Academy documents. The same observation holds for the questions in *LearningQ*, where question length is twice as long as that of SQuAD and RACE. Compared with those in Khan Academy, documents in TED-Ed are shorter. This is mainly due to the fact that TED-Ed encourages shorter videos on a single topic.

6.5.2 Topics, Interrogative Words, and Readability

To gain an overview of the topics, we applied Named Entity Recognition to obtain statistics on the entities. The results are shown in rows 10 and 11 of Table 6.4. To gain more insights into the semantics of the documents and questions, we report the most frequent terms (after stopword removal) in Table 6.5 across both documents and questions. To gain insights into the type of questions, we separately consider interrogative terms (such as who or why) in the rightmost part of Table 6.5 by keeping most stopwords but filtering out prepositions and definite articles.

We observe in Table 6.4 that documents in LearningQ on average contains 160% more entities than SQuAD and RACE, which is expected because LearningQ documents are longer. Yet, the number of entities in LearningQquestions are not significantly larger than SQuAD and RACE. In particular,

ToL	o Words	in Docum	ents		op to a do-					can'r io cn	CIUID
SQuAD	RACE	TED-Ed	KA	SQuAD	RACE	TED-Ed	KA	SQuAD	RACE	TED-Ed	KA
new	people	like	going	year	passage	$_{\mathrm{think}}$	number	what	what	what	what
city	say	people	let	\mathbf{type}	according	following	know	$_{\rm who}$	which	which	how
time	time	time	right	asu	following	people	\mathbf{Sal}	how	according	how	why
world	like	$_{\mathrm{know}}$	time	new	author	explain	mean	when	$_{\rm why}$	$_{\mathrm{why}}$:
asu	day	make	equal	city	writer	use	use	which	how	if	if
\mathbf{state}	new	way	say	people	people	time	like	where	when	when	can
century	school	call	\mathbf{plus}	call	$_{\mathrm{know}}$	like	right	$_{\rm why}$	if	$_{\rm who}$	$^{\mathrm{op}}$
united	make	world	negative	time	text	make	difference	according	$_{\rm who}$	according	when
war	year	$_{ m think}$	minus	war	learn	different	negative	whose	where	explain	are
know	world	different	$_{\mathrm{think}}$	located	probably	world	equation	if	list	where	would

questions in SQuAD contain 40% more entities than those in LearningQ. This is despite the fact that SQuAD documents are shortest overall, as we showed earlier. To eliminate the influence of question lengths and refine the analysis, we further observe that the percentage of entities among all the words (row 12) in SQuAD questions is higher than that in LearningQ questions. The same observation holds when comparing RACE with LearningQ. These observations imply that, on the one hand, documents in LearningQ are more complex concerning the number of involved entities; on the other hand, fewer questions related to entities, i.e., fewer factual questions, exist in LearningQ than the other datasets.

This interpretation is also supported by the top-k words shown in Table 6.5. We observe that while both documents and questions in SQuAD favor topics related to time and location (e.g., time, year, century, city, state), all data sources in LearningQ have fewer questions on these topics; more often in LearningQ questions, we find abstract words such as mean, difference, *function*, which are indicative of higher level cognitive skills being required. In line with this observation, we note that more interrogative words seeking factual details such as who and when rank high in the list of starting words of questions in SQuAD, while questions in LearningQ sources start much more frequently with why. This suggests that answering Learning Q questions often requires a deeper understanding of learning materials. Interestingly, one can observe in TED-Ed questions (in the middle part of the table) frequent words such as *think* and *explain*, which explicitly ask learners to process learning materials in a specific way. These required actions are directly related to learning objectives defined by Bloom's Revised Taxonomy, as we will analyze later. In addition to the above, another interesting observation from Table 6.5 is that learners frequently ask questions for the clarification of videos using words such as know, Sal (the name of the instructor who initially created most videos at Khan Academy in the early stage of the platform), and mean.

Readability. Readability is an important document and question property related to learning performance. Table 6.4 (rows 13—14) reports the Flesch readability scores of documents and questions in the compared datasets [39]. A piece of text with larger a Flesch readability score indicates it is easier to understand. Questions found alongside both Khan Academy videos and article possess similar readability scores, despite the different sources. This confirms our previous finding on the similarity between the two subsets of Khan Academy data. We, therefore, do not distinguish these two subsets in the following analyses focused on questions.

6.5.3 Cognitive Skill Levels

It is generally accepted in educational research that a good performance on assessment questions usually translates into "good learning" [72]. We first use Bloom's Revised Taxonomy to categorize the questions according to the required cognitive efforts behind them [104]. The taxonomy provides guidelines for educators to write learning objectives, design the curriculum and create assessment items aligned with the learning objectives. It consists of six learning objectives (requiring different cognitive skill levels from lower order to higher order):

- **Remembering**: questions that are designed for retrieving relevant knowledge from long-term memory.
- **Understanding**: questions that require constructing meaning from instructional messages, including oral, written and graphic communication.
- **Applying**: questions that ask for carrying out or using a procedure in a given situation.
- Analyzing: questions that require learners to break material into constituent parts and determine how parts relate to one another and to an overall structure or purpose.
- **Evaluating**: questions that ask for make judgments based on criteria and standards.
- **Creating**: questions that require learners to put elements together to form a coherent whole or to re-organize into a new pattern or structure.

To exemplify, we select one question example for each category that we collected from TED-Ed and Khan Academy, as shown in Table 6.6. Among the different learning objectives defined by Bloom's Revised Taxonomy, *analyzing* is an objective closely related to the task of automatic question generation. *analyzing* questions require the learner to understand the relationships between different parts of the learning material. Existing question generation methods [51], however, can usually only take one sentence as input. To cope with *analyzing* questions, state-of-the-art methods first need to determine the most relevant sentence in the learning material, which is then used as input to the question generator. This inevitably limits the ability of trained question generators to deliver meaningful *analyzing* questions covering multiple

Khan Academy Examples	What is a negative and a positive feedback in homeostasis?	Why can't voltage-gated channels be placed on the surface of myelin?	If i double the area and take the anted? If i double the fraction, do I get the same result?	ork facing Why did sea levels drop during the ice age?	throughout the Will all the cultures merge into one only a few kings big culture, due to the fading genetic es. Analyze and distinctions?	ren create two Can somebody please explain to me ive awareness what marginal benefits is and give brary kings and me some examples?
TED-Ed Examples	How big is an atom?	Why do some plankton migrate vertically?	What kind of invention would you make with s materials if you could get it in any form you w	Why are cities like London, Tokyo, and New Y shortages in burial ground space?	Mansa Musa is one of many African monarchs continent's rich history. Yet, the narratives of and queens are featured in television and movi	evaluate why you think that this is the case, the ideas for how we can work to bring more position of the history of Africa's ancient and contempc queens to students today.
Taxonomy	Remembering	Understanding	Applying	Analyzing	Evaluating	Creating

121

knowledge concepts scattered in the source documents. To understand the complexity of the LearningQ questions specifically from the point of view of training question generators, we also include in our analyses an exploration of the proportion of questions at various Bloom levels that require knowledge from multiple source document sentences.

Data Annotation. To facilitate our analysis, we recruited two experienced instructors to label 200 randomly sampled questions from each of the compared datasets according to Bloom's Revised Taxonomy. The Cohen's Kappa agreement score between the two annotators reached 0.73, which is a substantial agreement. In a second labeling step, we labeled the selected questions with their sentence(s) based on which they are generated.

Comparative Results. Table 6.7 shows the results of question classification according to Bloom's Revised Taxonomy. SQuAD only contains remembering questions, suggesting that it is the least complex dataset among all compared datasets regarding required cognitive skill levels. In general, we note a trend of decreasing percent of *remembering* questions (and increasing percentage of *understanding* questions) from SQuAD, RACE, to TED-Ed and Khan Academy. We can conclude that questions in LearningQdemand higher cognitive skills than those in SQuAD and RACE. Interestingly, among the two different LearningQ sources, we can observe that there are more understanding and applying questions in Khan Academy than in in TED-Ed, while there are more evaluating and creating questions in TED-Ed than in Khan Academy. This shows the inherent differences related to the corresponding learning activities between instructor-designed questions and learner-generated questions. The former is mainly used for assessment purpose and thus contains more questions of higher-order cognitive skill levels; the latter is generated during students' learning process (e.g., watching lecture videos and reading recommended materials) and is usually used to seek for a better understanding of the learning material. Note that 26.42% Khan Academy questions were labeled as either irrelevant or unknown due to being not useful for learning or missing enough context information for the labeler to assign a Bloom category. This aligns with the accuracy of the useful question classifier we reported in the data collection section.

In Table 6.8 we report the results of our source sentence(s) labeling efforts. From the statistics of # words in source sentences, we can observe an increasing requirement for reasoning over multiple sentences from SQuAD and RACE to TED-Ed and Khan Academy. Compared to the 98.5% of single sentence related questions in SQuAD, questions in TED-Ed (Khan Academy) are related to 3.53 (6.65) sentences on average in source documents. In par-

122

	SQuAD	RACE	TED- Ed	Khan Academy
Remembering	100	82.19	61.86	18.24
Understanding	0	18.26	38.66	55.97
Applying	0	0.46	9.79	12.58
Analyzing	0	8.22	14.95	15.09
Evaluating	0	1.37	4.12	1.89
Creating	0	0	1.55	0.63
Unknown/ Irrelevant	0	3.20	0	26.42

Table 6.7: Distribution of Bloom's Revised Taxonomy Labels.

	SQuAD	RACE	TED-Ed	KA
# Words	32.39	46.02	76.57	128.23
# Sent.	1.01	2.87	3.53	6.65
% ONE	98.53	37.10	28.63	9.43
% MULTIPLE	1.47	62.90	52.42	23.27
% EXTERNAL	0	0	18.95	38.99

Table 6.8: Results of Source Sentence Labelling. # Words/Sent. denote the average words/sentences in the labelled source sentences. % ONE/MULTIPLE/EX-TERNAL refer to the percentage of questions related to ONE single sentence, MULTIPLE sentences or require EXTERNAL knowledge to generate, respectively. KA denotes Khan Academy.

ticular, Table 6.8 (the last row) further shows that a large portion of the questions in LearningQ, especially in Khan Academy, cannot be answered by simply relying on the source document, as exemplied by the *evaluating/creating* question from TED-Ed in Table 6.6 and thus require external knowledge to generate.

6.6 Experiments and Results

In this section, we first conduct experiments to evaluate the performance of rule-based and deep neural network based methods in question generation using *LearningQ*. We aim to answer the following questions: 1) how effective are these methods at generating high-quality educational questions; 2) to what extent is their performance influenced by the learning topics; and 3) to

what extent does the source sentence(s) length affect the question generation performance.

Then, we evaluate the performance of the strategies for question-worthy sentence selection as proposed in Section 6.4 across the five datasets.

6.6.1 Experimental Setup

Comparison Methods for *LearningQ* **Evaluation.** We investigate a representative rule-based baseline and two state-of-the-art deep neural networks in question generation:

- H&S is a rule-based system which can be used to generate questions from source text for educational assessment and practice [69]. The system produces questions in a overgenerate-and-rank manner. We only evaluate the top-ranked question.
- Seq2Seq is a representative encoder-decoder sequence learning framework proposed for machine translation [144]. It automatically learns the patterns of transforming an input sentence into an output sentence based on training data.
- Attention Seq2Seq is the state-of-the-art method proposed in [51], which incorporates the global attention mechanism [103] into the encoderdecoder sequence learning framework during the decoding process. The attention mechanism allows the model to mimic humans problem-solving process by focusing on relevant information in the source text and using this information to generate a question.

We implemented the two neural network based methods on top of the OpenNMT system [92]. In accordance with the original work [144, 51], Bi-LSTM is used for the encoder and LSTM for the decoder. We tune all hyperparameters using the held-out validation set and select the parameters that achieve the lowest perplexity on the validation set. The number of LSTM layers is set to 2, and its number of hidden units is set to 600. The dimension of input word embedding is set to 300 and we use the pre-trained embeddings glove.840B.300d for initialization [124]. Model optimization is performed by applying Adam [89]; we set the learning rate to 0.001 and the dropout rate to 0.3. The gradient is clipped if it exceeds 5. We train the models for 15 epochs in mini-batches of 64. When generating a question, beam search with a beam size of 3 is used, and the generation stops when every beam in the stack produces the <EOS> (end-of-sentence) token.

Learning Q Preparation. We use the NLTK tool [16] to pre-process LearninqQ: lower-casing, tokenization and sentence splitting. To account for the fact that existing methods can only process a small number of sentences as input, we need to decide the source sentences that each question corresponds to before the evaluation. Instead of applying the nine sentence selection strategies we propose in Section 6.4, which are evaluated and compared in Section 6.6.3, here for each question, we use the following strategy inspired by approaches for text similarity [60] to locate the source sentences in the corresponding document most relevant to the question. If the target question contains a timestamp—e.g., "in 10:32, what does the Sal mean ..."—indicating the source sentence(s) location from which the target question is generated, we then choose that sentence as the starting sentence and compute the cosine similarity with the target question. We then go forwards and backwards in turns to determine whether including a nearby sentence would increase the cosine similarity between the target question and the source sentences. If yes, the nearby sentence is added. Otherwise, the search process stops. If a target question does not contain timestamp information, we select the sentence with the largest cosine similarity to the question to start our search the same way as described above to locate the source sentences. Due to the vanishing gradient problem in recurrent neural networks [76], we only keep data with source sentences containing no more than 100 words.

Notice that deep neural network based methods usually require a substantial amount of training data. The quantity of instructor-crafted questions in TED-Ed is not sufficient (7K). We, therefore, train the selected methods only on learner-generated questions. Concretely, we first merge all of the questions posted by Khan Academy learners on both lecture videos and reading materials, then randomly select 80% for training, 10% for validation and 10% for testing. At the same time, we also use all of the instructor-crafted questions as a second test set to investigate how effective the models built on learner-generated questions are in delivering instructor-crafted questions.

Unified Question Generator for Sentence Selection Evaluation. We also use *Attention Seq2Seq* as our testbed to evaluate the effectiveness of the proposed sentence selection strategies. To our knowledge, SQuAD is the only reading comprehension dataset with ground-truth labels of question-worthy sentence labels. Therefore, we use the labeled input sentences and the corresponding questions in SQuAD for training the question generator. We set the hyper-parameters as suggested in [51].

Notice that articles can be of different lengths and thus possibly contain different numbers of question-worthy sentences. During experiments, we believe the number of selected sentences should be dependent on the number of ground-truth questions gathered about an article: different ground-truth questions are seeking for different details about the article, i.e., based on different question-worthy sentences. We, therefore, evaluate the each of the questions generated by different selected sentences against all the groundtruth questions of the article and consider the result with the best performance as an indication of the selected sentence matched with the groundtruth question.

Datasets for Sentence Selection Evaluation. Generally, all reading comprehension datasets, i.e., those with questions and the corresponding documents which the questions are about, can be used to evaluate the selection strategies. We expect that the generated questions should be useful for learning purposes. Therefore, we select experimental datasets that contain natural questions designed by humans instead of search queries [114] or cloze-style questions [70]. With such consideration, we include five datasets for experiments: SQuAD [131], TriviaQA [83], MCTest [133], RACE [96], and LearningQ [33]. TriviaQA contains questions from trivia and quiz-league websites and evidence documents gathered from web search and Wikipedia. Here we only consider questions with evidence documents collected from Wikipedia, which results in 138K question-document pairs. MCTest consists of 660 stories written by crowd-workers and 2K associated questions about the stories. Recall that LearningQ contains both instructor-designed questions gathered from TED-Ed and learner-generated questions gathered from Khan Academy. As the learner-generated questions can be redundant about the same knowledge concepts (i.e., same sentences), to avoid concept bias, we only include the 7K instructor-designed questions for experiments on sentence selection.

Questions in SQuAD and TriviaQA mainly seek for factual details and the answers can be found as a piece of text in the source paragraph/article from Wikipedia. Questions in MCTest are designed for young children. RACE and LearningQ are collected in learning contexts: RACE questions are mainly used to assess students' knowledge level of English, whereas LearningQ covers a diverse set of educational topics, more complex articles, and the questions require higher-order cognitive skills to solve.

Evaluation Metrics. Similar to [51], we adopt Bleu 1, Bleu 2, Bleu 3, Bleu 4, Meteor and $Rouge_L$ for evaluation. Bleu-n scores rely on the maximum n-grams for counting the co-occurrences between a generated question and a set of reference questions; the average of Bleu is employed as final score [118]. Meteor computes the similarity between the generated question and the reference questions by taking synonyms, stemming and paraphrases into account

	${\bf Methods}$	Bleu 1	Bleu 2	Bleu 3	Bleu 4	Meteor	\mathbf{Rouge}_L
Khan Academy	H&S Seq2Seq Attn. Seq2Seq	$0.28 \\ 19.84 \\ 24.70$	$0.17 \\ 7.68 \\ 11.68$	$0.13 \\ 4.02 \\ 6.36$	$0.10 \\ 2.29 \\ 3.63$	$3.24 \\ 6.44 \\ 8.73$	$6.61 \\ 23.11 \\ 27.36$
TED-Ed	H&S Seq2Seq Attn. Seq2Seq	$0.38 \\ 12.96 \\ 15.83$	$0.22 \\ 3.95 \\ 5.63$	$0.17 \\ 1.82 \\ 2.63$	$0.15 \\ 0.73 \\ 1.15$	$3.00 \\ 4.34 \\ 5.32$	$6.52 \\ 16.09 \\ 17.69$

[47]. $Rouge_L$ reports the recall rate of the generated question concerning the reference questions based on the longest common sub-sequence [100].

Table 6.9: Performance of rule-based and deep neural network based methods on Learn-ingQ.

6.6.2 Evaluation on LearningQ

Results. Table 6.9 reports the performance of the selected methods on learner-generated questions from Khan Academy and instructor-designed questions from TED-Ed. We can observe that across all different evaluation metrics, the rule-based method H&S is outperformed by both deep neural network based methods. This confirms previous findings in the new context of learning that data-driven methods are a better approach for question generation. Among the two deep neural network based methods, Attention Seq2Seq consistently outperform Seq2Seq (*p*-value < .001, Paired t-test). This verifies that the attention mechanism is an effective approach for boosting the performance of educational question generation.

By comparing the performance of the selected methods on Khan Academy and on TED-Ed, we find that the performance of rule-based method H&S varies across different evaluation metrics. The performance measured by Bleu scores are higher on learner-generated questions than on instructor-designed questions, while it is low as measured by Meteor and $Rouge_L$. On the other hand, deep neural network based methods consistently reach a higher performance on learner-generated questions than on instructor-designed questions. Considering the fact that recurrent networks are less effective in handling long sentences, this could be due to two reasons: 1) the majority of questions in TED-Ed are related to multiple sentences as we found (Table 6.8); and 2) the questions generated by learners are generally shorter than those designed by instructors (Table 6.4). In later analysis, we further describe how the length of source sentences would affect question generation performance. The performance of the state-of-the-art methods is much lower on *Learn-ingQ* than on existing datatests. Attention Seq2Seq achieves a Bleu 4 score > 12 and a Meteor score > 16 on SQuAD, while on *LearningQ* it only achieves Bleu 4 scores of < 4/< 2 and Meteor scores of < 9/< 6 on learner-generated questions/instructor-designed questions, respectively. Similar results also hold for the other metrics.



Figure 6.1: Results of question generation on different learning subjects in Khan Academy.

Impacts of Subjects and Source Sentence Lengths. We now investigate the performance of Attention Seq2Seq in generating educational questions as affected by different subjects and different lengths of input source sentences.

The impact of the source document topic on question generation performance is shown for Khan Academy in Figure 6.1. We observe that question generation performance varies across subjects. In particular, Bleu 4 varies from < 2 to > 5 for learner-generated questions and from 0.38 to 0.92 for instructor-designed questions. Compared to Economics and College Admissions, question generation for Math and Science can usually achieve higher performance. A similar variation is also observed on TED-Ed. These results indicate that topics can affect question generation performance. Fully understanding the co-influence of topics and other document properties (e.g., difficulty) however requires more studies, which we leave to future work.

As we showed before (Table 6.8), educational questions are related to multiple source sentences in the documents. However, existing neural network methods usually take only one or two source sentences as input to generate questions. To further investigate the effectiveness of existing methods when taking source sentences of different lengths as input, we divide the testing set according to the length of their source sentences. The results are shown in Figure 6.2. In general, question generation performance decreases when the length of source sentences increases across all metrics for both Khan Academy and TED-Ed. This strongly suggests that the performance of the state-of-theart method is significantly limited by long source sentences.



Figure 6.2: Results of question generation with different source sentence lengths.

6.6.3 Evaluation on Sentence Selection Strategies

Table 6.10 reports the results of the proposed sentence selection strategies on four datasets. We do not show results on the SQuAD dataset, as we found that the performance of different sentence selection strategies on SQuAD shows little variance, owing to the small number of sentences in the SQuAD documents (Wikipedia paragraphs, with five sentences on average). For the

Metrics	Blue 1	Blue 2	Blue 3	Blue 4	Meteor	\mathbf{Rouge}_L	Blue 1	Blue 2	Blue 3	Blue 4	Meteor	\mathbf{Rouge}_L
Dataset			Triv	viaQA					\mathbb{R}^{J}	ACE		
Random	6.69	2.07	0.70	0.31	6.21	8.29	4.24	1.28	0.45	0.20	5.74	11.47
$\operatorname{Beginning}$	9.42	3.67	1.51	0.74	6.66	10.70	4.50	1.33	0.43	0.18	5.95	11.82
Longest	3.37	1.21	0.45	0.21	3.57	8.67	6.48	2.08	0.74	0.33	7.83	12.84
Hardest	1.99	0.66	0.23	0.11	2.37	6.84	4.36	1.35	0.47	0.21	5.51	11.60
Concept	0.73	0.19	0.06	0.02	1.63	4.04	2.74	0.86	0.34	0.16	3.41	10.69
ConceptType	1.94	0.57	0.19	0.08	2.94	6.02	2.78	0.88	0.35	0.17	3.45	10.71
LexRank	8.79	3.11	1.14	0.52	5.54	9.81	5.47	1.73	0.63	0.29	6.79	12.59
MMR	7.13	2.44	0.92	0.42	5.06	8.93	4.45	1.39	0.51	0.24	5.78	11.75
Novel	3.25	1.12	0.42	0.20	3.47	8.28	5.89	1.80	0.61	0.26	7.59	12.32
Dataset			Lear	rningQ					MC	CTest		
Random	5.66	1.48	0.43	0.14	5.55	14.83	4.18	1.41	0.55	0.21	7.04	16.46
$\operatorname{Beginning}$	5.02	1.29	0.37	0.13	5.13	14.53	4.69	1.56	0.63	0.27	7.93	17.36
Longest	6.34	1.81	0.57	0.22	9.10	16.86	5.75	1.99	0.79	0.29	9.95	17.96
Hardest	5.92	1.60	0.52	0.21	5.77	15.48	4.41	1.42	0.51	0.18	7.53	16.73
Concept	4.57	1.25	0.40	0.16	4.77	14.20	3.92	1.48	0.60	0.27	5.72	16.71
ConceptType	4.75	1.29	0.41	0.16	4.91	14.24	4.01	1.49	0.60	0.28	5.89	16.66
LexRank	6.74	1.91	0.62	0.26	7.44	16.40	5.24	1.85	0.70	0.22	8.55	18.13
MMR	5.86	1.53	0.47	0.17	5.72	15.12	4.53	1.53	0.57	0.22	7.52	17.20
Novel	6.00	1.64	0.50	0.17	8.93	16.28	4.92	1.58	0.57	0.20	9.15	17.14
Tabla 6 10.	Fynarima	intal resul	ts on Triv	ria⊖A B ⁄	ACE. Lear	ningO and	MCTast	The ton t	hrae recul	te in each	metric are	in hold

other datasets, we highlight the top-3 strategies for each dataset. Based on these results, several interesting findings are observed as follows.

For the TriviaQA dataset, *Beginning* achieves the best performance, indicating that most questions in TriviaQA are about the first sentence in the source document. Considering that the articles of TriviaQA are collected from Wikipedia, such a result can be interpreted by the fact that the first sentences of Wikipedia paragraphs/articles often contain the most important information worth asking about [171]. This observation can be further verified by the well-performing results given by *LexRank* and *MRR* – ranking at the 2nd and 3rd position, respectively – which also identifies important sentences but uses a different method. Overall, these results show that importance based strategies are more effective than informativeness based (e.g., *Longest, Concept*), difficulty based (i.e., *Hardest*), or novelty based ones (i.e., *Novel*).

For the two datasets collected in learning contexts, namely RACE and LearningQ, Longest, LexRank, and Novel generally show better performance than the other strategies. Such a result suggests that questions in learning related datasets are relevant to a more diverse set of sentences, i.e., those informative, important, or contain novel information, a result we believe is due to the diverse learning goals related to the questions. We further observe big gaps between these three strategies and the remaining ones. For example, Longest, LexRank, and Novel are the only strategies achieving Blue 1 scores greater than 5 and Meteor scores greater than six on RACE. This observation reveals that sentence selection strategies based on similar sentence properties however measured through different textual features (e.g., Longest vs. Concept and LexRank vs. Beginning) can have big variance in terms of performance. This highlights the importance of selecting appropriate textual features in question-worthy sentence selection.

Similar results also hold on the MCTest dataset: Longest, LexRank, and Novel generally achieve good performance, which suggests that questions in MCTest are also relevant to a diverse set of sentences. On the other hand, strategies such as Beginning and ConceptMax also perform well on several metrics, signifying that different measures of sentence properties (e.g., informativeness using Longest and ConceptMax) do not necessarily lead to highly different sentence selection results on MCTest. Despite this, we can observe that LexRank is the only sentence selection strategy consistently ranking in top-3 across all the five considered datasets, demonstrating its superior robustness against all the other compared strategies.
6.7 Conclusion

In this chapter, we present LearningQ, a large-scale dataset for automatically generating educational questions by applying the state-of-the-art deep neural network approaches. It consists of 230K document-question pairs produced by both instructors and learners. To our knowledge, LearningQ is the first dataset that covers a wide range of educational topics, and the questions require a full spectrum of cognitive skills to solve. Extensive evaluation of state-of-the-art question generation methods on LearningQ shows that LearningQ is a challenging dataset that deserves significant future investigation. Moreover, we propose nine sentence selection strategies inspired by different question-asking heuristics and experiments on multiple datasets show that the beginning sentence is often worth questioning about for Wikipedia articles, while questions in learning contexts feature source sentences that are informative, important, or contain novel information.

As an implication for future research on question generation, deep neural network based methods can be further enhanced by considering the relationships among multiple source sentences and combining different strategies for selecting question-worthy sentences in question generation.

Chapter 7

Conclusion

MOOCs have been recognized as an important tool to achieve inclusive and equitable quality education and promote lifelong learning opportunities for people all over the world [121]. Typically, there are two types of MOOC platforms: *topic-agnostic* MOOC platforms like edX and Coursera provide courses covering various topics, while *topic-specific* MOOC platforms like Duolingo and Codeacademy focus on courses in one single topic. Existing research on MOOCs mainly used learner traces (e.g., video clicks, quiz submissions, forum entries) generated *within* the *topic-agnostic* MOOC platforms to investigate MOOC learning [37, 38, 66, 149]. In this thesis, we focused on (i) *learner modeling* and (ii) generation of educational material for both of the *topic-agnostic* and *topic-specific* MOOC platforms. In this chapter, we summarize the main contributions made in this thesis and provide an outlook on future research directions.

7.1 Summary of Contributions

To employ the Social Web to model learners from the topic-agnostic MOOC platforms, we investigated whether MOOC learners are active in Social Web platforms and how to reliably identify these learners across multiple platforms. Concretely, in **Chapter 2** we answered the following research questions:

RQ 1.1 On what Social Web platforms can a significant fraction of MOOC learners be identified?

RQ 1.2 Are learners who demonstrate specific sets of traits on the Social Web drawn to certain types of MOOCs?

RQ 1.3 To what extent do **Social Web** platforms enable us to observe (specific) user attributes that are highly relevant to the online learning experience?

To answer those questions, we investigated to what extent learners from eighteen MOOCs in edX could be discovered across five popular Social Web platforms (i.e., Gravatar, Twitter, LinkedIn, StackExchange and GitHub) and further derived a set of learner attributes from these platforms to investigate learners' behaviors in MOOCs. Depending on the MOOC-platform combination, we identified between 1% and 42% of learners (5% on average) in the five considered platforms (**RQ 1.1**). In the most extreme case, 42%of learners from a Functional Programming MOOC could be identified in GitHub. We also showed that learners with specific traits were attracted to different types of MOOCs (**RQ 1.2**). In particular, we presented a first investigation into the knowledge application behavior of learners, i.e., *learning* transfer, beyond the MOOC platform over time (**RQ 1.3**). We provided a reliable methodology to gather information about learners by moving from the MOOC platform to the wider Social Web. More importantly, we demonstrated that a set of valuable learner attributes relevant to MOOC learning can be derived from the Social Web. The data-driven approaches used in our work can be applied in not only the MOOC setting but also other educational settings like e-learning courses as well as campus-based courses, as long as the learners can be identified in the Social Web.

After observing that learners of programming courses actively engaged with GitHub, we considered the Functional Programming MOOC as a specific case and continued the investigation of learning transfer. Concretely, in Chapter 3 we answered the following research questions: **RQ 2.1** To what extent do learners from a programming MOOC transfer the newly gained knowledge to practice?

RQ 2.2 What type of learners are most likely to make the transfer?

RQ 2.3 How does the transfer manifest itself over time?

To answer those questions, we conducted a large-scale longitudinal analysis, in which both the learning traces generated within the MOOC platform and the coding traces collected from GitHub were used. We observed that about 8% of engaged learners, who had no prior knowledge in functional programming, began programming functionally after the MOOC (**RQ 2.1**). In addition, learners were more likely to make the transfer if they had (i) intrinsical motivation, (ii) high self-efficacy, (iii) prior experience in programming, and (iv) a high personal capacity (**RQ 2.2**). Lastly, neither a significant transfer increase nor decrease was observed over half a year after the course (**RQ 2.3**). By examining programming learners' uptake of knowledge after the MOOC, instructors can not only gain a better understanding of the course influence on learners but also evaluate the current course and design future courses to induce more knowledge transfer.

Most existing research focused on investigating learner behaviors in topicagnostic MOOC platforms. We used the three large-scale language learning datasets, which were released by Duolingo in the Second Language Acquisition Modeling challenge, to enable a better understanding of learners in the topic-specific MOOC platforms. Concretely, in **Chapter 4** we answered the following research question:

RQ 3.1 What factors are correlated with learners' language learning performance?

To answer the question, we conducted an analysis on the three Duolingo datasets and demonstrated that factors like the amount of time spent in learning and the devices being used were related to learners' accuracy in solving exercises and the amount of vocabulary learned. Furthermore, based on the results, we designed a set of features and examined their effectiveness in predicting learners' future performance in the setting of second language acquisition.

As demonstrated in Chapter 3, learners indeed transferred the knowledge acquired from a MOOC to practice. We further investigated whether learners could apply the acquired knowledge to solve real-world tasks, i.e., paid tasks collected from online marketplaces which can be solved by learning with the course. If learners are capable of solving such tasks, ultimately, we envision to construct a recommender system to suggest learners solve paid freelancing tasks relevant to the course, as a possible means to earn money when learning with the course. Concretely, in **Chapter 5** we answered the following research questions:

RQ 4.1 Are MOOC learners able to solve real-world (paid) tasks from an online work platform with sufficient accuracy and quality?

RQ 4.2 How applicable is the knowledge gained from MOOCs to paid tasks offered by online work platforms?

RQ 4.3 To what extent can an online work platform support MOOC learners (i.e., are there enough tasks available for everyone)?

RQ 4.4 What role do real-world (paid) tasks play in the engagement of MOOC learners?

To answer those questions, we designed a study, in which we manually selected a set of tasks from Upwork and deployed them into a MOOC teaching data analysis as bonus exercises for learners to solve. We demonstrated that learners could solve the paid tasks with the knowledge gained from the course with high accuracy and quality (RQ 4.1 & RQ 4.2). However, there were not sufficient tasks available on Upwork to sustain the learner population throughout the entire run of the course (**RQ 4.3**). We also observed that real-world tasks were likely to have a positive effect on learners' course engagement (**RQ 4.4**). Our study contributed the first step to develop a paid task recommender systems that we envisioned to help learners earn money when learning with a MOOC. With more online marketplace platforms considered and a larger number of paid tasks retrieved, we hypothesize the proposed system can truly help learners, especially learners who suffer from poor financial situations and consequently have a limited amount of time for learning because of the need to work and earn a living, to gain more time to learn with MOOCs.

Driven by the importance of questions in learning and the need of easing instructors' burden in manually creating a large question bank to meet the needs of various learners, we explored the Social Web to collect a large-scale educational question dataset. With the collected dataset, we investigated whether an educational question generator could be constructed and how to effectively select question-worthy sentences from an article. Concretely, in Chapter 6 we answered the following research questions:

RQ 5.1 Can a large-scale and high-quality educational question dataset be collected from the Social Web?

RQ 5.2 What are effective strategies in identifying question-worthy sentences from an article?

To answer those questions, we turned to education-oriented Social Web platforms. Specifically, we targeted TED-Ed and Khan Academy as our main data sources and collected a large-scale educational question dataset (*LearningQ*), which consists of over 230K document-question pairs generated by both instructors and learners (**RQ 5.1**). In particular, the questions contained in *LearningQ* vary in all cognitive levels in the Bloom's Revised Taxonomy and cover a wide range of learning topics. With *LearningQ* as a testbed, we demonstrated the research challenges in constructing an educational question generator and examined the effectiveness of nine strategies in selecting question-worthy sentences from an article for educational question generation (**RQ 5.2**).

7.2 Future Work

This thesis has contributed novel technical approaches to model learners and generate educational material for both topic-agnostic and topic-specific MOOC platforms. However, there is still space for improvements. In this section, we provide an outlook on interesting research directions in MOOCs opened up by the research conducted in this thesis.

7.2.1 Adaptive Learning in MOOCs

Adaptive learning is an educational approach which employs computational algorithms to decide what learning materials should be presented to a learner so as to address the unique needs of the learner [85, 107, 120, 152]. Though being recognized as essential by instructors, adaptive learning has not been fully supported and investigated in MOOCs yet. One key step before enabling effective adaptive learning is to construct learner models, which are built based on learner data. However, there is no data about learners available in the learning platform at the beginning of a course unless they have been active in the platform before and, even then, the learners' knowledge on the course topic might still be unknown to the instructors.

Our works presented in Chapters 2-3 have demonstrated that it is possible to enhance the construction of a learner model by mining the Social Web. To further the learner model construction in MOOCs, in addition to the eight Social Web platforms investigated in this thesis, it will be valuable to explore other Social Web platforms (e.g., YouTube, Instagram, Quora) to reveal a more diverse set of learner attributes in the future. These attributes could be learners' interests, prior knowledge, learning preferences, personal goals, social relations, and so on. Building upon the enhanced learner models, future work can also focus on developing effective adaptive algorithms to personalize learner experiences in MOOCs. For instance, what learner attributes should be considered to generate a personalized learning path for a MOOC learner? What are the influences of prior knowledge on learners' learning paths? How can personalized learning strategies (e.g., tips in time management [91]) be generated based on the learner models? How can the temporal dynamics of learner behaviors be captured and used to provide adaptive learning supports (e.g., recommended learning paths, personalized learning strategies)?

7.2.2 Interactive Learning in MOOCs

Interactive learning is a pedagogical model which encourages learners to interact with each other instead of passively absorbing the knowledge taught in the course [102]. In the classroom setting, interactive learning occurs in a variety of forms such as hands-on group projects and class discussions. However, in the MOOC setting, learning takes place in an asynchronous manner, and learners' interaction with instructors and peers are mostly limited to the discussion forum. Thus, learners cannot gain a wealth of experience in interactive learning.

Future research on developing interactive tools for MOOC learners can be built on the works presented in this thesis. Specifically, with the data collected from the **Social Web**, e.g., the *LearningQ* in Chapter 6, an intelligent personal assistant can be constructed and used to help MOOC learners by providing the support they need. The support could be: discussing questions, scheduling time for learning, providing emotional support, and so on. Future research can first work on investigating what learning support is needed in the MOOC setting. For each kind of support, it will be valuable to explore what data and techniques can be used to enable the support. Furthermore, how should the interface of the assistant be designed so as to engage learners? What are effective strategies to allow the assistant to interact with learners?

7.2.3 Content Enrichment in MOOCs

Most existing MOOCs in the major topic-agnostic platforms adopt the onesize-fits-all approach, i.e., providing the same set of learning materials to all learners in a MOOC. However, these learners are often of high diversity (e.g., their demographics [36, 74, 177]) and likely to have different learning needs, which demand the MOOC to contain a larger and more diverse set of learning materials instead of only a limited number of videos and quizzes to meet their needs. To enrich MOOC content, there have been several studies working on *Learnersourcing* [61], i.e., employing the intelligence of learners enrolled in a MOOC to gather or create more content for the MOOC. However, Learnersourcing faces the problem of lacking enough responses from learners as such content gathering and creation process is very cognitively demanding and time-consuming.

Our works presented in Chapters 5-6 demonstrated the potential of the Social Web in enriching MOOCs. Building on the work presented in Chapter 5, future research can focus on developing techniques to automatically retrieve relevant freelancing tasks and determine their relevance and suitability to a course. Considering that a large number of freelancing tasks are with high payment and more challenging to solve, it will be interesting to investigate how to enable the partition of a high-payment task across several learners. Ideally, such partition can motivate the learners to learn and solve the task together and then the learners can share the payment. In Chapter 6, we focused on generating text-based questions with the aid of LearningQ. In addition to text-based questions, future research can also work on the generation of questions consisting of not only text but also plots and images, which are necessary for course topics like math and physics. Furthermore, how can the answers provided by learners to the generated questions be automatically assessed? As demonstrated in Chapter 6, educational content creation is a cognitively demanding task, which we believe cannot be achieved by simply exploiting the power of machines in the near future. We hypothesize that MOOC content enrichment can be greatly enhanced by combining the power of humans and machines, e.g., using human intelligence as a means to refine low-quality questions generated by the algorithms. How can learners effectively assist machines to create course content? What are the effects on learning by enabling learners to create course content? How can the usefulness of the created content be measured? How can the feedback provided by learners in the process of content creation be effectively utilized (e.g., by applying reinforcement learning [145]) to further improve the performance of algorithms?

_____ |

Bibliography

- Fabian Abel, Qi Gao, Geert-Jan Houben, and Ke Tao. Semantic enrichment of twitter posts for user profile construction on the social web. In *The Semanic Web: Research and Applications*, pages 375–389. 2011.
- [2] Lea T. Adams, Jane E. Kasserman, Alison Yearwood, Greg A. Perfetto, John D. Bransford, and Jeffery J. Franks. Memory access: The effects of fact-oriented versus problem-oriented acquisition. *Memory & Cognition*, 16(2):167–175, 1988.
- [3] David Adamson, Divyanshu Bhartiya, Biman Gujral, Radhika Kedia, Ashudeep Singh, and Carolyn P Rosé. Automatically generating discussion questions. In AIED, 2013.
- [4] Anant Agarwal. News About edX Certificates, 2015.
- [5] Carlos Alario-Hoyos, Mar Pérez-Sanagustín, Carlos Delgado-Kloos, Mario Muñoz-Organero, Antonio Rodríguez-de-las Heras, et al. Analysing the impact of built-in and external social tools in a mooc on educational technologies. In *European Conference on Technology Enhanced Learning*, pages 5–18. Springer, 2013.
- [6] Bradley M Allan and Roland G Fryer. *The power and pitfalls of education incentives.* Brookings Institution, Hamilton Project, 2011.
- [7] Yoram Bachrach, Michal Kosinski, Thore Graepel, Pushmeet Kohli, and David Stillwell. Personality and patterns of facebook usage. In Web Science '12, pages 24–32, 2012.
- [8] Harry P. Bahrick, Lorraine E. Bahrick, Audrey S. Bahrick, and Phyllis E. Bahrick. Maintenance of foreign language vocabulary and the spacing effect. *Psychological Science*, 4(5):316–321, 1993. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9280.1993.tb00571.x. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/ j.1467-9280.1993.tb00571.x.

- [9] Mukund Balasubramanian and Eric L Schwartz. The isomap algorithm and topological stability. *Science*, 295:7–7, 2002.
- [10] Timothy T. Baldwin and Kevin J. Ford. Transfer of training: A review and directions for future research. *Personnel Psychology*, 41(1):63–105, 1988.
- [11] David Bamman, Jacob Eisenstein, and Tyler Schnoebelen. Gender identity and lexical variation in social media. *Journal of Sociolinguis*tics, 18(2):135–160, 2014.
- [12] Albert Bandura. Self-efficacy: toward a unifying theory of behavioral change. *Psychological review*, 84(2):191–215, 1977.
- [13] Susan M. Barnett and Stephen J. Ceci. When and where do we apply what we learn? a taxonomy for far transfer. *Psychological bulletin*, 128 (4):612–637, 2002.
- [14] Adam Bermingham and Alan F Smeaton. On using twitter to monitor political sentiment and predict election results. *IJCNLP 2011 Work-shop*, pages 2–10, 2011.
- [15] Ellen Bialystok. A theoretical model of second language learning. Language learning, 28(1):69–83, 1978.
- [16] Steven Bird and Edward Loper. NLTK: the natural language toolkit. In ACL, 2004.
- [17] Robert A. Bjork. Memory and metamemory considerations in the training of human beings. *Metacognition: Knowing about knowing*, pages 185–205, 1994.
- [18] Robert A. Bjork and Elizabeth L. Bjork. A new theory of disuse and an old theory of stimulus fluctuation. From learning processes to cognitive processes: Essays in honor of William K. Estes, 2:35–67, 1992.
- [19] Brian D Blume, J Kevin Ford, Timothy T Baldwin, and Jason L Huang. Transfer of training: A meta-analytic review. *Journal of management*, 36(4):1065–1105, 2010.
- [20] Kurt A Boniecki and Stacy Moore. Breaking the silence: Using a token economy to reinforce classroom participation. *Teaching of Psychology*, 30(3):224–227, 2003.

- [21] Lori Breslow, David E Pritchard, Jennifer DeBoer, Glenda S Stump, Andrew D Ho, and Daniel T Seaton. Studying learning in the worldwide classroom: Research into edx' s first mooc. *Research & Practice in Assessment*, 8(1):13–25, 2013.
- [22] Bruce K Britton and Abraham Tesser. Effects of time-management practices on college grades. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 83(3): 405–410, 1991.
- [23] Jaime Carbonell and Jade Goldstein. The use of mmr, diversity-based reranking for reordering documents and producing summaries. In SI-GIR, pages 335–336, 1998.
- [24] Robert M. Carini, George D. Kuh, and Stephen P. Klein. Student engagement and student learning: Testing the linkages*. *Re*search in Higher Education, 47(1):1–32, Feb 2006. ISSN 1573-188X. doi: 10.1007/s11162-005-8150-9. URL https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11162-005-8150-9.
- [25] David M Carkenord. Motivating students to read journal articles. Teaching of Psychology, 21(3):162–164, 1994.
- [26] Casey Casalnuovo, Bogdan Vasilescu, Premkumar Devanbu, and Vladimir Filkov. Developer onboarding in github: the role of prior social links and language experience. In *Proceedings of the 2015 10th Joint Meeting on Foundations of Software Engineering*, pages 817–828. ACM, 2015.
- [27] Hao Cen, Kenneth Koedinger, and Brian Junker. Learning factors analysis–a general method for cognitive model evaluation and improvement. In *International Conference on Intelligent Tutoring Systems*, pages 164–175. Springer, 2006.
- [28] G. Chen, D. Davis, M. Krause, E. Aivaloglou, C. Hauff, and G. Houben. From learners to earners: Enabling mooc learners to apply their skills and earn money in an online market place. *IEEE Transactions on Learning Technologies*, 11(2):264–274, April 2018. ISSN 1939-1382. doi: 10.1109/TLT.2016.2614302.
- [29] Gilad Chen, Stanley M. Gully, and Dov Eden. Validation of a new general self-efficacy scale. Organizational research methods, 4(1):62–83, 2001.

- [30] Guanliang Chen, Dan Davis, Claudia Hauff, and Geert-Jan Houben. Learning transfer: Does it take place in moocs? an investigation into the uptake of functional programming in practice. In *Proceedings of the Third (2016) ACM Conference on Learning @ Scale*, L@S '16, pages 409–418, New York, NY, USA, 2016. ACM. ISBN 978-1-4503-3726-7. doi: 10.1145/2876034.2876035. URL http://doi.acm.org/10.1145/ 2876034.2876035.
- [31] Guanliang Chen, Dan Davis, Jun Lin, Claudia Hauff, and Geert-Jan Houben. Beyond the mooc platform: Gaining insights about learners from the social web. In *Proceedings of the 8th ACM Conference on Web Science*, WebSci '16, pages 15–24, New York, NY, USA, 2016. ACM. ISBN 978-1-4503-4208-7. doi: 10.1145/2908131.2908145. URL http://doi.acm.org/10.1145/2908131.2908145.
- [32] Guanliang Chen, Claudia Hauff, and Geert-Jan Houben. Feature engineering for second language acquisition modeling. In Proceedings of the Thirteenth Workshop on Innovative Use of NLP for Building Educational Applications, pages 356–364, 2018.
- [33] Guanliang Chen, Jie Yang, Claudia Hauff, and Geert-Jan Houben. Learningq: A large-scale dataset for educational question generation. In *ICWSM*, 2018.
- [34] Tianqi Chen and Carlos Guestrin. Xgboost: A scalable tree boosting system. In Proceedings of the 22nd acm sigkdd international conference on knowledge discovery and data mining, pages 785–794. ACM, 2016.
- [35] Noam Chomsky. Conditions on transformations, 1973.
- [36] Gayle Christensen, Andrew Steinmetz, Brandon Alcorn, Amy Bennett, Deirdre Woods, and Ezekiel J Emanuel. The mooc phenomenon: who takes massive open online courses and why? Available at SSRN 2350964, 2013.
- [37] Derrick Coetzee, Armando Fox, Marti A Hearst, and Björn Hartmann. Should your mooc forum use a reputation system? In CSCW '14, pages 1176–1187, 2014.
- [38] Derrick Coetzee, Seongtaek Lim, Armando Fox, Bjorn Hartmann, and Marti A Hearst. Structuring interactions for large-scale synchronous peer learning. In CSCW '15, pages 1139–1152, 2015.

- [39] Kevyn Collins-Thompson. Computational assessment of text readability: A survey of current and future research. *ITL-International Journal* of Applied Linguistics, 165(2):97–135, 2014.
- [40] Albert T Corbett and John R Anderson. Knowledge tracing: Modeling the acquisition of procedural knowledge. User modeling and useradapted interaction, 4(4):253–278, 1994.
- [41] D. Correa and A. Sureka. Integrating issue tracking systems with community-based question and answering websites. In 2013 22nd Australian Software Engineering Conference, pages 88–96, June 2013. doi: 10.1109/ASWEC.2013.20.
- [42] Juan Cruz-Benito, Oriol Borrás-Gené, Francisco J García-Peñalvo, Ángel Fidalgo Blanco, and Roberto Therón. Extending mooc ecosystems using web services and software architectures. In *Interacción '15*, pages 52:1–52:7, 2015.
- [43] Céline Darnon, Fabrizio Butera, and Judith M. Harackiewicz. Achievement goals in social interactions: Learning with mastery vs. performance goals. *Motivation and Emotion*, 31(1):61–70, 2007.
- [44] Peter de Vries and Thieme Hennis. Tu delft online learning research working paper #6, 2014.
- [45] Jennifer DeBoer, Andrew D. Ho, Glenda S. Stump, and Lori Breslow. Changing "course": Reconceptualizing educational variables for massive open online courses. *Educational Researcher*, 43(2):74–84, 2014.
- [46] Edward L Deci, Richard Koestner, and Richard M Ryan. A metaanalytic review of experiments examining the effects of extrinsic rewards on intrinsic motivation. *Psychological bulletin*, 125(6):627–668, 1999.
- [47] Michael Denkowski and Alon Lavie. Meteor universal: Language specific translation evaluation for any target language. In SMT, 2014.
- [48] L Quentin Dixon, Jing Zhao, Blanca G Quiroz, and Jee-Young Shin. Home and community factors influencing bilingual children's ethnic language vocabulary development. *International Journal of Bilingualism*, 16(4):541–565, 2012.
- [49] John J. Donovan and David J. Radosevich. A meta-analytic review of the distribution of practice effect: Now you see it, now you don't. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 84(5):795–805, 1999.

- [50] Xinya Du and Claire Cardie. Identifying where to focus in reading comprehension for neural question generation. In *EMNLP*, 2017.
- [51] Xinya Du, Junru Shao, and Claire Cardie. Learning to ask: Neural question generation for reading comprehension. In ACL, 2017.
- [52] Lars Eldén. Matrix methods in data mining and pattern recognition, volume 4. SIAM, 2007.
- [53] Günes Erkan and Dragomir R Radev. Lexrank: Graph-based lexical centrality as salience in text summarization. *Journal of Artificial Intelligence Research*, 22:457–479, 2004.
- [54] George Farkas, Robert P Grobe, Daniel Sheehan, and Yuan Shuan. Cultural resources and school success: Gender, ethnicity, and poverty groups within an urban school district. *American Sociological Review*, pages 127–142, 1990.
- [55] Ángel Fidalgo-Blanco, María Luisa Sein-Echaluce, Francisco J. García-Peñalvo, and Javier Esteban Escaño. Improving the mooc learning outcomes throughout informal learning activities. In *TEEM '14*, pages 611–617, 2014.
- [56] Kevin J. Ford, Miguel A. Quinones, Douglas J. Sego, and Joann S. Sorra. Factors affecting the opportunity to perform trained tasks on the job. *Personnel Psychology*, 45(3):511–527, 1992.
- [57] Thomas Friedman. Revolution hits the universities. The New York Times, January 26, 2013.
- [58] Roland G Fryer Jr. Financial incentives and student achievement: Evidence from randomized trials. Technical Report 15898, National Bureau of Economic Research, 2010.
- [59] Francisco J García-Peñalvo, Juan Cruz-Benito, Oriol Borrás-Gené, and Ángel Fidalgo Blanco. Evolution of the conversation and knowledge acquisition in social networks related to a mooc course. In *Learning* and Collaboration Technologies, pages 470–481. 2015.
- [60] Wael H Gomaa and Aly A Fahmy. A survey of text similarity approaches. International Journal of Computer Applications, 68(13), 2013.
- [61] Paul Grau, Oisin Daly Kiaer, and Yoo Jin Lim. Verbivore: Learnersourcing vocabulary flashcards. 2016.

- [62] Yongqi Gu and Robert Keith Johnson. Vocabulary learning strategies and language learning outcomes. Language learning, 46(4):643–679, 1996.
- [63] Philip J. Guo and Katharina Reinecke. Demographic differences in how students navigate through moocs. In *Proceedings of the First* ACM Conference on Learning @ Scale Conference, L@S '14, pages 21– 30, New York, NY, USA, 2014. ACM. ISBN 978-1-4503-2669-8. doi: 10.1145/2556325.2566247. URL http://doi.acm.org/10.1145/2556325. 2566247.
- [64] Philip J Guo and Katharina Reinecke. Demographic differences in how students navigate through moocs. In L@S '14, pages 21–30, 2014.
- [65] Philip J. Guo, Juho Kim, and Rob Rubin. How video production affects student engagement: an empirical study of mooc videos. In *Proceedings* of the First ACM Conference on Learning at Scale, pages 41–50, 2014.
- [66] Philip J Guo, Juho Kim, and Rob Rubin. How video production affects student engagement: An empirical study of mooc videos. In L@S '14, pages 41–50, 2014.
- [67] DD Guttenplan. Motivating students with cash-for-grades incentive. The New York Times, November 20, 2011.
- [68] Bo Han, Paul Cook, and Timothy Baldwin. Text-based twitter user geolocation prediction. *Journal of Artificial Intelligence Research*, pages 451–500, 2014.
- [69] Michael Heilman and Noah A. Smith. Good question! statistical ranking for question generation. In *HLT-NAACL*, 2010.
- [70] Karl Moritz Hermann, Tomas Kocisky, Edward Grefenstette, Lasse Espeholt, Will Kay, Mustafa Suleyman, and Phil Blunsom. Teaching machines to read and comprehend. In *NIPS*, pages 1693–1701, 2015.
- [71] F. Hermans, M. Pinzger, and A. van Deursen. Detecting code smells in spreadsheet formulas. In *Proceedings of the 28th IEEE Software Maintenance Conference*, pages 409–418, 2012.
- [72] K Michael Hibbard et al. Performance-Based Learning and Assessment. A Teacher's Guide. 1996.
- [73] Thomas Hill, Nancy D. Smith, and Millard F. Mann. Role of efficacy expectations in predicting the decision to use advanced technologies:

The case of computers. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 72(2):307–313, 1987.

- [74] Andrew D. Ho, Isaac Chuang, Justin Reich, and Cody A. Coleman *et al.* Harvardx and mitx: Two years of open online courses fall 2012summer 2014. SSRN 2586847, 2015.
- [75] Sepp Hochreiter and Jürgen Schmidhuber. Long short-term memory. Neural computation, 9(8):1735–1780, 1997.
- [76] Sepp Hochreiter, Yoshua Bengio, Paolo Frasconi, Jürgen Schmidhuber, et al. Gradient flow in recurrent nets: the difficulty of learning longterm dependencies, 2001.
- [77] Arthur E Hoerl and Robert W Kennard. Ridge regression: Biased estimation for nonorthogonal problems. *Technometrics*, 12(1):55–67, 1970.
- [78] Elwood F. Holton III, Reid A. Bates, and Wendy E.A. Ruona. Development of a generalized learning transfer system inventory. *Human* resource development quarterly, 11(4):333–360, 2000.
- [79] David John Hughes, Moss Rowe, Mark Batey, and Andrew Lee. A tale of two sites: Twitter vs. facebook and the personality predictors of social media usage. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 28(2):561–569, 2012.
- [80] Srećko Joksimović, Nia Dowell, Oleksandra Skrypnyk, Vitomir Kovanović, Dragan Gašević, Shane Dawson, and Arthur C Graesser. How do you connect?: Analysis of social capital accumulation in connectivist moocs. In *LAK '15*, pages 64–68, 2015.
- [81] Srećko Joksimović, Vitomir Kovanović, Jelena Jovanović, Amal Zouaq, Dragan Gašević, and Marek Hatala. What do cmooc participants talk about in social media?: A topic analysis of discourse in a cmooc. In LAK '15, pages 156–165, 2015.
- [82] Katy Jordan. Initial trends in enrolment and completion of massive open online courses. The International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning, 15(1), 2014.
- [83] Mandar Joshi, Eunsol Choi, Daniel S. Weld, and Luke Zettlemoyer. Triviaqa: A large scale distantly supervised challenge dataset for reading comprehension. In ACL, July 2017.

- [84] Ellen N Junn. Empowering the marginal student: A skills-based extracredit assignment. *Teaching of Psychology*, 22(3):189–192, 1995.
- [85] Pythagoras Karampiperis and Demetrios Sampson. Adaptive learning resources sequencing in educational hypermedia systems. Journal of Educational Technology & Society, 8(4), 2005.
- [86] Mohammad Khajah, Robert V. Lindsey, and Michael C. Mozer. How deep is knowledge tracing? CoRR, abs/1604.02416, 2016. URL http: //arxiv.org/abs/1604.02416.
- [87] JaMee Kim and WonGyu Lee. Assistance and possibilities: Analysis of learning-related factors affecting the online learning satisfaction of underprivileged students. *Computers & Education*, 57(4):2395–2405, 2011.
- [88] Yoon Kim. Convolutional neural networks for sentence classification. arXiv preprint arXiv:1408.5882, 2014.
- [89] Diederik P. Kingma and Jimmy Ba. Adam: A method for stochastic optimization. CoRR, abs/1412.6980, 2014. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/ 1412.6980.
- [90] René F Kizilcec and Sherif Halawa. Attrition and achievement gaps in online learning. In *Proceedings of the Second ACM Conference on Learning at Scale*, pages 57–66, 2015.
- [91] René F. Kizilcec, Mar Pérez-Sanagustín, and Jorge J. Maldonado. Recommending self-regulated learning strategies does not improve performance in a mooc. In *Proceedings of the Third (2016) ACM Conference on Learning @ Scale*, L@S '16, pages 101–104, New York, NY, USA, 2016. ACM. ISBN 978-1-4503-3726-7. doi: 10.1145/2876034.2893378. URL http://doi.acm.org/10.1145/2876034.2893378.
- [92] Guillaume Klein, Yoon Kim, Yuntian Deng, Jean Senellart, and Alexander M Rush. Opennmt: Open-source toolkit for neural machine translation. arXiv preprint arXiv:1701.02810, 2017.
- [93] Tomáš Kočiský, Jonathan Schwarz, Phil Blunsom, Chris Dyer, Karl Moritz Hermann, Gábor Melis, and Edward Grefenstette. The narrativeqa reading comprehension challenge. *TACL*, 2017.
- [94] Kenneth R Koedinger, Albert T Corbett, and Charles Perfetti. The knowledge-learning-instruction framework: Bridging the science-

practice chasm to enhance robust student learning. *Cognitive science*, 36(5):757–798, 2012.

- [95] Daphne Koller, Andrew Ng, Chuong Do, and Zhenghao Chen. Retention and intention in massive open online courses. *Educause Review*, 48(3):62–63, 2013.
- [96] Guokun Lai, Qizhe Xie, Hanxiao Liu, Yiming Yang, and Eduard Hovy. Race: Large-scale reading comprehension dataset from examinations. arXiv preprint arXiv:1704.04683, 2017.
- [97] Diane Larsen-Freeman and Michael H Long. An introduction to second language acquisition research. Routledge, 2014.
- [98] Michael J Lawson and Donald Hogben. The vocabulary-learning strategies of foreign-language students. Language learning, 46(1):101–135, 1996.
- [99] Doo H. Lim and Scott D. Johnson. Trainee perceptions of factors that influence learning transfer. *International journal of training and development*, 6:36–48, 2002.
- [100] Chin-Yew Lin. Rouge: A package for automatic evaluation of summaries. In ACL, 2004.
- [101] Robert S Lockhart, Mary Lamon, and Mary L Gick. Conceptual transfer insimple insight problems. *Memory & Cognition*, 16(1):36–44, 1988.
- [102] Bengt-Åke Lundvall. National systems of innovation: Toward a theory of innovation and interactive learning, volume 2. Anthem press, 2010.
- [103] Minh-Thang Luong, Hieu Pham, and Christopher D Manning. Effective approaches to attention-based neural machine translation. arXiv preprint arXiv:1508.04025, 2015.
- [104] Anderson LW, Krathwohl DR, Airasian PW, Cruikshank KA, Richard Mayer, Pintrich PR, J D. Raths, and Wittrock MC. A Taxonomy for Learning, Teaching, and Assessing: A Revision of Bloom's Taxonomy of Educational Objectives. 01 2001. ISBN ISBN: 080131903X.
- [105] Therese H Macan, Comila Shahani, Robert L Dipboye, and Amanda P Phillips. College students' time management: Correlations with academic performance and stress. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 82 (4):760–768, 1990.

- [106] Jalal Mahmud, Jeffrey Nichols, and Clemens Drews. Where is this tweet from? inferring home locations of twitter users. *ICWSM*, 12: 511–514, 2012.
- [107] Carol Midgley. Goals, goal structures, and patterns of adaptive learning. Routledge, 2014.
- [108] Tomas Mikolov, Ilya Sutskever, Kai Chen, Greg S Corrado, and Jeff Dean. Distributed representations of words and phrases and their compositionality. In NIPS. 2013. URL http://papers.nips.cc/paper/ 5021-distributed-representations-of-words-and-phra.
- [109] Ruslan Mitkov and Le An Ha. Computer-aided generation of multiplechoice tests. In *HLT-NAACL*, 2003.
- [110] Ruslan Mitkov, Le An Ha, and Nikiforos Karamanis. A computeraided environment for generating multiple-choice test items. *Natural Language Engineering*, 12(2):177–194, June 2006. ISSN 1351-3249. doi: 10.1017/S1351324906004177. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S1351324906004177.
- [111] Yohsuke R. Miyamoto, Cody A. Coleman, Joseph J. Williams, Jacob Whitehill, Sergiy O. Nesterko, and Justin Reich. Beyond time-ontask: The relationship between spaced study and certification in moocs. SSRN 2547799, 2015.
- [112] Almedina Music and Stéphan Vincent-Lancrin. Massive open online courses (moocs): Trends and future perspectives. *EDU/CERI/CD/RD*, 2016(5), 2016.
- [113] Dong-Phuong Nguyen, Rilana Gravel, RB Trieschnigg, and Theo Meder. " how old do you think i am?" a study of language and age in twitter. *ICWSM '13*, pages 439–448, 2013.
- [114] Tri Nguyen, Mir Rosenberg, Xia Song, Jianfeng Gao, Saurabh Tiwary, Rangan Majumder, and Li Deng. Ms marco: A human generated machine reading comprehension dataset. arXiv preprint arXiv:1611.09268, 2016.
- [115] You Ouyang, Wenjie Li, Qin Lu, and Renxian Zhang. A study on position information in document summarization. In *COLING*, pages 919–927, 2010.
- [116] Laura M Padilla-Walker. The impact of daily extra credit quizzes on exam performance. *Teaching of Psychology*, 33(4):236–239, 2006.

- [117] Viktoria Pammer, Marina Bratic, Sandra Feyertag, and Nils Faltin. The value of self-tracking and the added value of coaching in the case of improving time management. In *Design for Teaching and Learning* in a Networked World, pages 467–472. Springer, 2015.
- [118] Kishore Papineni, Salim Roukos, Todd Ward, and Wei-Jing Zhu. Bleu: a method for automatic evaluation of machine translation. In ACL, 2002.
- [119] Laura Pappano. The year of the mooc. The New York Times, 2(12): 2012, 2012.
- [120] Alexandros Paramythis and Susanne Loidl-Reisinger. Adaptive learning environments and e-learning standards. In Second european conference on e-learning, volume 1, pages 369–379, 2003.
- [121] Mariana Patru and Venkataraman Balaji. Making sense of moocs: A guide for policy-makers in developing countries, 2016.
- [122] Philip I Pavlik Jr, Hao Cen, and Kenneth R Koedinger. Performance factors analysis-a new alternative to knowledge tracing. Online Submission, 2009.
- [123] Radek Pelánek. Bayesian knowledge tracing, logistic models, and beyond: an overview of learner modeling techniques. User Modeling and User-Adapted Interaction, 27(3):313–350, Dec 2017. ISSN 1573-1391. doi: 10.1007/s11257-017-9193-2. URL https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11257-017-9193-2.
- [124] Jeffrey Pennington, Richard Socher, and Christopher Manning. Glove: Global vectors for word representation. In *EMNLP*, 2014.
- [125] Chris Piech, Jonathan Bassen, Jonathan Huang, Surya Ganguli, Mehran Sahami, Leonidas J Guibas, and Jascha Sohl-Dickstein. Deep knowledge tracing. In Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems, pages 505–513, 2015.
- [126] Paul R Pintrich and Elisabeth V De Groot. Motivational and selfregulated learning components of classroom academic performance. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 82(1):33–40, 1990.
- [127] Daniel Preoţiuc-Pietro, Vasileios Lampos, and Nikolaos Aletras. An analysis of the user occupational class through twitter content. pages 1754–1764. The Association for Computational Linguistics, 2015.

- [128] Michael Prince. Does active learning work? a review of the research. Journal of engineering education, 93(3):223–231, 2004.
- [129] Kevin J. Pugh and David A. Bergin. Motivational influences on transfer. *Educational Psychologist*, 41(3):147–160, 2006.
- [130] M. M. Rahman and C. K. Roy. On the use of context in recommending exception handling code examples. In 2014 IEEE 14th International Working Conference on Source Code Analysis and Manipulation (SCAM), volume 00, pages 285–294, Sept. 2014. doi: 10.1109/SCAM. 2014.15. URL doi.ieeecomputersociety.org/10.1109/SCAM.2014.15.
- [131] Pranav Rajpurkar, Jian Zhang, Konstantin Lopyrev, and Percy Liang. Squad: 100, 000+ questions for machine comprehension of text. In *EMNLP*, 2016.
- [132] Saif Rayyan, Daniel T Seaton, John Belcher, David E Pritchard, and Isaac Chuang. Participation and performance in 8.02x electricity and magnetism: The first physics mooc from mitx. arXiv preprint arXiv:1310.3173, 2013.
- [133] Matthew Richardson, Christopher JC Burges, and Erin Renshaw. Mctest: A challenge dataset for the open-domain machine comprehension of text. In *EMNLP*, pages 193–203, 2013.
- [134] Osvaldo Rodriguez. The concept of openness behind c and x-moocs (massive open online courses). Open Praxis, 5(1):67–73, 2013.
- [135] John Robert Ross. Constraints on variables in syntax. 1967.
- [136] Vasile Rus and C Graesser Arthur. The question generation shared task and evaluation challenge. In *The University of Memphis. National Science Foundation*, 2009.
- [137] Vasile Rus and James Lester. The 2nd workshop on question generation. In AIED, 2009. ISBN 978-1-60750-028-5. URL http://dl.acm. org/citation.cfm?id=1659450.1659629.
- [138] Alan M Saks and Monica Belcourt. An investigation of training activities and transfer of training in organizations. Human Resource Management: Published in Cooperation with the School of Business Administration, The University of Michigan and in alliance with the Society of Human Resources Management, 45(4):629–648, 2006.

- [139] Maarten Sap, Gregory Park, Johannes C Eichstaedt, Margaret L Kern, David Stillwell, Michal Kosinski, Lyle H Ungar, and H Andrew Schwartz. Developing age and gender predictive lexica over social media. *EMNLP* '14, pages 1146–1151, 2014.
- [140] B. Settles, C. Brust, E. Gustafson, M. Hagiwara, and N. Madnani. Second language acquisition modeling. In *Proceedings of the NAACL-HLT Workshop on Innovative Use of NLP for Building Educational Applications (BEA)*. ACL, 2018.
- [141] Dhawal Shah. By the numbers: Moocs in 2017, 2018.
- [142] George Siemens. Connectivism: A learning theory for the digital age. 2014.
- [143] Giuseppe Silvestri, Jie Yang, Alessandro Bozzon, and Andrea Tagarelli. Linking accounts across social networks: the case of stackoverflow, github and twitter. In *International Workshop on Knowledge Discovery* on the WEB, pages 41–52, 2015.
- [144] Ilya Sutskever, Oriol Vinyals, and Quoc V Le. Sequence to sequence learning with neural networks. In NIPS, 2014.
- [145] Richard S Sutton and Andrew G Barto. Introduction to reinforcement learning, volume 135. MIT press Cambridge, 1998.
- [146] Ryo Suzuki, Niloufar Salehi, Michelle S. Lam, Juan C. Marroquin, and Michael S. Bernstein. Atelier: Repurposing expert crowdsourcing tasks as micro-internships. In *Proceedings of the 2016 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems.*
- [147] John Sweller and Paul Chandler. Why some material is difficult to learn. Cognition and instruction, 12(3):185–233, 1994.
- [148] Edward L. Thorndike. The psychology of learning. Educational Psychology. Teachers College, Columbia University, 1913.
- [149] Jonathan H Tomkin and Donna Charlevoix. Do professors matter?: Using an a/b test to evaluate the impact of instructor involvement on mooc student outcomes. In L@S '14, pages 71–78, 2014.
- [150] Adam Trischler, Tong Wang, Xingdi Yuan, Justin Harris, Alessandro Sordoni, Philip Bachman, and Kaheer Suleman. Newsqa: A machine comprehension dataset. *CoRR*, abs/1611.09830, 2016. URL http:// arxiv.org/abs/1611.09830.

- [151] Flora S Tsai, Wenyin Tang, and Kap Luk Chan. Evaluation of novelty metrics for sentence-level novelty mining. *Information Sciences*, 180 (12):2359–2374, 2010.
- [152] Judy CR Tseng, Hui-Chun Chu, Gwo-Jen Hwang, and Chin-Chung Tsai. Development of an adaptive learning system with two sources of personalization information. *Computers & Education*, 51(2):776–786, 2008.
- [153] UNESCO. Unesco institute for lifelong learning: Annual report 2017, 2017.
- [154] Laurens Van der Maaten and Geoffrey Hinton. Visualizing data using t-sne. Journal of Machine Learning Research, 9(2579-2605):85, 2008.
- [155] Eva Van Emden and Leon Moonen. Java quality assurance by detecting code smells. In Proceedings of the Ninth Working Conference on Reverse Engineering, pages 97–106. IEEE, 2002.
- [156] Timo van Treeck and Martin Ebner. How useful is twitter for learning in massive communities? an analysis of two moocs. *Twitter & Society*, pages 411–424, 2013.
- [157] Stephen Vassallo. Implications of institutionalizing self-regulated learning: An analysis from four sociological perspectives. *Educational Studies*, 47(1):26–49, 2011.
- [158] George Veletsianos, Amy Collier, and Emily Schneider. Digging deeper into learners' experiences in moocs: Participation in social networks outside of moocs, notetaking and contexts surrounding content consumption. British Journal of Educational Technology, 46(3):570–587, 2015.
- [159] Svitlana Volkova, Stephen Ranshous, and Lawrence Phillips. Predicting foreign language usage from english-only social media posts. In Proceedings of the 2018 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 2 (Short Papers), volume 2, pages 608–614, 2018.
- [160] Gregory M Walton and Geoffrey L Cohen. A question of belonging: race, social fit, and achievement. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 92(1):82–96, 2007.
- [161] Weiming Wang, Tianyong Hao, and Wenyin Liu. Automatic question generation for learning evaluation in medicine. In *ICWL*, 2007.

- [162] Yuan Wang, Luc Paquette, and Ryan Baker. A longitudinal study on learner career advancement in moocs. Journal of Learning Analytics, 1(3):203–206, 2014.
- [163] Miaomiao Wen, Diyi Yang, and Carolyn Penstein Rosé. Sentiment analysis in mooc discussion forums: What does it tell us? In *EDM*, 2014.
- [164] David A Wilder, William A Flood, and Wibecke Stromsnes. The use of random extra credit quizzes to increase student attendance. *Journal* of Instructional Psychology, 28(2), 2001.
- [165] Daniel T Willingham. Should learning be its own reward? American Educator, 31(4):29–35, 2007.
- [166] Daniel T. Willingham. What will improve a student's memory? American Educator, 32(4):17–25, 2008.
- [167] Robert E Wood. Task complexity: Definition of the construct. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 37(1):60
 82, 1986. ISSN 0749-5978. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ 0749-5978(86)90044-0. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/0749597886900440.
- [168] Xiaolu Xiong, Siyuan Zhao, Eric Van Inwegen, and Joseph Beck. Going deeper with deep knowledge tracing. In *EDM*, pages 545–550, 2016.
- [169] Jie Yang, Ke Tao, Alessandro Bozzon, and Geert-Jan Houben. Sparrows and owls: Characterisation of expert behaviour in stackoverflow. In UMAP'14, pages 266–277. 2014.
- [170] Jie Yang, Judith Redi, Gianluca Demartini, and Alessandro Bozzon. Modeling task complexity in crowdsourcing. In *HCOMP*, 2016.
- [171] Yi Yang, Wen-tau Yih, and Christopher Meek. Wikiqa: A challenge dataset for open-domain question answering. In *EMNLP*, pages 2013– 2018, 2015.
- [172] Jerry Ye, Jyh-Herng Chow, Jiang Chen, and Zhaohui Zheng. Stochastic gradient boosted distributed decision trees. In *Proceedings of the 18th* ACM Conference on Information and Knowledge Management, CIKM '09, pages 2061–2064, New York, NY, USA, 2009. ACM. ISBN 978-1-60558-512-3. doi: 10.1145/1645953.1646301. URL http://doi.acm.org/ 10.1145/1645953.1646301.

- [173] Stephen L Yelon and J Kevin Ford. Pursuing a multidimensional view of transfer. *Performance Improvement Quarterly*, 12(3):58–78, 1999.
- [174] Belinda Young-Davy. Explicit vocabulary instruction. ORTESOL Journal, 31:26, 2014.
- [175] Liang Zhang, Xiaolu Xiong, Siyuan Zhao, Anthony Botelho, and Neil T. Heffernan. Incorporating rich features into deep knowledge tracing. In *Proceedings of the Fourth (2017) ACM Conference on Learning @ Scale*, L@S '17, pages 169–172, New York, NY, USA, 2017. ACM. ISBN 978-1-4503-4450-0. doi: 10.1145/3051457.3053976. URL http://doi.acm. org/10.1145/3051457.3053976.
- [176] Saijing Zheng, Mary Beth Rosson, Patrick C. Shih, and John M. Carroll. Understanding student motivation, behaviors and perceptions in moocs. In CSCW '15, pages 1882–1895, 2015.
- [177] Chen Zhenghao, Brandon Alcorn, Gayle Christensen, Nicholas Eriksson, Ezekiel J. Emanuel, and Daphne Koller. Who's benefiting from moocs, and why. *Harvard Business Review*, 09/2015 2015. URL https://hbr.org/2015/09/whos-benefiting-from-moocs-and-why.
- [178] Barry J Zimmerman. A social cognitive view of self-regulated academic learning. Journal of Educational Psychology, 81(3):329–339, 1989.
- [179] Barry J Zimmerman and Manuel Martinez-Pons. Student differences in self-regulated learning: Relating grade, sex, and giftedness to selfefficacy and strategy use. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 82(1): 51–59, 1990.

158

List of Figures

1.1	An overview of the MOOC stages and data sources investi- gated in Chapters 2-6. The number in a cell represents the cor- responding chapter, which focuses on the MOOC stage spec- ified in the column and the MOOC platform or the Social	
	Web platform specified in the row	3
2.1	Excerpt of a GitHub PushEvent log trace	18
2.2	Percentage of our Twitter users across eight age brackets. The "Overall" user set contains all users independent of the specific MOOC(s) taken, the remaining three user sets are MOOC-	0.0
	specific.	23
2.3	Percentage of our Twitter users of each gender. The "Overall" user set contains all users independent of the specific $MOOC(s)$ taken, the remaining three user sets are $MOOC$ -specific	23
2.4	Overview of the most frequent job title bigrams among the learners of the <i>Data Analysis</i> (top), <i>Delft Design Approach</i> (middle), and <i>Responsible Innovation</i> (bottom) MOOCs	24
2.5	Fraction of learners displaying \boldsymbol{n} numbers of MOOC certificate.	25
2.6	t-SNE based visualization of LinkedIn skill vectors for pairs of MOOCs. Each data point represents one skill vector (i.e. one user).	27

2.7	Overview of the number of StackOverflow questions and an- swers posted on a monthly basis between January 2014 and July 2015 by (i) our MOOC learners [top and middle], and (ii) all StackExchange users [bottom] for Haskell [top, bottom] and the nine major functional languages [middle]. Marked in gray is the time period of the <i>Functional Programming</i> MOOC. The dashed green line indicates the ratio of <u>Questions</u> in each month	29
2.8	Month-by-month GitHub contributions in the Haskell language by the <i>Functional Programming</i> MOOC learners identified on GitHub	30
3.1	Excerpt of a GitHub PushEvent log trace	43
3.2	Excerpt of a <i>diff file</i> . Two files were changed (<i>viewsA.rb</i> and <i>routes.rb</i>). The extension *.rb indicates code written in Ruby.	44
3.3	Number of unique users actively using a functional language. $FP101x$ ran during the highlighted region	48
3.4	Fraction of functional programming activities among the 1,165 engaged Expert Learners. $FP101x$ ran during the highlighted region.	49
3.5	Fraction of functional programming activities among the 542 engaged Expert Learners with functional activities before & after $FP101x$. $FP101x$ ran during the highlighted region	50
3.6	Fraction of functional programming activities among the 336 engaged Novice Learners with functional activities after $FP101x$. $FP101x$ ran during the highlighted region	51
3.7	Distribution of functional programming activities among the 336 engaged Novice Learners with functional activities after $FP101x$. $FP101x$ ran during the highlighted region	52
3.8	Functional languages used by the 336 engaged Novice Learners during and after <i>FP101x</i> . Best viewed in color	53
3.9	Fraction of the 336 engaged Novice learners remaining active in each course week. 70 Novice learners completed $FP101x$ successfully, 266 did not complete it.	54

4.1	The average learner-level accuracy, i.e., Lear-Acc (Top), and the average number of mastered words, i.e., Mast-Word (Bottom), of learners in high-spacing and low-spacing groups	66
5.1	Paying MOOC learners — a vision	77
5.2	Bonus exercise posted in week 4 of $EX101x$. The original task was posted with a price of \$35 to Upwork (note that at the time of posting this exercise, Upwork was still called oDesk).	83
5.3	Developed countries according to the OECD are shown in blue, developing countries are shown in red. The color shade indi- cates the overall completion rate of learners from that country. A darker shade indicates a higher completion rate	88
5.4	From the 56,308 Upwork tasks available on 15/09/2015 a total of 8,153 have a fixed budget (the remaining tasks are paid by the hour). Budgeted tasks are binned according to the budget they have.	91
5.5	The 56,308 Upwork tasks available on 15/09/2015 are binned according to the number of days they have been "online" (i.e. the task is open)	92
5.6	The average amount of time (in hours) that learners spent in watching video after viewing (but not submitting) the bonus exercises. The numbers of learners within each group are given in brackets. Results marked with $*$ ($p < 0.001$) are significantly different (<i>Viewed</i> vs. <i>Not viewed</i>) according to the Mann-Whitney U-test	96
5.7	Overview of the freelance work task recommender system's design	99
6.1	Results of question generation on different learning subjects in Khan Academy.	128
6.2	Results of question generation with different source sentence lengths.	129

162

List of Tables

2.1	Overview of the edX MOOCs under investigation, the number of learners registered to those MOOCs and the number of learners that could be matched (with either Explicit/Direct or Fuzzy matching) to our five Social Web platforms. Marked with \dagger (\ddagger) are those course/platform combinations where we were able to locate > 5% (> 10%) of the registered learners. The final row contains the unique number of users/learners (a learner may have taken several MOOCs) identified on each platform	20
2.2	Overview of the percentage of MOOC learners (329,200 over- all) identified through the different matching strategies on the five selected Social Web platforms. A dash (—) indicates that for this specific platform/strategy combination, no matching was performed	21
3.1	Overview of the different data sources used to investigate each research hypothesis. CS refers to the conducted Course Surveys (before and after the course).	40
3.2	Basic characteristics across all learners and their partitioning into GitHub (GH) and non-GitHub learners. Significant differences (according to Mann-Whitney) between GH and non-GH learners are marked with $\dagger (p < 0.001)$.	46
3.3	Basic characteristics when partitioning the GitHub learners according to prior functional programming expertise. Significant differences (according to Mann-Whitney) between Expert and Non-Expert learners are marked with $\dagger(p < 0.001)$ and $\ddagger(p < 0.01)$.	47

3.4	Partitioning of the 336 Novice learners according to several dimensions. The last column shows the number of learners	
	that could not be assigned (N/A) to a dimension. $\hfill \ldots \hfill \ldots$	51
3.5	The number of Novice Learners falling into spacing groups	52
4.1	Statistics of the datasets.	59
4.2	Avg. learner-level accuracy (%) and the number of mastered words of learners living in different locations (approximated by the countries from which learners have finished the exercises). Significant differences (compared to $Avg.$, according to Mann- Whitney) are marked with $*$ ($p < 0.001$).	62
4.3	Pearson Correlation between learner engagement (measured by # attempted exercises/words and the amount of time spent in learning) and learner-level accuracy as well as # mastered words. Significant differences are marked with $* (p < 0.001)$.	62
4.4	Pearson Correlation between the amount of time spent in solving each exercise and exercise-level accuracy. Significant differences are marked with $* (p < 0.001)$.	63
4.5	Average exercise-level accuracy (%) in different contextual con- ditions. Significant differences (compared to $Avg.$, according to Mann-Whitney) are marked with $*(p < 0.001)$	64
4.6	Avg. word-level accuracy (%) of words with different number of exposures.	65
4.7	Pearson Correlation between learner performance and the num- ber of previous attempts and the amount of time elapsed since the last attempt for a word	65
4.8	Granularity levels on which each feature is retrieved or com- puted. Features marked with b are used as input in the baseline provided by the benchmark organizers	68
4.9	Model parameters of the GTB model; determined by using grid search per dataset.	71
4.10	Experimental results reported in AUC on ES-EN. Each row indicates a feature added to the GBT feature space; the model of row 1 has three features.	72

4.11	Final prediction results on the TEST data. Significant differences (compared to Baseline, according to paired t-test) are marked with $* (p < 0.001)$.	72
5.1	Basic characteristics across all learners and their partitioning into those who attempted to solve at least one Bonus Exercise (BE) and those who did not (Non-BE). Where suitable, signif- icance tests between the BE/Non-BE groups were performed according to Mann-Whitney. All performed tests exhibited significant differences - indicated with \ddagger (significant difference with $p < 0.001$)	85
5.2	Basic characteristics of BE learners partitioned into dedicated BE learners (DBE) solving 3+ bonus exercises and non-dedicated BE learners. Where suitable, significance tests between the DBE/Non-DBE groups were performed according to Mann-Whitney. All performed tests exhibited significant differences - indicated with \ddagger (significant difference with $p < 0.001$)	87
5.3	Learners' performance on real-world tasks. The second column shows the number of active learners. The third column shows the number of students taking the bonus exercise. The fourth column shows the task payment offered at UpWork. Accurate submissions are those matching our gold standard (with the additional requirement of the correct order for tasks 3 and 5). High-quality submissions are those correct submissions without code smells. The coverage column reports the average (and standard deviation) fraction of cells covered by all of a week's submissions	89
5.4	Paid total worker fees by company in Million US Dollar. These numbers are self reported by the companies and are not given for a specific year.	90
5.5	Overview of programming tasks among our crawl of 56,308 Upwork tasks on 15/09/2015.	93
5.6	The 56,308 Upwork tasks available on 15/09/2015 are partitioned according to their category. Shown are the number of tasks per category, the average number of days online and the average task payment (for the subset of 8,153 tasks with a fixed budget).	93

165

5.7	Overview of the 11 questions in our post-course survey. For presentation purposes, some questions and answers appear slightly condensed. For all closed-form questions, we provide the distribution of answers (in %) across the four learner par- titions in the form $A B C D\%$: (A) from developed nations + at least one bonus exercise submitted, (B) from developing nations + at least one bonus exercise submitted, (C) from de- veloped nations + no bonus exercise submitted, and, (D) from developing nations + no bonus exercise submitted	95
6.1	Examples of document-question pairs.	105
6.2	Question-worthy sentence in a paragraph	106
6.3	Examples of useful (marked with $$) and non-useful questions from Khan Academy. S/H/M/C/E/T denote Science, Human- ities, Math, Computing, Economics and Test Preparation, re- spectively.	112
6.4	Descriptive features and statistics of $LearningQ$ and the datasets in comparison	114
6.5	Top words in documents and questions and top interrogative words of quiestions in LearningQ and the datasets in compar- ison. Words pertinent to a specific data source platforms are in bold. KA represents Khan Academy	118
6.6	Question Examples of Different Bloom' Revised Taxonomy Level in TED-Ed and Khan Academy	121
6.7	Distribution of Bloom's Revised Taxonomy Labels	123
6.8	Results of Source Sentence Labelling. # Words/Sent. denote the average words/sentences in the labelled source sentences. % ONE/MULTIPLE/EXTERNAL refer to the percentage of questions related to ONE single sentence, MULTIPLE sen- tences or require EXTERNAL knowledge to generate, respec- tively. KA denotes Khan Academy.	123
6.9	Performance of rule-based and deep neural network based meth- ods on <i>LearningQ</i>	127
6.10	Experimental results on TriviaQA, RACE, LearningQ and MCTe The top three results in each metric are in bold.	est. 130

Summary

MOOC Analytics: Learner Modeling and Content Generation

Massive Open Online Courses (MOOCs), as one of the popular options for people to receive education and learn, are endowed with the mission to educate the world. Typically, there are two types of MOOC platforms: *topic-agnostic* and *topic-specific*. Topic-agnostic platforms such as edX and Coursera provide courses covering a wide range of topics, while *topic-specific* MOOC platforms such as Duolingo and Codeacademy focus on courses in one specific topic. To better support MOOC learners, many works have been proposed to investigate MOOC learning in the past decade. Still, there are many other aspects of MOOC learning to be explored.

In this thesis, we focused on (i) *learner modeling* and (ii) *generation of educational material* for both topic-agnostic and topic-specific MOOC platforms.

For *learner modeling* in the topic-agnostic platforms, as there have been a lot of works utilizing the learner traces generated within the MOOC platforms, we proposed that we can better understand learners by moving beyond the MOOC platforms and exploring other data sources on the wider Web, especially the Social Web. As an exploratory but necessary step, in Chapter 2, we first investigated whether MOOC learners are active in the Social Web and how to reliably identify their accounts across various Social Web platforms. To this end, we considered over 320,000 learners from eighteen MOOCs in edX and made efforts to identify their accounts across five popular Social Web platforms, i.e., Gravatar, Twitter, LinkedIn, StackExchange and GitHub. Furthermore, we investigated what data traces could be collected from these platforms and used to derive learner attributes that are relevant to their learning activities in the MOOC setting. We found that on av-
erage 5% of learners could be identified on globally popular Social Web platforms and learners with specific traits preferred different types of MOOCs. Based on the observations we had in Chapter 2, in which we have observed that over one-third of learners from a Functional Programming MOOC used GitHub to maintain their programming activities, we further combined the data traces generated by those learners in both edX and GitHub to investigate *learning transfer* in Chapter 3: do learners actually use the newly acquired knowledge and skills to solve problems in practice? Our analyses revealed that (i) more than 8% of engaged learners transferred the acquired knowledge to practice, and (ii) most existing transfer learning findings from the classroom setting are indeed applicable in the MOOC setting as well. For *learner modeling* in the topic-specific platforms, in Chapter 4, we focused on investigating the problem of knowledge tracing, which remained largely unexplored in previous studies due to the lack of available datasets from such platforms. With three large-scale language learning datasets released by Duolingo, we investigated factors that are correlated with learners' performance and then applied a machine learning technique (i.e., Gradient Tree Boosting) to predict learners' future performance. We demonstrated that the learning performance was correlated with not only learners' engagement with a course but also contextual factors like the devices being used. In Chapter 5, we further investigated whether learners could apply the acquired knowledge to solve real-world tasks, i.e., paid tasks which are retrieved from online marketplaces and can be solved by applying the knowledge taught in a course. For this purpose, we considered a MOOC teaching data analysis in edX and manually selected a set of paid tasks from Upwork, one of the most popular freelancing marketplaces in the world, and presented the selected tasks to learners and observed how learners interacted with these real-world tasks. We observed that these tasks could be solved by MOOC learners with high accuracy and quality.

For generation of educational material, in Chapter 6, we focused on the generation of educational questions, as they are widely recognized as essential for learning. To build an effective automatic question generator, two challenges need to be overcome. Firstly, a large-scale dataset covering questions of various cognitive levels from a set of diverse learning topics should be collected. Secondly, effective strategies for identifying question-worthy sentences (i.e., those carrying important concepts) from an article, should be developed before using those sentences as input to the question generator. To deal with these challenges, we relied on TED-Ed and Khan Academy to retrieve an educational question dataset, LearningQ, which contains over 230K document-question pairs generated by both instructors and learners.

168

Summary

showed that LearningQ consists of high-quality questions covering not only all cognitive levels in the Bloom's Revised Taxonomy but also various learning topics. We showed that it is a challenging task to automatically generate educational questions, even with sufficient training data and state-of-the-art question generation techniques. Besides, we developed and compared a total of nine strategies to select question-worthy sentences from an article and demonstrated that questions in learning contexts usually are based on source sentences that are informative, important, or contain novel information.

_____ |

Samenvatting

MOOC Analyse: Modelleren van studenten en genereren van content

Massive Open Online Courses (MOOC' s) zijn, als een van de populaire manieren waarop mensen onderwijs krijgen en leren, verbonden met de missie om de wereld te onderwijzen. Karakteristiek zijn er twee typen van MOOCplatforms: *onderwerp-onafhankelijk* en *onderwerp-specifiek*. Onderwerp-onafhankelijke platforms zoals edX en Coursera bieden cursussen aan over een breed spectrum van onderwerpen, terwijl *onderwerp-specifieke* MOOC-platforms zoals Duolingo en Codeacademy zich richten op cursussen in een specifiek onderwerp. Om MOOC-studenten beter te ondersteunen is er in het afgelopen decennium veel onderzoek gedaan naar het leren in MOOC' s. Desondanks zijn er nog veel aspecten van het leren in MOOC' s die nog moeten worden onderzocht.

In dit proefschrift richten we ons op (i) *modelleren van studenten* en (ii) genereren van educatieve content voor zowel onderwerp-onafhankelijke als onderwerp-specifieke MOOC-platforms.

Voor het modelleren van studenten in de onderwerp-onafhankelijke platforms, hebben we voorgesteld dat we studenten beter kunnen begrijpen door verder te kijken dan de MOOC-platforms en andere databronnen op het wijdere Web te verkennen, speciaal het Social Web; dit omdat een heleboel onderzoek al de student-logs hebben benut die door de MOOC-platforms zelf worden gegenereerd. Als een verkennende maar noodzakelijke stap, hebben we in hoofdstuk 2 eerst onderzocht of MOOC-studenten actief zijn in het Social Web en hoe we betrouwbaar hun accounts op verschillende Social Web platforms kunnen identificeren. Hiertoe hebben we meer dan 320.000 studenten van achttien MOOC's in edX onderzocht en gekeken hoe we hun accounts op vijf populaire Social Web platforms kunnen identificeren, i.c.,

Gravatar, Twitter, LinkedIn, StackExchange en GitHub. Verder hebben we onderzocht welke logs van deze platforms kunnen worden verzameld en benut om student-attributen af te leiden die relevant zijn voor hun leeractiviteiten in de MOOC-context. We stelden vast dat gemiddeld 5% van de studenten konden worden geïdentificeerd op globaal populaire Social Web platforms en dat studenten met specifieke eigenschappen voorkeur hebben voor verschillende typen van MOOC's. Gebaseerd op de observaties van Hoofdstuk 2, waar we observeerden dat meer dan een derde van de studenten van een Functional Programming MOOC GitHub gebruikten voor hun programmeer-activiteiten, combineerden we de logs gegenereerd door die studenten in zowel edX als GitHub om zogenoemde learning transfer te onderzoeken in Hoofdstuk 3: gebruiken studenten daadwerkelijk de nieuw verworven kennis en vaardigheden voor problemen in de praktijk? Onze analyses toonden aan dat (i) meer dan 8% van betrokken studenten inderdaad de verworven kennis benutten in de praktijk, en (ii) de meeste bestaande inzichten over transfer van de klassieke klas-context inderdaad ook van toepassing zijn in de MOOC-context. Voor het modelleren van studenten in onderwerpspecifieke platforms, hebben we ons in Hoofdstuk 4 gericht op het onderzoeken van het probleem van kennis-herleiding, dat grotendeels niet is onderzocht in eerdere onderzoeken vanwege het gebrek aan beschikbare datasets van zulke platforms. Met drie grootschalige datasets rond taalverwerving beschikbaar gesteld door Duolingo hebben we factoren onderzocht die gecorreleerd zijn met de performance van studenten en dan een machine learningtechniek toegepast (namelijk Gradient Tree Boosting) om de toekomstige performance van studenten te voorspellen. We hebben aangetoond dat de performance van de studenten was gecorreleerd met niet alleen de betrokkenheid van de student met de cursus maar ook met contextuele factoren zoals de apparaten die werden gebruikt. In Hoofdstuk 5 hebben we verder onderzocht of studenten de verkregen kennis zouden kunnen toepassen in echte realistische taken, i.c. betaalde taken verkregen van online marktplaatsen die kunnen worden volbracht door de kennis toe te passen uit de cursus. Voor dit doel hebben we een data-analyse van MOOC-onderwijs in edX beschouwd en handmatig een set van betaalde taken geselecteerd van Upwork, een van de populairste freelance marktplaatsen ter wereld, en de geselecteerde taken aan studenten aangeboden en gezien hoe de studenten met deze echte realistische taken omgaan. We hebben geconstateerd dat deze taken konden worden volbracht door MOOC-studenten met hoge accuratesse en kwaliteit.

Voor het genereren van educatieve content hebben we ons in Hoofdstuk 6 gericht op het genereren van educatieve vragen, aangezien die algemeen als essentieel worden beschouwd voor leren. Om een effectieve automatische

Samenvatting

vraag-generator te bouwen, moeten twee uitdagingen worden overwonnen. Ten eerste moet er een grootschalige dataset worden verzameld van vragen van verschillende kennisniveau' s voor verschillende onderwerpen. Ten tweede moeten effectieve strategieën worden ontwikkeld voor het identificeren van zinnen in een artikel die een vraag waard zijn (i.c. zinnen die belangrijke concepten bevatten), voordat deze zinnen worden gebruikt als input voor een vraag-generator. Om met deze uitdagingen om te gaan, hebben we ons gebaseerd op TED-Ed en Khan Academy om een educatieve dataset van vragen te verkrijgen, LearningQ, met meer dan 230K document-vraag-paren gegenereerd door zowel docenten als studenten. We hebben aangetoond dat LearningQ bestaat uit vragen van hoge kwaliteit die niet alleen alle kennisniveau' s van Bloom' s Revised Taxonomy beslaan maar ook verschillende onderwerpen. We hebben laten zien dat het een uitdagende taak is om automatisch educatieve vragen te genereren, zelfs met voldoende trainingsdata en state-of-the-art technieken voor vraag-generatie. Daarnaast hebben we in totaal negen strategieën ontwikkeld en vergeleken om uit een artikel zinnen te selecteren die een vraag waard zijn en aangetoond dat vragen in leercontexten doorgaans gebaseerd zijn op bronzinnen die informatief zijn, belangrijk zijn en nieuwe informatie bevatten.

173

_____ |

Curriculum Vitae

Guanliang Chen was born in Zhanjiang, China on February 24, 1988. He received his master degree with an outstanding thesis award from South China University of Technology, China. His master thesis was completed when he served as an exchange research student at Hong Kong Baptist University, China, where he worked on developing effective context-aware recommender systems. Prior to that, he received his bachelor degree from South China University of Technology, China.

From March 2015 to December 2018, Guanliang Chen was a PhD student in the Web Information Systems group at Delft University of Technology, supervised by Geert-Jan Houben and Claudia Hauff. His PhD work focused on developing data-driven approaches for better modeling MOOC learners and generating useful educational content through external sources, in particular, the Social Web. Guanliang's research has been published in leading conferences and journals on relevant fields such as ICWSM, Web-Science, UMAP, L@S, LAK, EDM, EC-TEL, IEEE Transactions on Learning Technologies, and Computers & Education. He received Best Student Paper Award from EC-TEL 2016 and Best Student Paper Nominee Award from both L@S 2016 and UMAP 2014. Guanliang co-organized the Workshop on Integrated Learning Analytics of MOOC Post-Course Development at LAK 2017 and the 15th Dutch-Belgian Information Retrieval Workshop in 2016. He was invited as a keynote speaker in the 2017 Doctoral Student Forum on MOOC Research in Peking University, China. He has also served as a program committee member and reviewer for several conferences and journals, such as LAK, ICWL, IEEE Transactions on Learning Technologies, Computers & Education, ACM Computing Surveys, etc.

Publications

- Guanliang Chen, Jie Yang, Claudia Hauff, Geert-Jan Houben. LearningQ: A Large-scale Dataset for Educational Question Generation. In Proceedings of the 12th International AAAI Conference on Web and Social Media, California, US. ICWSM'18. (Full conference paper)
- Dan Davis, Guanliang Chen, Claudia Hauff, Geert-Jan Houben (2018). Activating Learning at Scale: A Review of Innovations in Online Learning Strategies. Computers & Education, Vol. 125: 327-344. (Journal paper)
- Sepideh Mesbah, Guanliang Chen, Manuel Valle Torre, Alessandro Bozzon, Christoph Lofi, Geert-Jan Houben. Towards User-Centric Online Learning Meta-Data: Concept Focus for MOOCs. In Proceedings of the 13th European Conference on Technology Enhanced Learning, Leeds, UK. EC-TEL'18. (Full conference paper)
- 4. **Guanliang Chen**, Claudia Hauff, Geert-Jan Houben. *Feature Engineering for Second Language Acquisition Modeling*. In Proceedings of the 13th Workshop on Innovative Use of NLP for Building Educational Applications, New Orleans, US. BEA'13. (Workshop paper)
- Yue Zhao, Dan Davis, Guanliang Chen, Christoph Lofi, Claudia Hauff, Geert-Jan Houben. Certificate Achievement Unlocked: Exploring MOOC Learners' Behaviour Before & After Passing. In Proceedings of the 24th ACM International Conference on User Modeling, Adaptation and Personalization, Bratislava, Slovakia. UMAP'17, ACM. (Late-breaking results paper).
- Yingying Bao, Guanliang Chen, Claudia Hauff. On the Prevalence of Multiple-Account Cheating in Massive Open Online Learning. In Proceedings of the 10th International Conference on Educational Data Mining, Wuhan, China. EDM'17. (Short conference paper)
- 7. Guanliang Chen, Dan Davis, Markus Krause, Claudia Hauff, Geert-Jan Houben. Buying Time: Enabling Learners to become Earners with a Real-World Paid Task Recommender System. In Proceedings of the 7th International Conference on Learning Analytics and Knowledge, Vancouver, Canada. LAK'17. (Poster paper)
- 8. Dan Davis, Ioana Jivet, René F. Kizilcec, **Guanliang Chen**, Claudia Hauff, Geert-Jan Houben. *Follow the Successful Crowd: Raising*

MOOC Completion Rates through Social Comparison at Scale. In Proceedings of the 7th International Conference on Learning Analytics and Knowledge, Vancouver, Canada. LAK'17. (Full conference paper)

- 9. Elle Wang, Dan Davis, **Guanliang Chen**, Luc Paquette. Workshop on Integrated Learning Analytics of MOOC Post-Course Development. In Proceedings of the 7th International Conference on Learning Analytics and Knowledge, Vancouver, Canada. LAK'17. (Workshop summary paper)
- Guanliang Chen, Dan Davis, Markus Krause, Efthimia Aivaloglou, Claudia Hauff, Geert-Jan Houben (2016). From Learners to Earners: Enabling MOOC Learners to Apply Their Skills and Earn Money in an Online Market Place. IEEE Transactions on Learning Technologies, Vol. 11(2): 264-274. (Journal paper)
- 11. Dan Davis, Guanliang Chen, Tim van der Zee, Claudia Hauff, Geert-Jan Houben. Retrieval Practice and Study Planning in MOOCs: Exploring Classroom-Based Self-Regulated Learning Strategies at Scale. In Proceedings of the 11th European Conference on Technology-Enhanced Learning, Lyon, France. EC-TEL'16. (Full conference paper, Best student paper award)
- 12. Guanliang Chen, Dan Davis, Claudia Hauff, Geert-Jan Houben. On the Impact of Personality in Massive Open Online Learning. In Proceedings of the 24th ACM International Conference on User Modeling, Adaptation and Personalization, Halifax, Canada. UMAP'16. (Full conference paper)
- Dan Davis, Guanliang Chen, Claudia Hauff, Geert-Jan Houben. Gauging MOOC Learners' Adherence to the Designed Learning Path. In Proceedings of the 9th International Conference on Educational Data Mining, Raleigh, USA. EDM'16. (Full conference paper)
- 14. Guanliang Chen, Dan Davis, Jun Lin, Claudia Hauff, Geert-Jan Houben. Beyond the MOOC platform: Gaining Insights about Learners from the Social Web. In Proceedings of the 8th ACM Conference on Web Science, Hannover, Germany. WebSci'16. (Full conference paper)
- 15. Guanliang Chen, Dan Davis, Claudia Hauff,Geert-Jan Houben. Learning Transfer: Does It Take Place in MOOCs? An Investigation into the Uptake of Functional Programming in Practice. In Proceedings of the 3rd ACM Conference on Learning @ Scale, Edinburgh, UK. L@S'16. (Full conference paper, Best student paper nominee)

- 16. Dan Davis, Guanliang Chen, Ioana Jivet, Claudia Hauff, Geert-Jan Houben. Encouraging Metacognition & Self-Regulation in MOOCs through Increased Learner Feedback. In Proceedings of the LAK 2016 Workshop on Learning Analytics for Learners, Edinburgh, UK. (Workshop paper)
- Guanliang Chen, Li Chen (2015). Augmenting service recommender systems by incorporating contextual opinions from user reviews. User Modeling and User-Adapted Interaction Journal (UMUAI), Vol. 25(3):295-329. (Journal paper)
- Li Chen, Guanliang Chen, Feng Wang (2015). Recommender systems based on user reviews: the state of the art. User Modeling and User-Adapted Interaction Journal (UMUAI), Vol. 25(2):99-154. (Journal paper)
- Guanliang Chen, Li Chen. Recommendation Based on Contextual Opinions. In Proceedings of 22nd International Conference on User Modelling, Adaption and Personalization, Aalborg, Denmark. UMAP'14. (Best student paper nominee)
- Jian Chen, Guanliang Chen, Haolan Zhang, Jin Huang, Gansen Zhao. Social Recommendation Based on Multi-relational Analysis. In IEEE/WIC/ACM International Conferences on Web Intelligence and Intelligent Agent Technology, Macau, China. WI-IAT'12. (Special session paper)

SIKS Dissertation Series

Since 1998, all dissertations written by Ph.D. students who have conducted their research under auspices of a senior research fellow of the SIKS research school are published in the SIKS Dissertation Series.

2019-13 Guanliang Chen (TUD), MOOC Analytics:

Learner Modeling and Content Generation 2019-12 Jacqueline Heinerman (VU), Better Together 2019-11 Yue Zhao (TUD), Learning Analytics Tech-nology to Understand Learner Behavioral Engagement in MOOCS

2019-10 Qing Chuan Ye (EUR), Multi-objective Opti-mization Methods for Allocation and Prediction

mization Methods for Allocation and Prediction 2019-09 Fahimeh Alizadeh Moghaddam (UVA), Self-adaptation for energy efficiency in software systems 2019-08 Frits de Nijs (TUD), Resource-constrained Multi-agent Markov Decision Processes 2019-07 Soude Fazeli (OUN), Recommender Systems in Social Learning Platforms 2019-06 Chris Dijkshoorn (VUA), Niche sourcing for Improving Access to Linked Cultural Heritage Datasets 2019-05 Sebastiaan van Zelst (TUE), Process Mining with Streaming Data

2019-04 Ridho Rahmadi (RUN), Finding stable causal

structures from clinical data 2019-03 Eduardo Gonzalez Lopez de Murillas (TUE), Process Mining on Databases: Extracting Event Data from Real Life Data Sources

2019-02 Emmanuelle Beauxis-Aussalet (CWI, UU), Statistics and Visualizations for Assessing Class Size Uncertaintu

certainty 2019-01 Rob van Eijk (UL), Comparing and Aligning Process Representations 2018-30 Wouter Beek (VU), The "K" in "semantic web" stands for "knowledge": scaling semantics to the web 2018-29 Yu Gu (UVT), Emotion Recognition from Mandarin Speech 2018-28 Christian Willemse (UT), Social Touch Tech-nologies: How they feel and how they make you feel 2018-27 Maikel Leemans (TUE), Hierarchical Process Mining for Scalable Software Analysis 2018-26 Roelof de Vries (UT), Theory-Based And Tailor-Made: Motivational Messages for Behavior Change Technology

2018-26 Roelot de Vries (U1), Theory-Based And Tailor-Made: Motivational Messages for Behavior Change Technology 2018-25 Riste Gligorov (VUA), Serious Games in Audio-Visual Collections 2018-24 Jered Vroon (UT), Responsive Social Position-ing Behaviour for Semi-Autonomous Telepresence Robots 2018-23 Kim Schouten (EUR), Semantics-driven Assact Based Sentiment Analysis

2018-23 Kim Schouten (EUR), Semantics-driven Aspect-Based Sentiment Analysis 2018-22 Eric Fernandes de Mello Araujo (VUA), Con-tagious: Modeling the Spread of Behaviours, Perceptions and Emotions in Social Networks 2018-21 Aad Slootmaker (OUN), EMERGO: a generic platform for authoring and playing scenario-based serious games

2018-20 Manxia Liu (RUN), Time and Bayesian Net-

2018-19 Minh Duc Pham (VUA), Emergent relational schemas for RDF

2018-18 Henriette Nakad (UL), De Notaris en Private Rechtspraak 2018-17 Jianpeng Zhang (TUE), On Graph Sample

Clustering

2018-16 Jaebok Kim (UT), Automatic recognition of engagement and emotion in a group of children 2018-15 Naser Davarzani (UM), Biomarker discovery

in heart failure 2018-14 Bart Joosten (UVT), Detecting Social Signals with Spatiotemporal Gabor Filters

with Spatiotemporal Gabor Filters 2018-13 Seyed Amin Tabatabaei (VUA), Using behav-ioral context in process mining: Exploring the added value of computational models for increasing the use of renew-able energy in the residential sector 2018-12 Xixi Lu (TUE), Using behavioral context in process mining 2018 11 Mahdi Sampleri (UVA), E. U.

2018-11 Mahdi Sargolzaei (UVA), Enabling Framefor Service-oriented Collaborative Network

work for Service-orientea Collaborative receiptions 2018-10 Julienka Mollee (VUA), Moving forward: sup-porting physical activity behavior change through intelli-gent technology 2018-09 Xu Xie (TUD), Data Assimilation in Discrete Event Simulations 2018-08 Rick Smetsers (RUN), Advances in Model

2018-08 Rick Smetsers (RUN), Advances in Model Learning for Software Systems 2018-07 Jieting Luo (UU), A formal account of oppor-tunism in multi-agent systems 2018-06 Dan Ionita (UT), Model-Driven Information Security Risk Assessment of Socio-Technical Systems

2018-05 Hugo Huurdeman (UVA), Supporting the Complex Dynamics of the Information Seeking Process **2018-04** Jordan Janeiro (TUD), Flexible Coordination

Support for Diagnosis Teams in Data-Centric Engineer-ing Tasks 2018-03 Steven Bosems (UT), Causal Models For Well-2010-03 Stoven Bostins (OI), Outsit models 10 weter Being: Knowledge Modeling, Model-Driven Development of Context-Aware Applications, and Behavior Prediction 2018-02 Felix Mannhardt (TUE), Multi-perspective Process Mining

2018-01 Han van der Aa (VUA), Comparing and Aligning Process Representations 2017-48 Angel Suarez (OU), Collaborative inquiry-

based learning 2017-47 Jie Yang (TUD), Crowd Knowledge Creation Acceleration 2017-46 Jan Schneider (OU), Sensor-based Learning

Support2017-45 Bas Testerink (UU), Decentralized Runtime Norm Enforcement

Norm Enforcement 2017-44 Garm Lucassen (UU), Understanding User Stories - Computational Linguistics in Agile Requirements Engineering 2017-43 Maaike de Boer (RUN), Semantic Mapping in

Video Retrieval

2017-42 Elena Sokolova (RUN), Causal discovery from mixed and missing data with applications on ADHD

datasets 2017-41 Adnan Manzoor (VUA), Minding a Healthy Lifestyle: An Exploration of Mental Processes and a Smart Environment to Provide Support for a Healthy Lifestule

Lajestyle 2017-40 Altaf Hussain Abro (VUA), Steer your Mind: Computational Exploration of Human Control in Relation to Emotions, Desires and Social Support For applications in human-aware support systems^{*} 2017-39 Sara Ahmadi (RUN), Exploiting properties of

the human auditory system and compressive sensing meth-ods to increase noise robustness in ASR 2017-38 Alex Kayal (TUD), Normative Social Applica-

2017-37 Alejandro Montes Garca (TUE), WiBAF: A Within Browser Adaptation Framework that Enables Control over Privacy

2017-36 Yuanhao Guo (UL), Shape Analysis for Phenotype Characterisation from High-throughput Imaging 2017-35 Martine de Vos (VU), Interpreting natural sci-

ence spreadsheets 2017-34 Maren Scheffel (OUN), The Evaluation

2017-34 Maren Scheffel (OUN), The Evaluation Framework for Learning Analytics 2017-33 Brigit van Loggem (OU), Towards a De-sign Rationale for Software Documentation: A Model of Computer-Mediated Activity 2017-32 Thaer Samar (RUN), Access to and Retriev-ability of Content in Web Archives 2017-31 Ben Ruijl (UL), Advances in computational methods for QFT calculations 2017-30 Wilma Latuny (UVT), The Power of Facial Expressions

2017-30 Wilma Latuny (UV1), The Power of Facial Expressions 2017-29 Adel Alhuraibi (UVT), From IT-BusinessStrategic Alignment to Performance: A Mod-erated Mediation Model of Social Innovation, and Enter-prise Governance of IT 2017-28 John Klein (VU), Architecture Practices for

2017-28 John Klein (VU), Architecture Practices for Complex Contexts
2017-27 Michiel Joosse (UT), Investigating Position-ing and Gaze Behaviors of Social Robots: People's Pref-erences, Perceptions and Behaviors
2017-26 Merel Jung (UT), Socially intelligent robots that understand and respond to human touch
2017-25 Veruska Zamborlini (VU), Knowledge Repre-sentation for Clinical Guidelines, with applications to Multimorbidity Analysis and Literature Search
2017-24 Chang Wang (TUD), Use of Affordances for

2017-24 Chang Wang (TUD), Use of Affordances for Efficient Robot Learning 2017-23 David Graus (UVA), Entities of Interest—

Discovery in Digital Traces 2017-22 Sara Magliacane (VU), Logics for causal in-

ference under uncertainty 2017-21 Jeroen Linssen (UT), Meta Matters in In-

teractive Storytelling and Serious Gaming (A Play on Worlds)

2017-20 Mohammadbashir Sedighi (TUD), Fostering Engagement in Knowledge Sharing: The Role of Perceived Benefits, Costs and Visibility
2017-19 Jeroen Vuurens (TUD), Proximity of Terms, Texts and Semantic Vectors in Information Retrieval
2017-18 Ridho Reinanda (UVA), Entity Associations for Search

for Search

2017-17 Daniel Dimov (UL), Crowdsourced Online Dispute Resolution 2017-16 Aleksandr Chuklin (UVA), Understanding

2017-16 Aleksandr Chukin (UVA), Understanding and Modeling Users of Modern Search Engines 2017-15 Peter Berck, Radboud University (RUN), Memory-Based Text Correction 2017-14 Shoshannah Tekofsky (UvT), You Are Who You Play You Are: Modelling Player Traits from Video

2017-13 Gijs Huisman (UT), Social Touch Technology Extending the reach of social touch through haptic tech-

2017-12 Sander Leemans (TUE), Robust Process Min-

ing with Guarantees 2017-11 Florian Kunneman (RUN), Modelling patterns

of time and emotion in Twitter #anticipointment 2017-10 Robby van Delden (UT), (Steering) Interac-tive Play Behavior

2017-09 Dong Nguyen (UT), Text as Social and Cul-tural Data: A Computational Perspective on Variation in Text

2017-08 Rob Konijn (VU), Detecting Interesting Dif-Gerences: Data Mining in Health Insurance Data using Outlier Detection and Subgroup Discovery
 2017-07 Roel Bertens (UU), Insight in Information:

2017-06 Damir Vandic (EUR), Intelligent Information Systems for Web Product Search

2017-05 Mahdieh Shadi (UVA), Collaboration Behav-

2017-04 Mrunal Gawade (CWI), MULTI-CORE PAR-ALLELISM IN A COLUMN-STORE 2017-03 Daniël Harold Telgen (UU), Grid Manufactur

ing; A Cyber-Physical Approach with Autonomous Prod-ucts and Reconfigurable Manufacturing Machines **2017-02** Sjoerd Timmer (UU), Designing and Under-

standing Forensic Bayesian Networks using Argumenta-

2017-01 Jan-Jaap Oerlemans (UL), Investigating Cy-

2016-50 Yan Wang (UVT), The Bridge of Dreams: To-wards a Method for Operational Performance Alignment in IT-enabled Service Supply Chains

2016-49 Gleb Polevoy (TUD), Participation and Inter-action in Projects. A Game-Theoretic Analysis 2016-48 Tanja Buttler (TUD), Collecting Lessons

Learned 2016-47 Christina Weber (UL), Real-time foresight -Preparedness for dynamic innovation networks

2016-46 Jorge Gallego Perez (UT), Robots to Make you

2016-45 Bram van de Laar (UT), Experiencing Brain-Computer Interface Control 2016-44 Thibault Sellam (UVA), Automatic Assistants

for Database Exploration

for Database Exploration 2016-43 Saskia Koldijk (RUN), Context-Aware Support for Stress Self-Management: From Theory to Practice 2016-42 Spyros Martzoukos (UVA), Combinatorial and Compositional Aspects of Bilingual Aligned Corpora 2016-41 Thomas King (TUD), Governing Governance: A Formal Framework for Analysing Institutional Design and Enactment Governance

2016-40 Christian Detweiler (TUD), Accounting for in Design

2016-39 Merijn Bruijnes (UT), Believable Suspect Agents; Response and Interpersonal Style Selection for an Artificial Suspect

2016-38 Andrea Minuto (UT), MATERIALS THAT MATTER - Smart Materials meet Art & Interaction De-sign

2016-37 Giovanni Sileno (UvA), Aligning Law and Action - a conceptual and computational inquiry 2016-36 Daphne Karreman (UT), Beyond R2D2: The

2016-36 Daphne Karreman (UT), Beyond R2D2: The design of nonverbal interaction behavior optimized for robot-specific morphologies
2016-35 Zhaochun Ren (UVA), Monitoring Social Media: Summarization, Classification and Recommendation 2016-34 Dennis Schunselaar (TUE), Configurable Process Trees: Elicitation, Analysis, and Enactment
2016-33 Peter Bloem (UVA), Single Sample Statistics, exercises in learning from inst one example

exercises in learning from just one example 2016-32 Eelco Vriezekolk (UT), Assessing Telecommu-nication Service Availability Risks for Crisis Organisa-

2016-31 Mohammad Khelghati (UT), Deep web con-tent monitoring

2016-30 Ruud Mattheij (UvT), The Eyes Have It

2016-29 Nicolas Hning (UVI), *The Byes Ruber It* **2016-29** Nicolas Hning (TUD), *Peak reduction in de-*centralised electricity systems -Markets and prices for

2016-28 Mingxin Zhang (TUD), Large-scale Agent-based Social Simulation - A study on epidemic prediction

and control 2016-27 Wen Li (TUD), Understanding Geo-spatial In-formation on Social Media 2016-26 Dilhan Thilakarathne (VU), In or Out of

Control: Exploring Computational Models to Study the Role of Human Awareness and Control in Behavioural Choices, with Applications in Aviation and Energy Man-agement Domains

2016-25 Julia Kiseleva (TU/e), Using Contextual In-formation to Understand Searching and Browsing Behav-

2016-24 Brend Wanders (UT), Repurposing and Probabilistic Integration of Data; An Iterative and data model independent approach **2016-23** Fei Cai (UVA), Query Auto Completion in In-

formation Retrieval

2016-22 Grace Lewis (VU), Software Architecture

2016-22 Grace Lewis (VU), Software Architecture Strategies for Cyber-Foraging Systems 2016-21 Alejandro Moreno Clleri (UT), From Tradi-tional to Interactive Playspaces: Automatic Analysis of Player Behavior in the Interactive Tag Playground 2016-20 Daan Odijk (UVA), Context & Semantics in News & Web Search 2016-19 Julia Efremova (Tu/e), Mining Social Struc-tures from Genealogical Data

tures from Genealogical Data 2016-18 Albert Meroo Peuela (VU), Refining Statisti-

cal Data on the Web 2016-17 Berend Weel (VU), Towards Embodied Evolu-

2016-17 Berend Weel (VU), Towarus Embource Location of Robot Organisms 2016-16 Guangliang Li (UVA), Socially Intelligent Au-tonomous Agents that Learn from Human Reward 2016-15 Steffen Michels (RUN), Hybrid Probabilistic Logics - Theoretical Aspects, Algorithms and Experiments 2016-14 Ravi Khadka (UU), Revisiting Legacy Soft-mere System Modernization

2016-13 Nana Baah Gyan (VU), The Web, Speech Technologies and Rural Development in West Africa - An

Technologies and Rural Development in West Africa - An ICT4D Approach 2016-12 Max Knobbout (UU), Logics for Modelling and Verifying Normative Multi-Agent Systems 2016-11 Anne Schuth (UVA), Search Engines that Learn from Their Users 2016-10 George Karafotias (VUA), Parameter Control for Evolutionary Algorithms 2016.09 Archana Nottamkandath (VUI) Trusting

2016-09 Archana Nottamkandath (VU), Trusting Crowdsourced Information on Cultural Artefacts 2016-08 Matje van de Camp (TiU), A Link to the Past: Constructing Historical Social Networks from Unstruc-

tured Data **2016-07** Jeroen de Man (VU), Measuring and modeling

2016-06 Michel Wilson (TUD), Robust scheduling in

an uncertain environment **2016-05** Evgeny Sherkhonov (UVA), Expanded Acyclic

Queries: Containment and an Application in Explaining Missing Answers 2016-04 Laurens Rietveld (VU), Publishing and Con-

suming Linked Data 2016-03 Maya Sappelli (RUN), Knowledge Work in Context: User Centered Knowledge Worker Support

Context: User Centered Knowledge Worker Support 2016-02 Michiel Christiaan Meulendijk (UU), Opti-mizing medication reviews through decision support: pre-scribing a better pill to swallow 2016-01 Syed Saiden Abbas (RUN), Recognition of Shapes by Humans and Machines 2015-35 Jungxao Xu (TUD), Affective Body Language of Humanoid Robots: Perception and Effects in Human Robot Interaction 2015-34 Victor de Graaf (UT), Gesocial Recommender Sustems

Sustems 2015-33 Frederik Schadd (TUD), Ontology Mapping

with Auxiliary Resources 2015-32 Jerome Gard (UL), Corporate Venture Man-

agement in SMEs 2015-31 Yakup Koç (TUD), On the robustness of

Power Grids 2015-30 Kiavash Bahreini (OU), Real-time Multimodal

2015-29 Hendrik Baier (UM), Monte-Carlo Tree Search Enhancements for One-Player and Two-Player

2015-28 Janet Bagorogoza (TiU), KNOWLEDGE MANAGEMENT AND HIGH PERFORMANCE; The Uganda Financial Institutions Model for HPO

2015-27 Sándor Héman (CWI), Updating compressed

colomn stores 2015-26 Alexander Hogenboom (EUR), Sentiment Analysis of Text Guided by Semantics and Structure 2015-25 Steven Woudenberg (UU), Bayesian Tools for Early Disease Detection

2015-24 Richard Berendsen (UVA), Finding People, Papers, and Posts: Vertical Search Algorithms and Eval-

2015-23 Luit Gazendam (VU), Cataloguer Support in

Cultural Heritage 2015-22 Zhemin Zhu (UT), Co-occurrence Rate Net-

works 2015-21 Sibren Fetter (OUN), Using Peer-Support to Expand and Stabilize Online Learning 2015-20 Lois Vanhée (UU), Using Culture and Values to Support Flexible Coordination 2015-19 Bernardo Tabuenca (OUN), Ubiquitous Tech-

nology for Lifelong Learners

2015-18 Holger Pirk (CWI), Waste Not, Want Not! Managing Relational Data in Asymmetric Memories 2015-17 André van Cleeff (UT), Physical and Digital Security Mechanisms: Properties, Combinations and Trade-offs

2015-16 Changyun Wei (UT), Cognitive Coordination

2015-16 Changyun Wei (01), Cognitive Cooraination for Cooperative Multi-Robot Teamwork 2015-15 Klaas Andries de Graaf (VU), Ontology-based Software Architecture Documentation 2015-14 Bart van Straalen (UT), A cognitive approach

2015-13 Giuseppe Procaccianti (VU), Energy-Efficient Software

2015-12 Julie M. Birkholz (VU), Modi Operandi of So-cial Network Dynamics: The Effect of Context on Scientific Collaboration Networks

2015-11 Yongming Luo (TUE), Designing algorithms for big graph datasets: A study of computing bisimulation and joins

and joins 2015-10 Henry Hermans (OUN), OpenU: design of an integrated system to support lifelong learning 2015-09 Randy Klaassen (UT), HCI Perspectives on Behavior Change Support Systems 2015-08 Jie Jiang (TUD), Organizational Compliance: An agent-based model for designing and evaluating orga-nizational integrations.

An algeneous induct join acarging the contacting en-nizational interactions 2015-07 Maria-Hendrike Peetz (UvA), Time-Aware Online Reputation Analysis 2015-06 Farideh Heidari (TUD), Business Process

Quality Computation - Computing Non-Functional Re-quirements to Improve Business Processes 2015-05 Christoph Bösch (UT), Cryptographically En-

2015-04 Howard Spoelstra (OUN), Collaborations in

Open Learning Environments 2015-03 Twan van Laarhoven (RUN), Machine learn-ing for network data

2015-02 Faiza Bukhsh (UvT), Smart auditing: Inno-

2015-02 Faiza Bukhsh (UvT), Smart auditing: Innovative Compliance Checking in Customs Controls
2015-01 Niels Netten (UvA), Machine Learning for Relevance of Information in Crisis Response
2014-47 Shangsong Liang (UVA), Fusion and Diversification in Information Retrieval
2014-46 Ke Tao (TUD), Social Web Data Analytics: Relevance, Redundancy, Diversity
2014-45 Birgit Schmitz (OU), Mobile Games for Learning: A Pattern-Based Approach
2014-44 Paulien Meesters (UvT), Intelligent Blauw. Intelligence-gestuwed politicarg in Bebiedsgebonden een

Intelligence-gestuurde politiezorg in gebiedsgebonden eenheden 2014-43 Kevin Vlaanderen (UU), Supporting Process

Improvement using Method Increments 2014-42 Carsten Eickhoff (CWI/TUD), Contextual

2014-42 Carsten Eickhoff (CWI/TUD), Contextual Multidimensional Relevance Models 2014-41 Frederik Hogenboom (EUR), Automated De-tection of Financial Events in News Test 2014-40 Walter Oboma (RUN), A Framework for Knowledge Management Using ICT in Higher Education 2014-39 Jasmina Maric (UvT), Web Communities, Im-migration and Social Capital 2014-38 Danny Plass-Oude Bos (UT), Making brain-computer interfaces better: improving usability through post-processing

post-processing

2014-37 Maral Dadvar (UT), Experts and Machines United Against Cyberbullying 2014-36 Joos Buijs (TUE), Flexible Evolutionary Algo-

2014-36 Joos Buijs (TUE), Flexible Evolutionary Algorithms for Mining Structured Process Models
2014-35 Joost van Oijen (UU), Cognitive Agents in Virtual Worlds: A Middleware Design Approach
2014-34 Christina Manteli (VU), The Effect of Governance in Global Software Development: Analyzing Transactive Memory Systems
2014-33 Tesfa Tegegne Asfaw (RUN), Service Discovery in eHealth
2014-32 Naser Ayat (UVA), On Entity Resolution in Probabilistic Data

2014-32 Leo van Moergestel (UU), Agent Technology in Agile Multiparallel Manufacturing and Product Support 2014-30 Peter de Kock Berenschot (UvT), Anticipat-

Criminal Behaviour ¹¹¹ 2014-29 Jaap Kabbedijk (UU), Variability in Multi-Tenant Enterprise Software 2014-28 Anna Chmielowiec (VU), Decentralized k-Clique Matching

2014-27 Rui Jorge Almeida (EUR), Conditional Density Models Integrating Fuzzy and Probabilistic Representations of Uncertainty $% \mathcal{L}^{(1)}(\mathcal{L})$

2014-26 Tim Baarslag (TUD), What to Bid and When to Stop

2014-25 Martijn Lappenschaar (RUN), New network models for the analysis of disease interaction 2014-24 Davide Ceolin (VU), Trusting Semi-structured

Web Data 2014-23 Eleftherios Sidirourgos (UvA/CWI), Space Efficient Indexes for the Big Data Era 2014-22 Marieke Peeters (UU), Personalized Educational Games - Developing agent-supported scenario-based

training2014-21 Kassidy Clark (TUD), Negotiation and Moni-

2014-20 Mena Habib (UT), Named Entity Extraction and Disambiguation for Informal Text: The Missing Link 2014-19 Vincius Ramos (TUE), Adaptive Hypermedia Courses: Qualitative and Quantitative Evaluation and

Courses: Qualitative and Quantitative Evaluation and Tool Support 2014-18 Mattijs Ghijsen (VU), Methods and Models for the Design and Study of Dynamic Agent Organizations 2014-17 Kathrin Dentler (VU), Computing healthcare quality indicators automatically: Secondary Use of Pa-tient Data and Semantic Interoperability 2014-16 Krystyna Millan (VU), Supporting trial re-cruitment and design by automatically interpreting eligi-bility criteria 2014-15 Natalva Mogles (VU). Agent-Based Analusis

2014-15 Natalya Mogles (VU), Agent-Based Analysis

and Support of Human Functioning in Complex Socio-Technical Systems: Applications in Safety and Healthcare 2014-14 Yangyang Shi (TUD), Language Models With 2014-13 Arlette van Wissen (VU), Agent-Based Sup-

2014-15 Antecte van Wissen (VO), Agent-Dasca Sap-port for Behavior Change: Models and Applications in Health and Safety Domains 2014-12 Willem van Willigen (VU), Look Ma, No Hands: Aspects of Autonomous Vehicle Control 2014-11 Janneke van der Zwaan (TUD), An Empathic Virtual Buddy for Social Support 2014-10 Juan Salvador Bago Zapata (VII), Service

2014-10 Ivan Salvador Razo Zapata (VU), Service

Value Networks 2014-09 Philip Jackson (UvT), Toward Human-Level

Value Networks
2014-09 Philip Jackson (UvT), Toward Human-Level Artificial Intelligence: Representation and Computation of Meaning in Natural Language
2014-08 Samur Araujo (TUD), Data Integration over Distributed and Heterogeneous Data Endpoints
2014-06 Samur Araujo (TUD), Aligning Observed and Modeled Behavior
2014-06 Damian Tamburri (VU), Supporting Networked Software Development
2014-05 Jurriaan van Reijsen (UU), Knowledge Perspectives on Advancing Dynamic Capability
2014-04 Hanna Jochmann-Mannak (UT), Websites for children: search strategies and interface design - Three studies on children's search performance and evaluation
2014-03 Sergio Raul Duarte Torres (UT), Information Retrieval for Children: Search Behavior and Solutions
2014-01 Nicola Barile (UU), Studies in Learning Monotone Models from Data
2013-43 Marc Bron (UVA), Exploration and Contextualization through Interaction and Concepts
2012 4.0 Davis Parken (TUD), Alagrithms for Simple

2013-42 Léon Planken (TUD), Algorithms for Simple

2013-42 Leon Planken (TUD), Algorithms for Simple Temporal Reasoning 2013-41 Jochem Liem (UVA), Supporting the Concep-tual Modelling of Dynamic Systems: A Knowledge Engi-neering Perspective on Qualitative Reasoning 2013-40 Pim Nijssen (UM), Monte-Carlo Tree Search for Multi-Player Games

2013-39 Joop de Jong (TUD), A Method for Enterprise Ontology based Design of Enterprise Information Systems 2013-38 Eelco den Heijer (VU), Autonomous Evolu-

tionary Art 2013-37 Dirk Börner (OUN), Ambient Learning Displays

2013-36 Than Lam Hoang (TUe), Pattern Mining in Data Streams 2013-35 Abdallah El Ali (UvA), Minimal Mobile Hu-

man Computer Interaction

2013-34 Kien Tjin-Kam-Jet (UT), Distributed Deep Web Search 2013-33 Qi Gao (TUD), User Modeling and Personalization in the Microblogging Sphere

2013-32 Kamakshi Rajagopal (OUN), Networking For Learning; The role of Networking in a Lifelong Learner's Professional Development 2013-31 Dinh Khoa Nguyen (UvT), Blueprint Model

and Language for Engineering Cloud Applications 2013-30 Joyce Nakatumba (TUE), Resource-Aware Business Process Management: Analysis and Support

2013-29 Iwan de Kok (UT), Listening Heads **2013-28** Frans van der Sluis (UT), When Complexity becomes Interesting: An Inquiry into the Information eX

2013-27 Mohammad Huq (UT), Framework Managing Data Provenance Inference-based

2013-26 Alireza Zarghami (UT), Architectural Support for Dynamic Homecare Service Provisioning 2013-25 Agnieszka Anna Latoszek-Berendsen (UM),

Intention-based Decision Support. A new way of repre-senting and implementing clinical guidelines in a Decision Support System 2013-24 Haitham Bou Ammar (UM), Automated

2013-23 Patricio de Alencar Silva (UvT), Value Activ-

ity Monitoring 2013-22 Tom Claassen (RUN), Causal Discovery and

2013-21 Sander Wubben (UvT), Text-to-text genera-tion by monolingual machine translation

tion by monolingual machine translation 2013-20 Katja Hofmann (UvA), Fast and Reliable On-line Learning to Rank for Information Retrieval 2013-19 Renze Steenhuizen (TUD), Coordinated Multi-Agent Planning and Scheduling 2013-18 Jeroen Janssens (UvT), Outlier Selection and One-Class Classification 2013-17 Koen Kok (VU), The PowerMatcher: Smart Coordination for the Smart Electricity Grid 2013-16 Eric Kok (UU), Exploring the practical benefits of argumentation in multi-agent deliberation 2013-15 Daniel Hennes (UM), Multiagent Learning -Dynamic Games and Applications

2013-15 Daniel Hennes (UM), Multiagent Learning -Dynamic Games and Applications
2013-14 Jafar Tanha (UVA), Ensemble Approaches to Semi-Supervised Learning Learning
2013-13 Mohammad Safiri (UT), Service Tailoring: User-centric creation of integrated IT-based homecare ser-vices to support independent living of elderly
2013-12 Marian Razavian (VU), Knowledge-driven Mi-eration to Services

gration to Services 2013-11 Evangelos Pournaras (TUD), Multi-level Re-

2013-11 Evangelos Pournaras (TUD), Multi-level Reconfigurable Self-organization in Overlay Services
2013-10 Jeewanie Jayasinghe Arachchige (UvT), A Unified Modeling Framework for Service Design
2013-09 Fabio Gori (RUN), Metagenomic Data Analysis: Computational Methods and Applications
2013-08 Robbert-Jan Merk (VU), Making enemies: cognitive modeling for opponent agents in fighter pilot simulators

simulators 2013-07 Giel van Lankveld (UvT), Quantifying Indi-

vidual Player Differences 2013-06 Romulo Goncalves (CWI), The Data Cy-clotron: Juggling Data and Queries for a Data Warehouse

2013-05 Dulce Pumareja (UT), Groupware Require-

ments Evolutions Patterns 2013-04 Chetan Yadati (TUD), Coordinating au-tonomous planning and scheduling 2013-03 Szymon Klarman (VU), Reasoning with Con-

2013-03 Symbol Ramman (VC), Reasoning with Contents in Description Logics
 2013-02 Erietta Liarou (CWI), MonetDB/DataCell: Leveraging the Column-store Database Technology for Efficient and Scalable Stream Processing
 2013-01 Viorel Milea (EUR), News Analytics for Financial Decision Support
 2012 El Large et Large (TUD), Humistics in Duranic

2012-51 Jeroen de Jong (TUD), Heuristics in Dynamic Sceduling; a practical framework with a case study in ele-vator dispatching 2012-50 Steven van Kervel (TUD), Ontologogy driven

2012-50 Steven van Kervel (TUD), Ontologogy driven Enterprise Information Systems Engineering
 2012-49 Michael Kaisers (UM), Learning against Learning - Evolutionary dynamics of reinforcement learn-ing algorithms in strategic interactions
 2012-48 Jorn Bakker (TUE), Handling Abrupt Changes

in Evolving Time-series Data 2012-47 Manos Tsagkias (UVA), Mining Social Media:

Tracking Content and Predicting Behavio

2012-46 Simon Carter (UVA), Exploration and Exploitation of Multilingual Data for Statistical Machine Translation

2012-45 Benedikt Kratz (UvT), A Model and Language for Business-aware Transactions 2012-44 Anna Tordai (VU), On Combining Alignment

Techniques 2012-42 Dominique Verpoorten (OU), Reflection Am-

plifiers in self-regulated Learning 2012-41 Sebastian Kelle (OU), Game Design Patterns

2012-41 Octavitation Role (OC), Count Design Futures for Learning 2012-40 Agus Gunawan (UvT), Information Access for SMEs in Indonesia 2012-39 Hassan Fatemi (UT), Risk-aware design of value and coordination networks 2012-38 Selmar Smit (VU), Parameter Tuning and Sci-

2012-38 Selmar Smit (VU), Parameter Tuning and Scientific Testing in Evolutionary Algorithms
2012-37 Agnes Nakakawa (RUN), A Collaboration Process for Enterprise Architecture Creation
2012-36 Denis Ssebugwawo (RUN), Analysis and Evaluation of Collaborative Modeling Processes
2012-35 Evert Haasdijk (VU), Never Too Old To Learn - On-line Evolution of Controllers in Swarm- and Modular Robotics
2012-34 Pavol Jancura (RUN), Evolutionary analysis in PPI networks and applications

2012-32 Wietske Visser (TUD), Qualitative multi-criteria preference representation and reasoning

2012-31 Emily Bagarukayo (RUN), A Learning by Construction Approach for Higher Order Cognitive Skills Improvement, Building Capacity and Infrastructure 2012-30 Alina Pommeranz (TUD), Designing Human-

Centered Systems for Reflective Decision Making 2012-29 Almer Tigelaar (UT), Peer-to-Peer Informa-

tion Retrieval 2012-28 Nancy Pascall (UvT), Engendering Technol-

2012-22 Harris Fascar (UVI), Engenteering Technol-ogy Empowering Women 2012-27 Hayrettin Gurkok (UT), Mind the Sheep! User Experience Evaluation & Brain-Computer Interface

2012-26 Emile de Maat (UVA), Making Sense of Legal

2012-20 Emile de Maat (UVA), Making Jerice of Legar Text 2012-25 Silja Eckartz (UT), Managing the Business Case Development in Inter-Organizational IT Projects: A Methodology and its Application 2012-24 Laurens van der Werff (UT), Evaluation of Noisy Transcripts for Spoken Document Retrieval 2012-23 Christian Muehl (UT), Toward Affective Brain-Computer Interfaces: Exploring the Neurophysiol-ogy of Affect during Human Media Interaction 2012-22 Thijs Vis (UvT), Intelligence, politie en vei-ligheidsdienst: verenigbare grootheden? 2012-21 Roberto Cornacchia (TUD), Querying Sparse Matrices for Information Retrieval 2012-20 Ali Bahramisharif (RUN), Covert Visual Spa-tial Attention, a Robust Paradigm for Brain-Computer In-

tial Attention, a Robust Paradigm for Brain-Computer Interfacine

2012-19 Helen Schonenberg (TUE), What's Next? Operational Support for Business Process Execution 2012-18 Eltjo Poort (VU), Improving Solution Archi-

tecting Practices 2012-17 Amal Elgammal (UvT), Towards a Compre-

2012-17 Amal Elgammal (UvT), Towards a Comprehensive Framework for Business Process Compliance
2012-16 Fiemke Both (VU), Helping people by understanding them - Ambient Agents supporting task execution and depression treatment
2012-15 Natalie van der Wal (VU), Social Agents. Agent-Based Modelling of Integrated Internal and Social Dynamics of Cognitive and Affective Processes.
2012-14 Evgeny Knutov (TUE), Generic Adaptation Framework for Unifying Adaptive Web-based Systems
2012-13 Suleman Shahid (UvT), Fun and Face: Exploring non-verbal expressions of emotion during playful

ploring non-verbal expressions of emotion during playful

ions 2 Kees van der Sluijs (TUE), Model Driven De-2012-12 sign and Data Integration in Semantic Web Information Systems

2012-11 J.C.B. Rantham Prabhakara (TUE), Process Mining in the Large: Preprocessing, Discovery, and Diag-

2012-10 David Smits (TUE), Towards a Generic Dis-**2012-09** Ricardo Neisse (UT), Trust and Privacy Man-

agement Support for Context-Aware Service Platforms

2012-08 Gerben de Vries (UVA), Kernel Methods for

2012-08 Gerben de Vries (UVA), Kernel Methods for Vessel Trajectories
2012-07 Rianne van Lambalgen (VU), When the Go-ing Gets Tough: Exploring Agent-based Models of Human Performance under Demanding Conditions
2012-06 Wolfgang Reinhardt (OU), Awareness Sup-port for Knowledge Workers in Research Networks
2012-05 Marijn Plomp (UU), Maturing Interorganisa-tional Information Systems
2012-04 Jurriaan Souer (UU), Development of Content Management System-based Web Amplications

2012-04 Jirrhan Soure (UO), Development of Content Management System-based Web Applications 2012-03 Adam Vanya (VU), Supporting Architecture Evolution by Mining Software Repositories 2012-02 Muhammad Umair (VU), Adaptivity, emo-tion, and Rationality in Human and Ambient Agent Mod-

2012-01 Terry Kakeeto (UvT), Relationship Marketing

2011-49 Andreea Niculescu (UT), Conversational in-terfaces for task-oriented spoken dialogues: design aspects influencing interaction quality
2011-48 Mark Ter Maat (UT), Response Selection and

Turn-taking for a Sensitive Artificial Listening Agent 2011-47 Azizi Bin Ab Aziz (VU), Exploring Compu-tational Models for Intelligent Support of Persons with Depression

2011-46 Beibei Hu (TUD), Towards Contextualized In-formation Delivery: A Rule-based Architecture for the Do-main of Mobile Police Work

2011-45 Herman Stehouwer (UvT), Statistical Lan-guage Models for Alternative Sequence Selection 2011-44 Boris Reuderink (UT), Robust Brain-

Computer Interfaces 2011-43 Henk van der Schuur (UU), Process Improve-

2011-42 Michal Sindlar (UU), Explaining Behavior through Mental State Attribution

unrough Mental State Attribution 2011-41 Luan Ibraimi (UT), Cryptographically En-forced Distributed Data Access Control 2011-40 Viktor Clerc (VU), Architectural Knowledge Management in Global Software Development 2011-39 Joost Westra (UU), Organizing Adaptation us-ing Agents in Serious Games 2011-38 Nyree Lemmons (UM) Base inspired Dis-

2011-38 Nyree Lemmens (UM), Bee-inspired Dis-tributed Optimization

2011-37 Adriana Burlutiu (RUN), Machine Learning for Pairwise Data, Applications for Preference Learning and Supervised Network Inference

2011-36 Erik van der Spek (UU), Experiments in seri-ous game design: a cognitive approach 2011-35 Maaike Harbers (UU), Explaining Agent Be-

havior in Virtual Training 2011-34 Paolo Turrini (UU), Strategic Reasoning in In-terdependence: Logical and Game-theoretical Investiga-

2011-33 Tom van der Weide (UU), Arguing to Motivate Decisions 2011-32 Nees-Jan van Eck (EUR), Methodological Ad-

2011-31 Ludo Waltman (EUR), Computational and Game-Theoretic Approaches for Modeling Bounded Ratio

alit 2011-30 Egon van den Broek (UT), Affective Signal

Processing (ASP): Unraveling the mystery of emotions 2011-29 Faisal Kamiran (TUE), Discrimination-aware Classification

2011-28 Rianne Kaptein (UVA), Effective Focused Re-trieval by Exploiting Query Context and Document Struc-2011-28

2011-27 Aniel Bhulai (VU), Dynamic website optimization through autonomous management of design patterns 2011-26 Matthijs Aart Pontier (VU), Virtual Agents for Human Communication - Emotion Regulation and International Communication - Disorder Regulation and Involvement-Distance Trade-Offs in Embodied Conversa-tional Agents and Robots
 2011-25 Syed Waqar ul Qounain Jaffry (VU)), Analy-

2011-24 Herwin van Welbergen (UT), Behavior Gen-

2011-24 Herwin van Welbergen (UT), Behavior Gen-eration for Interpersonal Coordination with Virtual Hu-mans On Specifying, Scheduling and Realizing Multimodal Virtual Human Behavior 2011-23 Wouter Weerkamp (UVA), Finding People and their Utterances in Social Media 2011-22 Junte Zhang (UVA), System Evaluation of Archival Description and Access

2011-21 Linda Terlouw (TUD), Modularization and Specification of Service-Oriented Systems 2011-20 Qing Gu (VU), Guiding service-oriented soft-ware engineering - A view-based approach

2011-19 Ellen Rusman (OU), The Mind's Eye on Per-

ional Profiles 2011-18 Mark Ponsen (UM), Strategic Decision-

Making in complex games 2011-17 Jiyin He (UVA), Exploring Topic Structure:

Coherence, Diversity and Relatedness 2011-16 Maarten Schadd (UM), Selective Search in Games of Different Complexity

2011-15 Marijn Koolen (UvA), The Meaning of Struc-ture: the Value of Link Evidence for Information Re-trieval

2011-14 Milan Lovric (EUR), Behavioral Finance and

Agent-Based Artificial Markets 2011-13 Xiaoyu Mao (UvT), Airport under Control. Multiagent Scheduling for Airport Ground Handling

Multiagent Scheduling for Airport Ground Handling 2011-12 Carmen Bratosin (TUE), Grid Architecture for Distributed Process Mining 2011-11 Dhaval Vyas (UT), Designing for Awareness: An Experience-focused HCI Perspective 2011-10 Bart Bogaert (UvT), Cloud Content Con-tention

tention 2011-09 Tim de Jong (OU), Contextualised Mobile Media for Learning

dia for Learning **2011-08** Nieske Vergunst (UU), BDI-based Generation of Robust Task-Oriented Dialogues **2011-07** Yujia Cao (UT), Multimodal Information Pre-sentation for High Load Human Computer Interaction **2011-06** Yiwen Wang (TUE), Semantically-Enhanced Recommendations in Cultural Heritage **2011-05** Base van der Raadt (VU), Enterprise Archi-tecture Coming of Age - Increasing the Performance of am

2011-05 Dise van der Radat (VO), Enterprise Architecture Coming of Age - Increasing the Performance of an Emerging Discipline.
 2011-04 Hado van Hasselt (UU), Insights in Reinforcement Learning; Formal analysis and empirical evaluation of temporal-difference learning algorithms
 2011-03 Jan Martijn van der Werf (TUE), Compositional Design and Verification of Compariset Read In

tional Design and Verification of Component-Based In-formation Systems **2011-02** Nick Tinnemeier (UU), Organizing Agent Or-

2011-02 Nick Tinnemeier (UU), Organizing Agent Organizations. Syntax and Operational Semantics of an Organization-Oriented Programming Language
2011-01 Botond Cseke (RUN), Variational Algorithms for Bayesian Inference in Latent Gaussian Models
2010-53 Edgar Meij (UVA), Combining Concepts and Language Models for Information Access
2010-52 Peter-Paul van Maanen (VU), Adaptive Support for Murger Computer Variation Language Models for January Evolution Access

port for Human-Computer Teams: Exploring the Use of Cognitive Models of Trust and Attention 2010-51 Alia Khairia Amin (CWI), Understanding and

supporting information seeking tasks in multiple sources 2010-50 Bouke Huurnink (UVA), Search in Audiovi-

sual Broadcast Archives 2010-49 Jahn-Takeshi Saito (UM), Solving difficult game positions 2010-47 Cher Chen Li (UT), Mining Process Model Vari-

2010-47 Chen Li (UT), Mining Process Model Vari-ants: Challenges, Techniques, Examples 2010-46 Vincent Pijpers (VU), e3alignment: Exploring Inter-Organizational Business-ICT Alignment 2010-45 Vasilios Andrikopoulos (UvT), A theory and

2010-45 Vashios Andrikopolios (UVI), A theory and model for the evolution of software services
 2010-44 Pieter Bellekens (TUE), An Approach towards Context-sensitive and User-adapted Access to Heteroge-neous Data Sources, Illustrated in the Television Domain
 2010-43 Peter van Kranenburg (UU), A Computa-tional Approach to Content-Based Retrieval of Folk Song Molectice

Melodi **2010-42** Sybren de Kinderen (VU), Needs-driven ser-vice bundling in a multi-supplier setting - the computa-tional e3-service approach

2010-41 Guillaume Chaslot (UM), Monte-Carlo Tree

Search 2010-40 Mark van Assem (VU), Converting and Inte-grating Vocabularies for the Semantic Web

2010-39 Ghazanfar Farooq Siddiqui (VU), Integrative modeling of emotions in virtual agents 2010-38 Dirk Fahland (TUE), From Scenarios to com-

2010-37 Niels Lohmann (TUE), Correctness of services

and their composition

and their composition 2010-36 Jose Janssen (OU), Paving the Way for Lifelong Learning; Facilitating competence development through a learning path specification

2010-35 Dolf Trieschnigg (UT), Proof of Concept: Concept-based Biomedical Information Retrieval 2010-34 Teduh Dirgahayu (UT), Interaction Design in Service Compositions

Service Compositions 2010-33 Robin Aly (UT), Modeling Representation Un-certainty in Concept-Based Multimedia Retrieval 2010-32 Marcel Hiel (UvT), An Adaptive Service Ori-ented Architecture: Automatically solving Interoperability Problems

Problems 2010-31 Victor de Boer (UVA), Ontology Enrichment from Heterogeneous Sources on the Web 2010-30 Marieke van Erp (UvT), Accessing Natural History - Discoveries in data cleaning, structuring, and retrievel

retrieval 2010-29 Stratos Idreos (CWI), Database Cracking: Towards Auto-tuning Database Kernels 2010-28 Arne Koopman (UU), Characteristic Rela-

tional Patterns 2010-27 Marten Voulon (UL), Automatisch con-

2010-26 Ying Zhang (CWI), XRPC: Efficient Distributed Query Processing on Heterogeneous XQuery En-

2010-25 Zulfiqar Ali Memon (VU), Modelling Human-Awareness for Ambient Agents: A Human Mindreading tivi

2010-24 Dmytro Tykhonov, Designing Generic and Efficient Negotiation Strategies **2010-23** Bas Steunebrink (UU), The Logical Structure

of Emotions 2010-22 Michiel Hildebrand (CWI), End-user Support

2010-22 Michiel Hildebrand (CWI), End-user Support for Access to Heterogeneous Linked Data 2010-21 Harold van Heerde (UT), Privacy-aware data management by means of data degradation 2010-20 Ivo Swartjes (UT), Whose Story Is It Anyway? How Improv Informs Agency and Authorship of Emergent

Narrative 2010-19 Henriette Cramer (UvA), People's Responses

2010-18 Charlotte Gerritsen (VU), Caught in the Act:

Investigating Crime by Agent-Based Simulation 2010-17 Spyros Kotoulas (VU), Scalable Discovery of Networked Resources: Algorithms, Infrastructure, Appli-

2010-16 Sicco Verwer (TUD), Efficient Identification

of Timed Automata, theory and practice 2010-15 Lianne Bodenstaff (UT), Managing Depen-dency Relations in Inter-Organizational Models

2010-14 Sander van Splunter (VU), Automated Web Service Reconfiguration **2010-13** Gianluigi Folino (RUN), High Performance

Data Mining using Bio-inspired techniques 2010-12 Susan van den Braak (UU), Sensemaking soft-

2010-12 Susan van den Braak (UU), bensemaking soft-ware for crime analysis
2010-11 Adriaan Ter Mors (TUD), The world accord-ing to MARP: Multi-Agent Route Planning
2010-10 Rebecca Ong (UL), Mobile Communication and Protection of Children
2010-09 Hugo Kielman (UL), A Politiele gegevensver-under a Deinen Nach and Continue action and ender the soft of the soft of

2010-05 Ingo Richman (CD): A fourter gegeenser werking en Privacy, Naar een effectieve waarborging **2010-08** Krzysztof Siewicz (UL), Towards an Improved Regulatory Framework of Free Software. Protecting user freedoms in a world of software communities and eGovernments 2010-07 Wim Fikkert (UT), Gesture interaction at a

2010-06 Sander Bakkes (UvT), Rapid Adaptation of

Video Game AI 2010-05 Claudia Hauff (UT), Predicting the Effective-

2010-06 Queries and Retrieval Systems **2010-04** Olga Kulyk (UT), Do You Know What I Know? Situational Awareness of Co-located Teams in

Know? Situational Awareness of Co-located Teams in Multidisplay Environments 2010-03 Joost Geurts (CWI), A Document Engineer-ing Model and Processing Framework for Multimedia doc-

uments 2010-02 Ingo Wassink (UT), Work flows in Life Sci-2010-01 Matthijs van Leeuwen (UU), Patterns that

Matter 2009-46 Loredana Afanasiev (UvA), Querying XML: 2009-45 J rks and Recursion Jilles Vreeken (UU), Making Pattern Mining

2009-44 Roberto Santana Tapia (UT), Assessing

Business-IT Alignment in Networked Organizations

2009-43 Virginia Nunes Leal Franqueira (UT), Find-2009-40 Vingma Values Leaf Indiqueria (CI), Find ing Multi-step Attacks in Computer Networks using Heuristic Search and Mobile Ambients 2009-42 Toine Bogers (UvT), Recommender Systems for Social Bookmarking

2009-41 Igor Berezhnyy (UvT), Digital Analysis of

Paintings 2009-40 Stephan Raaijmakers (UvT), Multinomial Language Learning: Investigations into the Geometry of Language

2009-39 Christian Stahl (TUE, Humboldt-

2009-39 Cinistian Stain (10.E., Humoold-Universitaet zu Berlin), Service Substitution – A Behavioral Approach Based on Petri Nets 2009-38 Riina Vuorikari (OU), Tags and self-organisation: a metadata ecology for learning resources in a multilingual context.

in a multilingual context 2009-37 Hendrik Drachsler (OUN), Navigation Sup-port for Learners in Informal Learning Networks 2009-36 Marco Kalz (OUN), Placement Support for Learners in Learning Networks 2009-35 Wouter Koelewijn (UL), Privacy en Politiegegevens; Over geautomatiseerde normatieve informatie activingente.

2009-34 Inge van de Weerd (UU), Advancing in Soft-ware Product Management: An Incremental Method En-

gineering Approach 2009-33 Khiet Truong (UT), How Does Real Affect Af-fect Affect Recognition In Speech? 2009-32 Rik Farenhorst (VU) and Remco de Boer

(VU), Architectural Knowledge Management: Supporting Architects and Auditors 2009-31 Sofiya Katrenko (UVA), A Closer Look at

2009-30 Marcin Zukowski (CWI), Balancing vectorized query execution with bandwidth-optimized storage

2009-29 Stanislav Pokraev (UT), Model-Driven Se-mantic Integration of Service-Oriented Applications 2009-28 Sander Evers (UT), Sensor Data Management

2009-28 Sander Evers (UT), Sensor Data Management with Probabilistic Models
2009-27 Christian Glahn (OU), Contextual Support of social Engagement and Reflection on the Web
2009-26 Fernando Koch (UU), An Agent-Based Model for the Development of Intelligent Mobile Services
2009-25 Alex van Ballegooij (CWI), "RAM: Array Database Management through Relational Mapping"
2009-24 Annerieke Heuvelink (VUA), Cognitive Mod-els for Training Simulations
2009-29 Peter Hofeesang (VU), Modelling Web Usage

2009-23 Peter Hofgesang (VU), Modelling Web Usage in a Changing Environment
2009-22 Pavel Serdyukov (UT), Search For Expertise:

Going beyond direct evidence 2009-21 Stijn Vanderlooy (UM), Ranking and Reliable Classification

Classification
 2009-20 Bob van der Vecht (UU), Adjustable Autonomy: Controling Influences on Decision Making
 2009-19 Valentin Robu (CWI), Modeling Preferences, Strategic Reasoning and Collaboration in Agent-Mediated Electronic Markets
 2009-18 Fabian Groffen (CWI), Armada, An Evolving Database Scatem

Database System 2009-17 Laurens van der Maaten (UvT), Feature Ex-traction from Visual Data 2009-16 Fritz Reul (UvT), New Architectures in Com-

puter Chess 2009-15 Rinke Hoekstra (UVA), Ontology Representa-

tion - Design Patterns and Ontologies that Make Sense 2009-14 Maksym Korotkiy (VU), From ontology-enabled services to service-enabled ontologies (making on-

tologies work in e-science with ONTO-SOA) 2009-13 Steven de Jong (UM), Fairness in Multi-Agent Sustems

2009-12 Peter Massuthe (TUE, Humboldt-Universitaet zu Berlin), Operating Guidelines for Ser-

vices 2009-11 Alexander Boer (UVA), Legal Theory, Sources of Law & the Semantic Web 2009-10 Jan Wielemaker (UVA), Logic programming for knowledge-intensive interactive applications 2009-09 Benjamin Kanagwa (RUN), Design, Discov-ery and Construction of Service-oriented Systems 2009-08 Volker Nannen (VU), Evolutionary Agent-Based Policy Analysis in Dynamic Environments 2000 OF Borneld Penne (UT), Discretificiations Vision

2009-07 Ronald Poppe (UT), Discriminative Vision-Based Recovery and Recognition of Human Motion

2009-06 Muhammad Subianto (UU), Understanding Classification

2009-05 Sietse Overbeek (RUN), Bridging Supply and Demand for Knowledge Intensive Tasks - Based on Knowledge, Cognition, and Quality 2009-04 Josephine Nabukenya (RUN), Improving the Quality of Organisational Policy Making using Collabora-

Quarty of Organisational Folicy Making using Collabora-tion Engineering 2009-03 Hans Stol (UvT), A Framework for Evidence-based Policy Making Using IT 2009-02 Willem Robert van Hage (VU), Evaluating Ontology-Alignment Techniques 2009-01 Rasa Jurgelenaite (RUN), Symmetric Causal

Independence Models 2008-35 Ben Torben Nielsen (UvT), Dendritic mor-

2008-34 Jeroen de Knijf (UU), Studies in Frequent Tree Mining 2008-33 Frank Terpstra (UVA), Scientific Workflow

2008-32 Trung H. Bui (UT), Toward Affective Dialogue Management using Partially Observable Markov Decision

Loes Braun (UM), Pro-Active Medical Infor-2008-31

Processes
2008-31 Loes Braun (UM), Pro-Active Medical Information Retrieval
2008-30 Wouter van Atteveldt (VU), Semantic Network Analysis: Techniques for Extracting, Representing and Querying Media Content
2008-29 Dennis Reidsma (UT), Annotations and Subjective Machines - Of Annotators, Embodied Agents, Users, and Other Humans
2008-28 Ildiko Flesch (RUN), On the Use of Independence Relations in Bayesian Networks
2008-28 Mubert Vogten (OU), Design and Implementation Strategies for IMS Learning Design
2008-26 Marijn Huijbregts (UT), Segmentation, Diarization and Speech Transcription: Surprise Data Unraveled

arization and Speech Transcription: Surprise Data Un-raveled 2008-25 Geert Jonker (UU), Efficient and Equitable Exchange in Air Traffic Management Plan Repair using Spender-signed Currency 2008-24 Zharko Aleksovski (VU), Using background knowledge in ontology matching 2008-23 Stefan Visscher (UU), Bayesian network mod-els for the management of ventilator-associated pneumo-nia

2008-22 Henk Koning (UU), Communication of IT-Architecture 2008-21 Krisztian Balog (UVA), People Search in the

Enterprise 2008-20 Rex Arendsen (UVA), Geen bericht,

goed2008-20 Rex Arendsen (UVA), Geen bericht, goed bericht. Een onderzoek naar de effecten van de introductie van elektronisch berichtenverkeer met de overheid op de administratieve lasten van bedrijven.
2008-19 Henning Rode (UT), From Document to Entity Retrieval: Improving Precision and Performance of Focused Text Search
2008-17 Martin Op 't Land (TUD), Applying Architecture and Ontology to the Splitting and Allying of Enterprises

2008-16 Henriette van Vugt (VU), Embodied agents

from a user's perspective 2008-15 Martijn van Otterlo (UT), The Logic of Adap-tive Behavior: Knowledge Representation and Algorithms for the Markov Decision Process Framework in First-

Order Domains. 2008-14 Arthur van Bunningen (UT), Context-Aware Querying; Better Answers with Less Effort 2008-13 Caterina Carraciolo (UVA), Topic Driven Ac-

2008-13 Caterina Carraciolo (UVA), Topic Driven Access to Scientific Handbooks
2008-12 Jozsef Farkas (RUN), A Semiotically Oriented Cognitive Model of Knowledge Representation
2008-11 Vera Kartseva (VU), Designing Controls for Network Organizations: A Value-Based Approach
2008-10 Wauter Bosma (UT), Discourse oriented summarization

marization 2008-09 Christof van Nimwegen (UU), The paradox of the guided user: assistance can be counter-effective

2008-08 Janneke Bolt (UU), Bayesian Networks: As-

2008-08 Janneke Bolt (UU), Bayesian Networks: Aspects of Approximate Inference 2008-07 Peter van Rosmalen (OU), Supporting the tu-tor in the design and support of adaptive e-learning 2008-06 Arjen Hommerssom (RUN), On the Applica-tion of Formal Methods to Clinical Guidelines, an Artifi-

cial Intelligence Perspective

2008-05 Bela Mutschler (UT), Modeling and simulating causal dependencies on process-aware information systems from a cost perspective **2008-04** Ander de Keijzer (UT), Management of Un-

certain Data - towards unattended integration 2008-03 Vera Hollink (UVA), Optimizing hierarchical

menus: a usage-based approach

2008-02 Alexei Sharpanskykh (VU), On Computer-Aided Methods for Modeling and Analysis of Organiza-

tions 2008-01 Katalin Boer-Sorbán (EUR), Agent-Based Simulation of Financial Markets: A modular, continuoustime approach

2007-25 Joost Schalken (VU), Empirical Investigations in Software Process Improvement

in Software Process Improvement 2007-24 Georgina Ramírez Camps (CWI), Structural Features in XML Retrieval 2007-23 Peter Barna (TUE), Specification of Applica-tion Logic in Web Information Systems 2007-22 Zlatko Zlatev (UT), Goal-oriented design of value and process models from patterns 2007-21 Karianne Vermaas (UU), Fast diffusion and broadening use: A research on residential adoption and usage of broadband internet in the Netherlands between 2001 and 2005 2007-20 Slinger Jansen (UU), Customer Configuration Undating in a Software Sumhu Network

Updating in a Software Supply Network 2007-19 David Levy (UM), Intimate relationships with

2007-18 Bart Orriens (UvT), On the development an management of adaptive business collaborations 2007-17 Theodore Charitos (UU), Reasoning with Dy-

2007-16 Davide Grossi (UU), Designing Invisible Handcuffs. Formal investigations in Institutions and Or-

2007-15 Joyca Lacroix (UM), NIM: a Situated Compu-tational Memory Model

2007-14 Niek Bergboer (UM), Context-Based Image

Analysis 2007-13 Rutger Rienks (UT), Meetings in Smart Envi-

2007-13 Ruleger Rienks (01), Meetings in Smart Environments; Implications of Progressing Technology 2007-12 Marcel van Gerven (RUN), Bayesian Net-works for Clinical Decision Support: A Rational Approach to Dynamic Decision-Making under Uncertainty 2007-11 Natalia Stash (TUE), Incorporating Cogni-tive/Learning Styles in a General-Purpose Adaptive Hy-

permedia System 2007-10 Huib Aldewereld (UU), Autonomy vs. formity: an Institutional Perspective on Norms and Pro-

tocols 2007-09 David Mobach (VU), Agent-Based Mediated

Service Negotiation 2007-08 Mark Hoogendoorn (VU), Modeling of Change

2007-05 Matasa Jovanovic (UT), Noacting of Charge in Multi-Agent Organizations 2007-07 Natasa Jovanovic (UT), To Whom It May Concern - Addressee Identification in Face-to-Face Meet-

2007-06 Gilad Mishne (UVA), Applied Text Analytics

for Blogs **2007-05** Bart Schermer (UL), Software Agents, Surveillance, and the Right to Privacy: a Legislative Framework for Agent-enabled Surveillance

2007-04 Jurriaan van Diggelen (UU), Achieving Se-mantic Interoperability in Multi-agent Systems: a dialogue-based approach

2007-03 Peter Mika (VU), Social Networks and the Se-

2007-03 Peter Mika (VU), Social Networks and the Se-mantic Web 2007-02 Wouter Teepe (RUG), Reconciling Informa-tion Exchange and Confidentiality: A Formal Approach 2007-01 Kees Leune (UvT), Access Control and Service-Oriented Architectures 2006-28 Borkur Sigurbjornsson (UVA), Focused Infor-mation Access using XML Element Retrieval 2006-27 Stefano Bocconi (CWI), Voz Populi: generat-ica wide document incides the semantically appointed me-

ing video documentaries from semantically annotated me-dia repositories **2006-26** Vojkan Mihajlovic (UT), Score Region Algebra: A Flexible Framework for Structured Information Re-

Viewal
2006-25 Madalina Drugan (UU), Conditional log-likelihood MDL and Evolutionary MCMC
2006-24 Laura Hollink (VU), Semantic Annotation for Retrieval of Visual Resources
2006-23 Ion Juvina (UU), Development of Cognitive Model for Navigating on the Web

2006-22 Paul de Vrieze (RUN), Fundaments of Adaptive Personalisation 2006-21 Bas van Gils (RUN), Aptness on the Web

2006-20 Marina Velikova (UvT), Monotone models for prediction in data mining

prediction in data mining 2006-19 Birna van Riemsdijk (UU), Cognitive Agent Programming: A Semantic Approach 2006-18 Valentin Zhizhkun (UVA), Graph transforma-tion for Natural Language Processing 2006-17 Stacey Nagata (UU), User Assistance for Mul-

2006-16 Carsten Riggelsen (UU), Approxima Methods for Efficient Learning of Bayesian Networks Approximation

2006-15 Rainer Malik (UU), CONAN: Text Mining in the Biomedical Domain 2006-14 Johan Hoorn (VU), Software Requirements: Update, Upgrade, Redesign - towards a Theory of Require-ments Change

2006-13 Henk-Jan Lebbink (UU), Dialogue and Deci-**2006-12** Bert Bongers (VU), Interactivation - Towards an e-cology of people, our technological environment, and

the arts **2006-11** Joeri van Ruth (UT), Flattening Queries over

Nested Data Types 2006-10 Ronny Siebes (VU), Semantic Routing in Peer-to-Peer Systems

Peer-to-Peer Systems
2006-09 Mohamed Wahdan (UM), Automatic Formulation of the Auditor's Opinion
2006-08 Eelco Herder (UT), Forward, Back and Home Again - Analyzing User Behavior on the Web
2006-07 Marko Smiljanic (UT), XML schema matching - balancing efficiency and effectiveness by means of clustering
2006-06 Ziv Baida (VU), Software-aided Service Bundling - Intelligent Methods & Tools for Graphical Service Modeling
2006-05 Cees Pierik (UU), Validation Techniques for Object-Oriented Proof Outlines
2006-04 Marta Sabou (VU), Building Web Service On-

2006-04 Marta Sabou (VU), Building Web Service On-

tologies2006-03 Noor Christoph (UVA), The role of metacog-

2006-02 Cristina Chisalita (VU), Contextual issues in

the design and use of information technology in organiza-**2006-01** Samuil Angelov (TUE), Foundations of B2B

Electronic Contracting 2005-21 Wijnand Derks (UT), Improving Concurrency and Recovery in Database Systems by Exploiting Applica-tion Semantics 2005-20 Cristina Coteanu (UL), Cyber Consumer Law,

State of the Art and Perspective.

2005-19 Michel van Dartel (UM), Situated Representa-2005-18 Danielle Sent (UU), Test-selection strategies

for probabilistic networks 2005-17 Boris Shishkov (TUD), Software Specification

2005-16 Joris Graaumans (UU), Usability of XML Query Languages 2005-15 Tibor Bosse (VU), Analysis of the Dynamics

of Cognitive Processes

of Cognitive Processes 2005-14 Borys Omelayenko (VU), Web-Service config-uration on the Semantic Web; Exploring how semantics meets pragmatics 2005-13 Fred Hamburg (UL), Een Computermodel voor het Ondersteunen van Euthanasiebeslissingen 2005-12 Csaba Boer (EUR), Distributed Simulation in

Industru 2005-11 Elth Ogston (VU), Agent Based Matchmaking

and Clustering - A Decentralized Approach to Search 2005-10

2005-10 Anders Bouwer (UVA), Explaining Behaviour: Using Qualitative Simulation in Interactive Learning En-

vironments 2005-09 Jeen Broekstra (VU), Storage, Querying and Inferencing for Semantic Web Languages 2005-08 Richard Vdovjak (TUE), A Model-driven Ap-praach for Building Distributed Ontology-based Web Ap-

plications

plications 2005-07 Flavius Frasincar (TUE), Hypermedia Presen-tation Generation for Semantic Web Information Systems 2005-06 Fleter Spronck (UM), Adaptive Game AI 2005-05 Gabriel Infante-Lopez (UVA), Two-Level Probabilistic Grammars for Natural Language Parsing

2005-04 Nirvana Meratnia (UT), Towards Database Support for Moving Object data 2005-03 Franc Grootjen (RUN), A Pragmatic Ap-

proach to the Conceptualisation of Language

2005-02 Erik van der Werf (UM)), AI techniques for the game of Go 2005-01 Floor Verdenius (UVA), Methodological As-

2005-01 Floor Verdenius (UVA), Methodological Aspects of Designing Induction-Based Applications
2004-20 Madelon Evers (Nyenrode), Learning from Design: facilitating multidisciplinary design teams
2004-19 Thijs Westerveld (UT), Using generative probabilistic models for multimedia retrieval
2004-18 Vania Bessa Machado (UvA), Supporting the Construction of Qualitative Knowledge Models
2004-17 Mark Winands (UM), Informed Search in Complex Games
2004-16 Federico Divina (VU), Hubrid Genetic Relational Science (Network)

2004-16 Federico Divina (VU), Hybrid Genetic Rela-tional Search for Inductive Learning 2004-15 Arno Knobbe (UU), Multi-Relational Data

Mining 2004-14 Paul Harrenstein (UU), Logic in Conflict.

2004-14 Faul Halfenstein (CO), Logic in Conjuct.
Logical Explorations in Strategic Equilibrium
2004-13 Wojciech Jamroga (UT), Using Multiple Models of Reality: On Agents who Know how to Play
2004-12 The Duy Bui (UT), Creating emotions and fa-ical exercises for embedded seatch.

cial expressions for embodied agents 2004-11 Michel Klein (VU), Change Management for

2004-10 Suzanne Kabel (UVA), *Knowledge-rich index-*

2004-10 Statistic (Control of the sake of the **2004-09** Martin Caminada (VU), For the Sake of the

Argument; explorations into argument-based reasoning 2004-08 Joop Verbeek (UM), Politie en de Nieuwe Internationale Informatiemarkt, Grensregionale politiële

eqevensuitwisseling en digitale expertise 2004-07 Elise Boltjes (UM), Voorbeeldig onderwijs; voorbeeldgestuurd onderwijs, een opstap naar abstract denken, vooral voor meisjes

2004-06 Bart-Jan Hommes (TUD), The Evaluation of Business Process Modeling Techniques 2004-05 Viara Popova (EUR), Knowledge discovery

and monotonicity 2004-04 Chris van Aart (UVA), Organizational Prin-

ciples for Multi-Agent Architectures 2004-03 Perry Groot (VU), A Theoretical and Empiri-cal Analysis of Approximation in Symbolic Problem Solv-

2004-02 Lai Xu (UvT), Monitoring Multi-party Con-**2004-01** Virginia Dignum (UU), A Model for Organi-

zational Interaction: Based on Agents, Founded in Logic 2003-18 Levente Kocsis (UM), Learning Search Deci-

2003-17 David Jansen (UT), Extensions of Statecharts

2003-16 Menzo Windhouwer (CWI), Feature Grammar Systems - Incremental Maintenance of Indexes to Digital Media Warehouses 2003-15 Mathijs de Weerdt (TUD), Plan Merging in

Multi-Agent Systems

2003-14 Stijn Hoppenbrouwers (KUN), Freezing Lan-guage: Conceptualisation Processes across ICT-Supported Organisations

2003-13 Jeroen Donkers (UM), Nosce Hostem - Search-ing with Opponent Models 2003-12 Roeland Ordelman (UT), Dutch speech recog-

nition in multimedia information retrieval 2003-11 Simon Keizer (UT), Reasoning under Uncer-tainty in Natural Language Dialogue using Bayesian Net-

2003-10 Andreas Lincke (UvT), Electronic Business

Negotiation: Some experimental studies on the interac-tion between medium, innovation context and culture

2003-09 Rens Kortmann (UM), The resolution of visu-ally guided behaviour 2003-08 Yongping Ran (UM), Repair Based Scheduling 2003-07 Machiel Jansen (UVA), Formal Explorations of Knowledge Intensive Tasks 2003-06 Boris van Schooten (UT), Development and

2003-04 Milan Petkovic (UT), Content. Retrieval Supported by Database Technology

2003-03 Martijn Schuemie (TUD), Human-Computer Interaction and Presence in Virtual Reality Exposure Thera

2003-02 Jan Broersen (VU), Modal Action Logics for

2003-02 Jain Broersen (VO), Modal Action Logics for Reasoning About Reactive Systems 2003-01 Heiner Stuckenschmidt (VU), Ontology-Based Information Sharing in Weakly Structured Environments 2002-17 Stefan Manegold (UVA), Understanding, Modeling, and Improving Main-Memory Database Perfor-mance.

2002-16 Pieter van Langen (VU), The Anatomy of De-sign: Foundations, Models and Applications

sign: Foundations, Models and Applications 2002-15 Rik Eshuis (UT), Semantics and Verification of UML Activity Diagrams for Workflow Modelling 2002-14 Wieke de Vries (UU), Agent Interaction: Ab-stract Approaches to Modelling, Programming and Veri-fying Multi-Agent Systems 2002-13 Hongjing Wu (TUE), A Reference Architec-ture for Adaptive Hypermedia Applications 2002-12 Albrecht Schmidt (Uva), Processing XML in Database Systems 2002-11 Wouter C.A. Wiingaards (VU). Agent Based

2002-11 Wouter C.A. Wijngaards (VU), Agent Based

Modelling of Dynamics: Biological and Organisational Applications

2002-10 Brian Sheppard (UM), Towards Perfect Play

of Scrabble 2002-10 Brian Sheppard (UM), Towards Perfect Play 2002-09 Willem-Jan van den Heuvel (KUB), Integrat-ing Modern Business Applications with Objectified Legacy Systems

Jaap Gordijn (VU), Value Based Requirements 2002-08 Engineering: Exploring Innovative E-Commerce Ideas 2002-07 Peter Boncz (CWI), Monet: A Next-Generation DBMS Kernel For Query-Intensive Applica-

2002-06 Laurens Mommers (UL), Applied legal episte-

mology; Building a knowledge-based ontology of the legal

2002-05 Radu Serban (VU), The Private Cyberspace Modeling Electronic Environments inhabited by Privacyconcerned Agents

2002-04 Juan Roberto Castelo Valdueza (UU), The Discrete Acyclic Digraph Markov Model in Data Mining 2002-03 Henk Ernst Blok (UT), Database Optimiza-tion Aspects for Information Retrieval 2002-02 Roelof van Zwol (UT), Modelling and search-

ing web-based document collection 2002-01 Nico Lassing (VU), Architecture-Level Modifi-

2001-11 Tom M. van Engers (VUA), Knowledge Man-agement: The Role of Mental Models in Business Systems Design

2001-10 Maarten Sierhuis (UvA), Modeling and Sim-ulating Work Practice BRAHMS: a multiagent modeling and simulation language for work practice analysis and desian

2001-09 Pieter Jan 't Hoen (RUL), Towards Dis-tributed Development of Large Object-Oriented Models, Views of Packages as Classes

Views of Packages as Classes 2001-08 Pascal van Eck (VU), A Compositional Se-mantic Structure for Multi-Agent Systems Dynamics. 2001-07 Bastiaan Schonhage (VU), Diva: Architec-tural Perspectives on Information Visualization 2001-06 Martijn van Welie (VU), Task-based User In-

2001-03 Maarten van Someren (UvA), Learning as

2001-05 Maatten van Boneren (CVT), Lawrung as problem Solving 2001-02 Koen Hindriks (UU), Agent Programming Languages: Programming with Mental Models 2001-01 Silja Renooij (UU), Qualitative Approaches to Quantifying Probabilistic Networks 2000-11 Jonas Karlsson (CWI), Scalable Distributed Discretions for Database Management

2000-10 Niels Nes (CWI), Scattere Distributed **2000-10** Niels Nes (CWI), Image Database Manage-ment System Design Considerations, Algorithms and Ar-

2000-09 Florian Waas (CWI), Principles of Probabilistic Query Optimization 2000-08 Veerle Coupé (EUR), Sensitivity Analyis of

Decision-Theoretic Networks 2000-07 Niels Peek (UU), Decision-theoretic Planning of Clinical Patient Management

2000-06 Rogier van Eijk (UU), Programming Languages for Agent Communication
2000-05 Ruud van der Pol (UM), Knowledge-based Query Formulation in Information Retrieval.
2000-04 Geert de Haan (VU), ETAG, A Formal Model of Competence Knowledge for User Interface Design
2000-03 Carolien M.T. Metselaar (UVA), Sociaal-organisatorische gevolgen van kennistechnologie; een procesbenadering en actorperspectief.
2000-02 Koen Holtman (TUE), Prototyping of CMS Storace Management

2000-02 Koen Holtman (TUE), Prototyping of CMS Storage Management
2000-01 Frank Niessink (VU), Perspectives on Improv-ing Software Maintenance
1999-08 Jacques H.J. Lenting (UM), Informed Gam-bling: Conception and Analysis of a Multi-Agent Mecha-nism for Discrete Reallocation.
1999-07 David Spelt (UT), Verification support for ob-ject database design
1999-06 Niek J.E. Wijngaards (VU), Re-design of compositional systems

 $compositional\ systems$

1999-05 Aldo de Moor (KUB), Empowering Communities: A Method for the Legitimate User-Driven Specification of Network Information Systems
1999-04 Jacques Penders (UM), The practical Art of Moving Physical Objects
1999-03 Don Beal (UM), The Nature of Minimax Search

Search 1999-02 Rob Potharst (EUR), Classification using de-

1999-02 KOB FOLDARS (EUK), Classification using de-cision trees and neural nets 1999-01 Mark Sloof (VU), Physiology of Quality Change of Agricultural Products 1998-05 E.W.Oskamp (RUL), Computerondersteuning his Straftomenting

bij Straftoemeting 1998-04 Dennis Breuker (UM), Memory versus Search

1998-04 Dennis Breuker (UM), Memory versus Search in Games
1998-03 Ans Steuten (TUD), A Contribution to the Linguistic Analysis of Business Conversations within the Language/Action Perspective
1998-02 Floris Wiesman (UM), Information Retrieval by Graphically Browsing Meta-Information
1998-01 Johan van den Akker (CWI), DEGAS - An Active, Temporal Database of Autonomous Objects